AGENCY REVENUE COLLECTION, AUTOMATION AND OWN SOURCE REVENUE TARGETS AMONG SELECTED COUNTY GOVERNMENTS IN KENYA

GEORGE KIRER

A Thesis Submitted to the Board of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Conferment of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration (Finance Option) of the University of Kabianga

UNIVERSITY OF KABIANGA

SEPTEMBER, 2024

DECLARATION AND APPROVAL

Declaration

This thesis is my original work and has not been been been been been been been bee	en presented for the conferment of a de	gree
or the award of a diploma in this or any other u	iniversity:-	
Signature:	Date:	
George Kirer		
PHD/BSA/010/2020		
Approval		
This research thesis has been submitted fo	or examination with our approval as	the
University Supervisors:-		
Signature:	Date:	
Dr. Penina Langat		
Department of Accounting, Finance and Econo	omics	
University of Kabianga		
Signature:	Date:	
Dr. Peter Cheruiyot		
Department of Accounting, Finance and Econo	omics	
University of Kabianga		
Signature:	Date:	
Dr. Williter Rop		
Department of Marketing, Management Science	ce, Tourism and Hospitality	
University of Kabianga		

COPYRIGHT

No part of this thesis may be produced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without prior permission from the author or the University of Kabianga.

© George Kirer, 2024

DEDICATION

To my children

Kayla, Amanda and Gabriel who make it worth the effort and the joy they bring to my life. I want to leave the world a better place for them and their offspring.

To my grandparents

The Late Mr. Kipsigei Arap Sasingwek, The Late Mrs. Martha Sasingwek, The Late Barnabas Arap Sambu and Mrs. Benedetta Sambu who laid a great hardworking and educational foundation I will be indebted to you forever.

My Parents

Mr. Philip Sigei and Mrs. Rosemary Sigei who sacrificed immensely to start me off early in life with the best education that has been a cornerstone in my strive to always do my best. Your order and discipline has gone a long way in my life and I am forever appreciative.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am deeply grateful to the Almighty God for His protection, grace, strength and provisioning through this course and project.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my esteemed thesis supervisors, Dr. Penina Langat, Dr. Peter Cheruiyot, and Dr. Williter Rop, for their unwavering guidance, invaluable insights, and continuous support throughout the research process. Their expertise and encouragement have been instrumental in shaping the trajectory of this study.

I extend my sincere appreciation to the University of Kabianga, Department of Accounting, Finance and Economics, for providing an intellectually stimulating environment and the necessary resources for the successful completion of this research.

A special acknowledgement to my wife Mrs. Ruth Mutai for her unwavering understanding, support and patience for me to make it. My children Kayla, Amanda and Gabriel who gave their time to be with me so that I pursue this course.

I would like to express great gratitude to my siblings (Robert, Ellyne, Patrick and Pius) relatives (Daudi and Francis Taita), friends (Vincent, Odhiambo and Benard), and colleagues in County Government of Kericho who were my greatest support during my work and study during this entire study.

Finally, special thanks are also extended to the respondents in the various county governments, whose participation and candid responses significantly enriched the empirical foundation of this study. Their willingness to share their experiences and insights has contributed immeasurably to the depth and relevance of the findings.

ABSTRACT

The attainment of own source revenue targets by counties holds significant importance as it underpins their financial autonomy, local development initiatives, and effective service delivery. As per the Office of the Controller of Budget however, a declining trend has emerged from an analysis of own source revenue as a percentage of the targeted annual revenue over the past five financial years. A notable decline is observed during this period (2018/19 to 2022/2023), dropping consecutively from 74.8 percent, to 65.2 percent, to 64.2 percent, to 59.4 percent, to 46.4 percent. This trend reveals a consistent decline in performance with counties raising less than 60% of their estimated own source revenue potential despite using agents and having undertaken automation of the revenue collection processes. Against this backdrop, the study sought to establish the relationship between agency revenue collection and own source revenue target among selected county governments in Kenya with automation of revenue collection as a moderating variable. Specifically, it sought to determine competencies of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance, revenue management and determine the moderating effect of revenue collection automation on the relationship between agency revenue collection and own source revenue target. Agency theory, New Public Management Theory and Resource-Based view theory guided the research. A cross-sectional study design was adopted by this study, targeting a population of 708 employees working in six selected county governments. All the 24 county revenue administration executives were selected using purposive sampling, while the stratified random sampling technique was employed in sampling revenue officers. A sample of 284 was determined in the latter, obtained by use of the Yamane formula. Primary data was collected through structured questionnaires while secondary data was collected using data extraction tool for actual own source revenue collected. In order to examine quantitative data, descriptive statistics including frequency, mean, and standard deviation were used, while inferential statistics were produced using both multiple and moderated regression analyses. Results indicate that competency of revenue collectors ($\beta = 0.545$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05); stakeholder engagement ($\beta = .608$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05); regulatory compliance ($\beta = .703$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05); and revenue management ($\beta = .669$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05) have a significant effect of own source revenue target. Revenue collection automation was also found to significantly moderate the relationship between own source revenue target and stakeholder engagement ($\beta = -.108$, p = 0.027, Sig. <0.05). It however fails to moderate the relationship between own source revenue target and competency of revenue collectors $(\beta = -.075, p = .164, Sig. > 0.05)$; regulatory compliance $(\beta = -.069, p = .128, Sig. > 0.05)$; and revenue management ($\beta = -.062$, p = .201, Sig. <0.05). The findings indicate that while revenue collection automation significantly moderates the relationship between stakeholder engagement and own source revenue target, it does not significantly moderate the relationships between own source revenue target and competency of revenue collectors, regulatory compliance, or revenue management. The study recommends that county governments prioritize strengthening their agency revenue collection systems, through ongoing capacity-building for revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, robust regulatory compliance and effective revenue management. They should also strategically integrate revenue collection automation, ensuring that it strengthens rather than undermines these critical factors in optimizing OSR performance.

DECLAF	RATION AND APPROVAL	ii
COPYRI	IGHT	iii
DEDICA	ATION	iv
ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENT	V
ABSTRA	ACT	vi
TABLE (OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF	F TABLES	xiii
LIST OF	F FIGURES	xvi
LIST OF	F ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	xvii
OPERAT	TIONAL DEFINITION OF TERMS	xix
CHAPTE	ER ONE	1
INTROD	DUCTION	1
1.1	Overview	1
1.2	Background Information	1
1.3	Statement of the Problem	7
1.4	General Objectives	
1.5	Specific Objectives	
1.6	Research Hypothesis	9
1.7	Justification of the Study	10
1.8	Significance of the study	11
1.9	Scope of the Study	13
CHAPT	TER TWO	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LITERA	ATURE REVIEW	
2.1	Introduction	16
2.2	Review of Related Literature	16
2.2.1	1 Competency of Revenue Collectors and OSR Target	
2.2.2	2 Stakeholder Engagement and OSR target	
2.2.3	3 Regulatory Compliance and OSR Target	
2.2.4	4 Revenue Management and OSR Target	
2.2.5	5 Automation and OSR Target	59
2.2.6	6 Own Source Revenue Target	75
2.3	Theoretical Framework	79
2.3.1	1 Agency Theory	79
2.3.2	2 The New Public Management Theory	83
2.3.3	3 Resource Based View Theory	
2.4	Conceptual Framework	91
2.5	Identification of Knowledge Gap	
СНАРТ	ER THREE	101
RESEA	RCH METHODOLOGY	101
3.1	Introduction	101
3.2	Research Design	101
3.3	Location of the Study	103
3.4	Target Population	104
3.5	Sample Size and Sampling Procedure	106
3.6	Data Collection Instruments	109

3.7 I	Data Collection Procedures	110
3.7.1	Validity of the research instrument	111
3.7.2	Reliability of Research Instrument	133
3.8 I	Data Analysis and Presentations	135
3.8.1	Multicollinearity Test	
3.8.2	Normality Test	
3.8.3	Autocorrelation test	153
3.8.4	Heteroscedasticity Test	155
3.8.5	Linearity	157
3.9 I	Ethical Considerations	159
CHAPTE	R FOUR	161
RESEAR	CH FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION	161
4.1 Intro	oduction	161
4.2	General and Background information	161
4.2.1	Response Rate	161
4.2.2	Respondent Profile	
4.3 I	Presentation of Descriptive Results	167
4.3.1	Competency of Revenue Collectors	167
4.3.2	Stakeholder Engagement	170
4.3.3	Regulatory Compliance	
4.3.4	Revenue Management	176
4.3.5	Revenue Collection Automation	179

4.4	Inferential Statistics
4.4.1	Pearson Correlation Analysis188
4.5	Test of Hypotheses
4.5.1	Competency of Revenue Collectors and own source revenue targets 192
4.5.2	Stakeholder Engagement and own source revenue targets
4.5.3	Regulatory Compliance and own source revenue targets 197
4.5.4	Revenue Management and own source revenue targets
4.5.5	Agency Revenue Collection and Own Source Revenue Target 203
4.5.6	Competency of Revenue Collectors, Automation and Own Source Revenue
	Targets
4.5.7	Stakeholder Engagement, Automation and Own Source Revenue Targets
4.5.8	Regulatory Compliance, Automation and Own Source Revenue Targets 214
4.5.9	Revenue Management, Automation and Own Source Revenue Targets 217
4.6	Discussion of the Results
СНАРТИ	ER FIVE
SUMMA	RY, CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS 238
5.1	Introduction
5.2	Summary
5.2.1	Competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets 238
5.2.3	Stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets
5.2.3	Regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets
5.2.4	Revenue management and own source revenue targets

5.2.5 Moderating effect of automation on the relationship between agend	су
revenue collection and own source revenue targets	42
5.3 Conclusions	43
5.3.1 Competencies of revenue collectors and the achievement of own sour	ce
revenue targets	14
5.3.2 Stakeholders' engagement and the achievement of own source revent	ue
targets	45
5.3.3 Regulatory compliance and the achievement of own source revenue targe	ets
	46
5.3.4 Revenue management and the attainment of own source revenue targets 24	47
5.3.5 Moderating effect revenue collection automation on the relationsh	ip
between agency revenue collection and attainment of own source revenue	ue
targets	19
5.4 Recommendations	52
5.5 Suggestions for Further Research	57
REFERENCES	59
APPENDICES)3
Appendix I: Letter of Transmittal) 3
Appendix II: Consent Form) 4
Appendix III Research Questionnaire) 6
Appendix IV: Secondary Data Extraction Tool)4
Appendix V: County Governments of Kenya)5
Appendix VI: Research Authorization Letter)6

Appendix VII: Research Permit
Appendix VIII: Authorization by the County Government
Appendix IX: Authorization by Ministry of Education
Appendix X: Authorization by Ministry of Interior and Co-ordination of National
Government
Appendix XI: Revenue Collectors Competency on Achievement of Own Source
Revenue in Kenyan County Governments Publication
Appendix XII: Competencies Of Revenue Collectors And Own Source Revenue
Targets Achievement Among Selected County Governments In Kenya
Publication

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Summary of Literature Gaps
Table 3.1	Target Population Per Category 106
Table 3.2	Sample Size Per Category
Table 3.3	KMO and Bartlett's Test for Competency of Revenue Collectors 113
Table 3.4	Total Variance Explained for Competency of Revenue Collectors 114
Table 3.5	Component Matrix for Competency of Revenue Collectors
Table 3.6	KMO and Bartlett's Test for Stakeholder Engagement 117
Table 3.7	Total Variance Explained for Stakeholder Engagement 118
Table 3.8	Component Matrix for Stakeholder Engagement119
Table 3.9	KMO and Bartlett's Test for Regulatory Compliance 120
Table 3.10	Total Variance Explained for Regulatory Compliance 121
Table 3.11	Component Matrix for Regulatory Compliance 123
Table 3.12	KMO and Bartlett's Test for Revenue Management 124
Table 3.13	Total Variance Explained for Revenue Management 125
Table 3.14	Component Matrix for Revenue Management 126
Table 3.15	KMO and Bartlett's Test for Automation 127
Table 3.16	Total Variance Explained for Automation
Table 3.17	Component Matrix for Automation129
Table 3.18	KMO and Bartlett's Test for Own Source Revenue Target 130
Table 3.19	Total Variance Explained for Own Source Revenue Target
Table 3.20	Component Matrix for Own Source Revenue Target
Table 3.21	Reliability Coefficients134

Table 3.22	Operationalization of Variables14	10
Table 3.23	Tests for Multicollinearity14	ł2
Table 3.24	Normality Test	15
Table 3.25	Test for Autocorrelation	54
Table 4.1	Response Rate 16	52
Table 4.2	Respondent Profile	54
Table 4.3	Competency of Revenue Collectors 16	58
Table 4.4	Stakeholder Engagement17	71
Table 4.5	Regulatory Compliance17	74
Table 4.6	Revenue Management 17	17
Table 4.7	Revenue Collection Automation	30
Table 4.8	Own Source Revenue Target 18	33
Table 4.9	Budgeted Versus Actual Own Source Revenue Collection (Kshs M) 18	35
Table 4.10	Pearson Correlation Analysis	39
Table 4.11	Model Summary for Model I 19) 2
Table 4.12	ANOVA Statistics for Model I 19) 3
Table 4.13	Coefficients for Model I 19) 4
Table 4.14	Model Summary for Model II 19) 5
Table 4.15	ANOVA for Model II) 6
Table 4.16	Coefficients for Model II) 6
Table 4.17	Model Summary for Model III19) 8
Table 4.18	ANOVA for Model III) 8
Table 4.19	Coefficients for Model III 19) 9

Table 4.20	Model Summary for Model IV
Table 4.21	ANOVA for Model IV
Table 4.22	Coefficients for Model IV 202
Table 4.23	Model Summary for Model V 203
Table 4.24	ANOVA for Model V
Table 4.25	Coefficients for Model V 205
Table 4.26	Model Summary for Model VI 209
Table 4.27	ANOVA for Model VI
Table 4.28	Coefficients for Model VI
Table 4.29	Model Summary for Model VII
Table 4.30	ANOVA for Model VII
Table 4.31	Coefficients for Model VII
Table 4.32	Model Summary for Model VIII
Table 4.33	ANOVA for Model VIII
Table 4.34	Coefficients for Model VIII
Table 4.35	Model Summary for Model IX
Table 4.36	ANOVA for Model IX
Table 4.37	Coefficients for Model IX

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Conceptual Framework
Figure 3.1	Q-Q Plot for Competency of Revenue Collectors
Figure 3.2	Q-Q Plot for Stakeholder Engagement148
Figure 3.3	Q-Q Plot for Regulatory Compliance149
Figure 3.4	Q-Q Plot for Revenue Management
Figure 3.5	Q-Q Plot for Revenue Collection Automation
Figure 3.6	Q-Q Plot for Own Source Revenue Target 152
Figure 3.7	Homogeneity of Variances156
Figure 3.8	Linearity Diagnostics

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

Aut.	Revenue Collection Automation
CBEF	County Budget and Economic and Forum
CBOs	Community Based Organization
CFSP	County Fiscal Strategy Paper
COB	Controller of Budget
СоК	Constitution of Kenya
Comp.	Competency of Revenue collectors
CRA	Commission on Revenue Allocation
CSOs	Civil Society Organizations
FY	Financial Year
GRA	Ghana Revenue Authority
IBP	International Business Partnership
ICPAK	Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Kenya
IFMIS	Integrated Financial Management Information System
IS	Information Systems
KAPS	Kenya Airports Parking Services
KRA	Kenya Revenue Authority

- LAIFOMS Local Authority Information Financial and Operations Management Systems
- NG-CDF National Government Constituency Development Fund
- NMS Nairobi Metropolitan Services
- NPMT New Public Management Theory
- OSR Own-Source Revenue
- PFMA Public Finance Management Act
- RBV Resource-Based View Theory
- Reg. Comp. Regulatory Compliance
- Rev. Mgt Revenue Management
- SARAs Semi-Autonomous Revenue Agencies
- Stake. Eng. Stakeholder Engagement
- UK United Kingdom
- UNCTAD United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
- WDF Ward Development Fund

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION OF TERMS

 Agency revenue collection:
 The structured process by which county governments in Kenya outsource the collection of own source revenue, to an independent third party including the outsourcing of the revenue collection automation process.

- Own source revenue target:The specific amount of revenue that a county
government aims to generate from its own
resources. These revenues are derived from various
local sources, including taxes, fees, licenses,
permits, fines, and charges for services provided by
the government, rather than from transfers or grants
from higher levels of government.
- Revenue collection automation:The computerization of all the processes of own
source revenue collection by county governments or
revenue collection agents through automated
registration, e-filing and electronic payment.

Regulatory compliance: Actions taken by county governments in order to abide by pertinent Kenyan laws, policies, and regulations pertaining own source revenue collection, including Articles 209 and 210 of the Constitution; the County Government Act of 2012; and the Public Finance Management Act of 2012.

xix

 Revenue management:
 Processes employed by revenue collectors or agents

 to ensure revenue maximization from the levies
 imposed by different county governments.

Staff competency:The basic qualification required for one to
effectively collect own source revenue in the county
governments which is dependent on capability and
capacity improvement through training.

Stakeholder engagement:Interaction between parties and group problem-
solving between public who are the taxpayers and
government bodies such as Commission of Revenue
Allocation (CRA), Office of the Controller of
Budget (COB) and the Ministry of National
Treasury and Planning, with the goal of achieving
better and more acceptable decisions in relation to
own source revenue target.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

The chapter presents the background information, problem warranting the research, specific and general objectives, study hypothesis, justification, scope, significance of the investigation, limitation of the investigation and assumptions of the investigation.

1.2 Background Information

Government plays a pivotal role in providing essential public services that contribute to societal well-being and progress, encompassing responsibilities from education to public safety (Garcia-Perez, Cegarra-Navarro, Bedford, Thomas & Wakabayashi, 2023; Gatta, Boushey & Appelbaum, 2018; Kennedy & Sugden, 2022). Within this broader framework, county governments embody the principles of decentralized governance, infusing the spirit of local responsiveness and empowerment into the provision of public utilities (Bahl & Martinez-Vazquez, 2023). On a county scale, the government's role in service delivery is much more detailed and closer to the specific needs and aspirations of the local communities (Ismail, Fathonih, Prabowo, Hartati & Redjeki, 2020). Revenue collection at the county level thus forms the financial backbone that enables effective delivery of vital public services (Culpeper & Aniket, 2023). In generating income through local taxes, fees, licenses, and fines, county governments leverage own source revenues (OSR) to acquire the resources necessary to fund education, healthcare, infrastructure, and various community-oriented initiatives (Fombad & Steytler, 2019). This self-sustaining revenue model grants counties the autonomy to address unique local

needs, ensuring that services are tailored to the specific demands of their residents (Fakhari, Din & Omar, 2022).

Own source revenues are an important source of funding for county governments' operations and the provision of services, primarily strengthening the social contract between citizens and government since the citizens pay taxes and, in exchange, expect from the county government a certain level of services and consideration in decision-making (Bahl & Martinez-Vazquez, 2023). When residents and corporate organizations interact with their counties on market fees or other levies and rates, this is obvious in the counties (Asree, Zain & Razalli, 2020)). Therefore, County Governments should work to maximize local revenues to prevent the growing dependency on transfers from the National Treasury (Bird, 2024).

In an effort to realize OSR, county governments set revenue targets to serve as benchmarks that outline clear objectives for revenue generation from local taxes, fees, and other sources (Fernandhytia & Muslichah, 2020). By defining specific revenue goals, county governments establish a framework for focused efforts and systematic planning. Revenue targets facilitate disciplined financial management, prompting counties to adopt efficient collection methods, enforce regulations, and streamline administrative procedures (Abiola & Asiweh, 2022). As counties work towards these set targets, they cultivate a culture of accountability, transparency, and responsible fiscal practices, ultimately driving the successful realization of their own revenue sources (Kwaji & Dabari, 2022).

Globally, the effectiveness of sub-national revenue collection varies widely, influenced by factors such as governance structures, economic conditions, and the level of autonomy granted to sub-national entities (Sykesville & Vasudevan, 2024). For instance, in countries like Canada and the United States, sub-national governments have significant autonomy and responsibility for revenue collection (Malalgoda, Amaratunga & Haigh, 2021). This autonomy, coupled with advanced technology and robust legal frameworks, has enabled these entities to achieve and often surpass their revenue targets (Bird, 2024; Slack, 2023).

In Sub-Saharan Africa, the challenges of sub-national revenue collection are even more pronounced. Many countries in the region have adopted decentralization policies, which have transferred significant revenue collection responsibilities to local governments. However, the success of these initiatives has been mixed (Balunywa, Nangoli, Mugerwa, Teko & Mayoka, 2024). Countries like South Africa have made significant strides in enhancing local revenue collection through the adoption of modern technology and the implementation of strong legal frameworks (Steytler, 2024). On the other hand, in countries like Nigeria, despite the establishment of sub-national revenue authorities, the achievement of revenue targets remains a challenge due to issues such as corruption, inadequate infrastructure, and resistance to change (Olusola & Siyanbola, 2024).

The introduction of automation in revenue collection has shown promise in addressing some of these challenges. Studies (Okunogbe & Santoro, 2023; Balunywa et al., 2024) have shown that automation can significantly improve efficiency, reduce leakages, and enhance transparency in revenue collection processes. For example, in Rwanda, the introduction of automated tax systems at the local government level has led to a substantial increase in revenue collection, enabling the country to achieve its revenue targets more consistently (Kayaga, 2007).

In the Kenyan context, OSR is highly relevant to Kenya's Vision 2030, particularly the Economic Pillar, which aims to transform the country into a middle-income economy by fostering sustained economic growth through improved infrastructure, public sector efficiency, and enhanced revenue collection mechanisms (Republic of Kenya, 2007). Efficient revenue collection at the county level is critical for financing the devolved functions and achieving the economic goals outlined in Vision 2030. Further, automation of revenue collection aligns with the broader global agenda of Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 16, which emphasizes building effective, accountable, and inclusive institutions at all levels. In improving revenue collection systems, county governments can better finance development initiatives, thereby promoting sustainable economic growth, reducing inequalities, and enhancing service delivery (United Nations, 2015).

Kenya's county governments were established in 2013 following the promulgation of the new Constitution in 2010, which ushered in a devolved system of governance. These county governments are mandated to generate their own-source revenue to supplement transfers from the national government (Global Centre for Policy and Strategy, 2024). The revenue potential for each county is calculated based on the proportionate county infrastructural endowments and the respective maximum possible own source revenue that each county government can collect from the most important revenue streams prescribed by the constitution, when they apply the best practices in revenue administration (World Bank, 2019). However, despite the potential, many counties have struggled to meet their revenue targets. Data from the Controller of Budget (2023) shows

that on average, counties have been collecting only about 60% of their annual revenue targets.

In the 1st half of the Financial Year (FY) 2023/24, the OSR only contributed to 24.9 percent of the aggregate annual target of Sh80 billion. Over the same period, only five counties attained over 50 percent of local revenue collection against the annual target (Global Centre for Policy and Strategy, 2024). During the 2022/2023 financial year (FY), revenue collection by county governments reached Kshs.28.77 billion from OSR, which was 46.3 percent of the Kshs.62.10 billion target (Office of the Controller of Budget (OCB), 2023) which was a decline compared to Kshs.35.91 billion generated during a similar period in the previous financial year. In the FY 2021/22, total own source collection was Kshs.35.91 billion, a 59.4 per cent proportion of the annual target (Kshs.60.42) (OCB), 2022). This was decline from the 64.2 per cent achieved in the FY 2020/21, with a collection of Kshs.34.44 billion vis-à-vis a target of Kshs.53.66 billion (OCB, 2021). The FY 2020/21 collection was itself a decrease compared to Kshs.35.77 billion generated in FY 2019/20, representing 65.2 per cent of the target collection of Kshs.54.9 billion. This was further, a decrease compared to the 74.8 percent of the targeted collections in FY2018/19, at Kshs.40.30 billion against the goal of Kshs.53.86 billion (OCB, 2020). While the foregoing statistics may not give individual performance of each county, the summation depicts the average dismal performance of counties, in achieving their respective annual own source revenue targets.

The underperformance in revenue collection among Kenyan counties can be attributed to various factors, including inadequate staff capacity, outdated revenue collection systems, and corruption (Omolo & Anyanzwa, 2019; Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research

and Analysis (KIPPRA), 2024). Some counties have attempted to address the foregoing challenges by adopting automated revenue collection systems. For instance, Nairobi City County's adoption of the electronic payment platform (eJijiPay) in 2014 was expected to enhance revenue collection by reducing leakages and improving efficiency (KIPPRA, 2024). Some counties, including Nairobi, Meru, Kakamega, Narok, Nakuru, and Kericho, are also increasingly harnessing the power of agency revenue collection, either by appointing the Kenya Revenue Authority (KRA) as an agent or engaging private firms as proposed by the National Policy to Support Enhancement of County Governments' Own Source Revenue (2019) (Olatunji & Ayodele, 2017; Ngure, Kananu, Munini, Evusa, Ndirangu & Sisimonda, 2019; Global Centre for Policy and Strategy, 2024). While there have been some improvements, the overall impact of agency revenue collection and automation on achieving revenue targets remains a subject of ongoing study (KIPPRA, 2021).

Further, KIPPRA (2024) observes that there is need for County governments to enhance the capacity of revenue collection staff through implementing focused training. Accordingly, the Commission on Revenue Allocation (CRA) (2021) developed the "Counties' Own Source Revenue Training Guidelines" aimed at enhancing technical expertise among revenue collection staff across county governments. Beside enhancing staff competence, the guidelines also recognize stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance and effective revenue management as key OSR enhancement strategies (CRA, 2021). It however remains scantily explored in the Kenyan body of knowledge, how the interrelationship between agency revenue collection, automation and own source revenue target among selected county governments in Kenya

1.3 Statement of the Problem

The performance and efficiency of governmental services, as well as the expansion of local economies, heavily rely on the effectiveness of revenue collection. Ideally, county governments in Kenya should generate OSR to finance their budgets, reducing dependence on national government transfers. To achieve these revenue targets, counties have implemented various strategies, including the establishment of revenue collection agencies and the adoption of automation technologies. However, despite these efforts, there remains a significant shortfall in the achievement of OSR targets. In the first half of the 2023/24FY for instance, OSR contributed only 24.9 percent of the aggregate annual target of Ksh80 billion, with only five counties achieving over 50 percent of their local revenue collection against the annual target. This stark underperformance is also highlighted by the County OSR Report which indicates that most counties raise an average of 60% of their potential OSR, highlighting a persistent gap between revenue collection and actual outcomes. This shortfall raises critical questions about the effectiveness of both agency-based revenue collection and the automation processes intended to enhance these efforts. It is crucial to ascertain whether the problem lies within the automation systems themselves, the operational efficiency of the revenue agencies, or a combination of both. Further, with the rising costs associated with establishing and maintaining these revenue agencies, there is an urgent need to justify their costeffectiveness and assess whether automation can truly moderate and enhance the relationship between agency efforts and OSR target attainment.

1.4 General Objectives

The general objective of this study was to establish the relationship between agency revenue collection, automation and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

1.5 Specific Objectives

The specific objectives were to:

- i. Determine the relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.
- ii. Assess the relationship between stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya
- Examine the relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya
- iv. Determine the relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya
- v. Establish the moderating effect of revenue collection automation on the relationship between competencies of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance, revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

8

1.6 Research Hypothesis

The study hypotheses were;

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya

 H_04 : There is no statistically significant relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya

 H_05 : Revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

 H_06 : Revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

 H_07 : Revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

 H_08 : Revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

1.7 Justification of the Study

This study is crucial for several reasons. Firstly, the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) of 2012 establishes a detailed framework for managing public finances in Kenya, emphasizing the importance of effectively collecting Own Source Revenue (OSR) to ensure that county governments can finance their operations independent of national government transfers. Despite a decade of devolution and the implementation of revenue collection agencies and automated systems, many counties continue to fall short of their OSR targets. This persistent shortfall raises fundamental questions about the effectiveness of these interventions and the capacity of county governments to achieve financial self-sustainability.

Carrying out this study now, rather than in the future, is particularly relevant due to the ongoing challenges faced by county governments in meeting their OSR targets. The dynamic nature of fiscal policies, evolving technological advancements, and changing administrative practices necessitate timely research to address current inefficiencies and to optimize the use of automation in revenue collection. Immediate analysis is critical to

provide actionable insights that can enhance revenue collection strategies and improve fiscal management practices.

The selected counties of Nairobi, Meru, Kakamega, Narok, Nakuru, and Kericho represent a diverse cross-section of Kenya's counties, offering a comprehensive view of different economic activities and administrative capacities. This diverse representation allows for a refined understanding of the factors affecting OSR performance and the impact of revenue collection automation and agency-based systems. By focusing on these counties now, the study aims to offer evidence-based recommendations that can be quickly implemented to address existing gaps and improve revenue collection outcomes.

Ultimately, the findings of this study will provide valuable insights for policymakers, county governments, and regulatory bodies, guiding the design and implementation of more effective revenue collection strategies. The urgency of this research lies in its potential to contribute to the ongoing efforts to enhance the financial autonomy and sustainability of county governments, ensuring that they can better manage their finances and reduce dependency on national government transfers.

1.8 Significance of the study

This study may benefit the stakeholders and decision-makers in both revenue collection agencies and county governments to develop frameworks in revenue collection as it has highlighted the variables of staff competency, stakeholder's engagement, regulatory compliance and revenue management. Using the findings of the study, the national and county assemblies who are the major stakeholders may be able to formulate legislations to help the County Governments' effective and efficient tax collecting systems. Constitutional Commissions and Independent Offices may be able to generate policies on OSR that guide appropriations and budgets during the review of county budgets.

For policymakers, particularly those involved in fiscal decentralization and public finance management, this study offers critical insights into the effectiveness of agency-based revenue collection and automation in achieving OSR targets. The findings will help inform the development of policies and strategies aimed at enhancing the efficiency of revenue collection mechanisms in county governments. In understanding the factors that contribute to or hinder the achievement of OSR targets, policymakers can design more targeted interventions, allocate resources more effectively, and set realistic performance benchmarks for county governments. Additionally, the study will provide evidence to justify or reconsider the current investments in automation and agency revenue collection systems, ensuring that public funds are utilized in the most effective manner.

For county governments, the study offers practical recommendations on optimizing revenue collection strategies. In identifying the key factors that influence the effectiveness of agency revenue collection and the role of automation, the study provides actionable insights that county governments can implement to enhance their revenue performance. This is particularly important for counties that have struggled to meet their OSR targets, as the study will highlight best practices and areas for improvement. For regulatory bodies, such as the Controller of Budget and the Commission on Revenue Allocation, the study's findings will be instrumental in assessing the performance of county governments and ensuring that they adhere to national standards and guidelines. The study will also be beneficial to external auditors and other oversight bodies, as it will

provide a framework for evaluating the cost-effectiveness and impact of revenue collection strategies at the county level.

To academia, this study makes a valuable contribution to the academic field by filling a critical gap in the existing literature on devolved government revenue collection in Kenya. While much of the previous research has focused on the KRA at the national level, this study shifts the focus to county governments, examining the interplay between agency revenue collection, automation, and OSR target. The study also introduces a fresh perspective by exploring the moderating role of automation, thus adding depth to the discourse on public finance management. The findings will provide a robust empirical foundation for future research and will be of interest to scholars in public finance, economics, and governance, who seek to explore similar dynamics in other contexts.

1.9 Scope of the Study

This investigation covered the relationships between various variables and own source revenue targets by county governments. The research was carried out in the county governments of Nairobi, Meru, Kakamega, Nakuru, Narok and Kericho in Kenya which are six out of the 47 county governments as listed in Appendix VIII. These six counties were appraised to undertake revenue collection through agencies either in effecting collection or process automation. The study was limited to the study variables, which were: competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance and revenue management while considering the moderating effect of automation of own source revenue collection on the specific variables. The analytical scope of this study focuses on examining the relationship between agency revenue collection, automation, and the achievement of OSR targets in selected Kenyan county governments. The study employed a cross-sectional study design approach to provide a comprehensive analysis of the factors influencing revenue collection outcomes.

Conceptually, the study explored the interrelationships between revenue collection agencies, automation technologies, and OSR target. It specifically investigated the moderating role of automation, providing a deeper understanding of how technology can enhance or impede the effectiveness of revenue collection. The study also considered the influence the variables of competencies of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance and revenue management, to offer a holistic view of the revenue collection landscape.

Periodically, the research was conducted over a period of six months, between June 2023 and November 2023. This timeframe allowed for a thorough examination of trends and patterns in OSR performance, providing sufficient data to assess the long-term impact of agency revenue collection and automation initiatives.

Geographically, the study focused on selected county governments in Kenya, representing a diverse cross-section of counties in terms of size, economic activity, and administrative capacity. This selection enabled the study to capture variations in OSR performance across different contexts and provide insights that are applicable to a wide range of counties.

The subject scope encompassed five specific variables, which included competency of revenue collectors, which entailed how the skills and expertise of revenue collectors

influence the effectiveness of revenue collection and the achievement of OSR targets; stakeholder engagement, which assessed the role of engaging with stakeholders in enhancing revenue collection and achieving OSR targets; regulatory compliance, which explored how adherence to regulatory requirements impacts OSR performance; revenue management, entailing the effect of revenue management practices on the achievement of OSR targets; and revenue collection automation, which involved assessing the moderating effect of automation on the relationship between the variables in agency revenue collection and OSR targets was specifically examined.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

This chapter entails; theoretical review, literature review on agency revenue collection, automation on achievement of own source revenue target, conceptual framework, and knowledge gaps will also be included in this chapter.

2.2 Review of Related Literature

The following literatures were reviewed based on the study variable;

2.2.1 Competency of Revenue Collectors and OSR Target

Potnuru and Sahoo (2022) define competency of revenue collectors as the skills, knowledge, and abilities of individuals responsible for collecting revenue on behalf of a government or organization. Measured by capability and knowledge; and training and development, the competency of revenue collectors is critical in ensuring efficient and effective revenue collection, which directly impacts the achievement of revenue targets and the financial health of the organization or government. Accordingly, research has consistently demonstrated a positive correlation between achieving own-source revenue targets and employee competency. Barão, de Vasconcelos, Rocha and Pereira (2023) define competence as a formal procedure for transferring essential knowledge and abilities required for high productivity. Enhancing employee skills involves ensuring they have the capacity to perform specific tasks effectively. Goetz and Wald (2021) describe competence development as a learning process aimed at improving employees' abilities
to complete tasks successfully. In developing nations, training plays a crucial role in tax collection and is often included in aid programs to enhance public service delivery (Razzaq, Shujahat, Hussain, Nawaz, Wang, Ali & Tehseen, 2022). These programs primarily focus on reducing organizational constraints within public institutions, informing government policy, promoting global data exchange, and fostering informed discussions on tax-related matters (Garcia-Perez, Cegarra-Navarro, Bedford, Thomas & Wakabayashi, 2023).

Keeping competent personnel is the key to achieving the own source income target, according to Potnuru and Sahoo (2022). Abbas and Kumar (2021) claim that the competency approach to staff selection is concentrated on classifying, characterizing, and evaluating individual differences for specific job-related components that enable successful job performance. Competence of revenue collectors improves worker performance by assisting them in comprehending the necessary degree of understanding through the sharing of knowledge (Akudugu & Oppong-Peprah, 2023). There was need to address this core component of worker competency in order to promote competitiveness and ensure the achievement of the own source income target. According to Tahiru, Agbesi and Osei-Owusu (2023), capability is a collection of behaviors that have a recognizable appearance pattern and define how pertinent activities are carried out.

Malalgoda, Amaratunga and Haigh (2021) conducted an empirical study with 70 respondents from ten different UK cities looked into how employee training affects service delivery and revenue collection. Regression analysis was employed in the investigation. The results of the study demonstrated that in order to increase tax

collection, the various governments had improved staff training. The highly trained workforce was credited with the improvement, ensuring that revenue collection was successful. There was need to determine the relationship of competency of staff in revenue collection in the Kenyan context with regards to county governments.

According to Ling and Ahamad (2020) study on the impact of Indonesia's knowledge on the management of finances, supervision act and competence on government financial accountability, 71 respondents were surveyed. Multiple Linear Regression was used to examine the data, and the results demonstrate that competence affects the effectiveness of the audit review. This was further supported by Abd El maksoud (2023) who performed analysis of the connection between motivation and competence in the same nation and discovered that performance is influenced by competence. To properly collect income from their own sources, revenue collectors or agents must make sure their staff members have both accounting knowledge and up-to-date abilities. Muturi and Kiarie (2020) noted that a high level of staff competency is required of revenue collectors in order to improve OSR collection.

Malik, Sheikh and Mahmood (2023) carried out a survey on performance management and key competencies in Pakistani public libraries. The research uncovered 6 key competencies. The results showed that interpersonal, analytical, adaptable, planning and organizing, customer service, technological proficiency, organizational knowledge, and communication skills were the most crucial competencies to improve employee performance. Unsatisfactory performance in any competency necessitates an action plan to improve the relevant ability in order to achieve superior performance and meet defined goals. This study concentrated on general competences but did not provide a thorough analysis of staff accounting competencies, leaving a conceptual gap for this study to fill. The previous study focused on performance management, whereas the current study examined agency revenue collection in relation to achieving own source revenue collection goals. By carrying out the study in developing nations like Kenya, the study also aimed to close the contextual gap. While the current investigation used a correlation research design, a survey research design was previously used in other studies.

Culpeper and Aniket (2023) employed a descriptive survey research design in their study on staff training and tax collection. The study sampled 20 parking attendants who were selected at random in China. The results of the study demonstrated that extrinsic factors, such as the fairness of present training processes and aptitude for training, significantly influenced work performance in the tax collection industry. There was need to conduct research on staff training and development in Kenya to contextualize the findings discovered in China.

Also, in China, the relationship between employee development and tax collection was studied by Ruz (2021). The outcomes of the investigation demonstrated that extrinsic variables, such as the equality of present training procedures and the capacity for training, directly impacted work performance in the tax collection industry. Charity (2021) having investigated effect of staff competence on county government found out that the competency has a favorable and favorable impact on productivity. The competencies of revenue collectors stand as a cornerstone, encompassing their knowledge of tax laws, customer service skills, and proficiency in modern collection techniques (Ruz, 2021).

Fakhari, Din and Omar (2022) carried out a study in the United Arab Emirates to look into the mediating impact of management performance on competency of the employees, assistance, and the collection of VAT in the country. The study used a structural equation modeling approach and a quantitative causal research strategy. The investigation found that support services for revenue collection were insufficient, and the hired staff lacked expertise and needed training. This study checked the Kenyan context if staff competence had an effect on own source target with revenue automation as a moderating variable with a focus on all OSR sources in county governments.

Asree, Zain and Razalli (2020) conducted study on organizational excellence and staff core competencies. The study included a cross-sectional survey approach and interpretive analysis. In-depth interviews with fifteen directors and managers of Malaysia's service-based industry's human resource management were conducted as part of the study's qualitative methodology. The results show that despite the diverse activities, roles, and nature of service-based enterprises, core competencies are extremely important for excellence in organizational performance. Even though this study's results were encouraging, further quantitative research is still needed to understand how staff skills affect these outcomes. This study sought to include a sizable sample of 280, which allowed the conclusions to be generalized because the 15 individual sample was too small to allow the findings to be applied to a large population. By doing the study in the setting of Kenya, the contextual gap was filled.

Fadilah (2024) looked into the fundamental skills that professional workers, particularly those working at the Inland Revenue Board of Malaysia, need. The research objective was addressed by conducting an extensive interview using a qualitative methodology. The information was examined using a thematic approach. According to the findings, the four crucial qualities that employees need are cognitive, functional, leadership and communication competencies. Employees that possess these skills are regarded as invaluable resources or assets by their employers. This study intended to check if competencies of staff can enable county governments achieve own source revenue targets.

In order to better understand the impact of staff competencies in India's public and private banks, Salman, Ganie and Saleem (2020) conducted a study where 325 employees from management and lower ranks were interviewed as part of the study utilizing a cross-sectional research approach and convenience sampling. Employee competency has a good and significant impact on performance, according to the study. Contrarily, it was discovered that self-competence had a considerable detrimental impact on performance, and this contradictory conclusion necessitates more research. Additionally, Ali and Mustapha (2023) conducted research on Mid-Size Accounting firms in the United States of America using a survey design. The study found that accounting skills were important in audit firms, but their value and relevance dropped as staff members approached partner level, which were senior management, based on the 699 replies out of the 1,380 planned sample size.

Gong, Huang and Farh (2022) portends that the keeping of competent staff is key in achieving income targets in organizations due to performance enhancement by enabling them to comprehend the degree of understanding by knowledge sharing. Olowookere and Fasina (2023) found out that staff training on revenue collection in the Nigeria increases tax collection due to the skill gained during the training. The study further found out that performance was greatly influenced by competence and that to properly collect revenue all staff ought to have accounting and be appraised of abilities on revenue collection.

Fakhari, et al., (2022) found out in the United Arab Emirates that staff who lacked expertise needed training so as to improve collection of local taxes.

Emojong (2018) conducted research on the impact of competency-based education approaches on employee productivity and efficiency in the educational programs of the Ugandan Revenue Authority. In order to accomplish this, 281 respondents—271 members of the operational staff and 10 members of the management team—were interviewed using a mixed research method that combined descriptive and correlation research. As per the investigation, there is a substantial positive linkage between competency-based education and employee productivity and efficiency in their positions as registers, assessors, and collectors of data. This study intended to check if the findings would hold in relation to staff competency and own source revenue target in the county governments in Kenya.

Prior to the establishment of county governments in Kenya, local authorities tended to have a sizable staff surplus, which led to a significant turnover in the number of specialists and experts. This resulted from a lack of motivation, motivators, and conflict between local governments and the Public Service Commission, which is tasked with resolving personnel difficulties in government (Muturi & Kiarie, 2020). The extent of corruption and wasteful practices that local governments must deal with is both a cause and a consequence of the significant turnover of qualified specialists within such organizations. Along with their incapacity to deliver administrations to tax payers and city residents, the other characteristic of most local governments was a periodic slowness in paying their personnel (Ambarwati, Firmansyah, Hartopo & Iswandy, 2023). To ensure that they received back pay and arrears, several municipal employees engaged in industrial action, such as a boycott of their assigned tasks. In this case, administrative conveyance is hampered, delayed, and underprovided, which negatively impacts personnel morale as well as tax payers. As the county governments function inside the boundaries of the long-gone local authorities, the study attempted to determine whether the conclusions from the local authorities still apply.

According to Chepkorir, Rugut and Langat (2021), one primary challenge facing revenue collection by devolved units in the country lies in the capacity and expertise of county governments to effectively design, implement, and manage revenue collection systems. Many counties lack the institutional capacity and skilled personnel required to efficiently administer revenue collection programs. This results in inefficiencies, revenue leakages, and low compliance rates, all of which hinder the realization of revenue targets. This is supported by Owidhi (2018) who observes that the need for substantial investments in human capital development and capacity building is evident to equip county governments with the skills and resources necessary to navigate the complex revenue collection landscape.

Charity (2021) conducted a study on the impact of employee competency on county government performance in Kenya's central region using a descriptive and explanatory research methodology. 252 respondents were given an organized electronic survey to complete across the five counties of central Kenya. For the purpose of analysis, both inductive and enumerative statistics were utilized, and a 95% confidence level was evaluated on the complete model. Results showed that staff competency has a favorable, statistically significant impact on county government performance. Therefore, in order

for revenue collection agents to effectively collect own source revenue and help the county government reach its revenue collection goal, they must possess accounting skills.

In order to identify the variables that impacted income collection in the Nairobi City County Government, Ngicuru and Muiru (2019) conducted a study applying a descriptive research design. The study involved conducting in-depth interviews with a sample of 180 employees using a survey questionnaire. Both descriptive and inferential statistics were utilized to analyze the data in the study, which employed multivariate regression. The research showed that the most common criteria were competent staff, computer availability, communication system availability, tax structure, and tax education. This current study checked on the findings if they still hold and introduce other variables including the moderating effect of revenue collection automation.

Hussein and Mutswenje (2020) investigated revenue performance with specific emphasis on the collection procedures in Garissa County. The study's objective was to determine how technology and automation, education of the people paying tax, monitoring of revenue, employee motivation and training, and technology all affected the collection of taxes in the County of Garissa. This investigation was grounded on the agency, budget and technological acceptance theory, and the optimal tax theory. The investigation's intended audience consisted of the 237 middle and senior management staff members from the several county departments and agencies. A descriptive research design was adopted. Using a model based on regression, the investigation examined the relationship between Garissa County's administrative procedures and revenue collection. Increased revenue collection which could be accomplished if the county implemented or improved the use of positive procedures within the administration of the county. A number of suggestions were advanced, including that the county administration increases funding allocations for programs through the agencies aimed at enhancing the skills of various teams, and that the HR department create open and equitable reward structures and incentive schemes to motivate revenue officers to perform well in their roles. The current study determined the connection between revenue collectors' competency against the accomplishment of their own source targets.

In Kenya's Taita Taveta County, Ogada and Shibairo (2018) investigated perceived barriers to efficient County own source revenue collection. 60 members of the general public and 132 employees from the County's Finance and Planning Department served as the target audience for a descriptive survey research strategy. Through the use of a questionnaire, primary data was gathered. Inferential statistics were applied to descriptive analysis, which made use of frequencies, percentages, and correlation analysis. According to the study, own source revenue collection was significantly impacted by county human resources. Internal controls should be tightened to make sure that the money collected is adequately protected against embezzlement. It is also advised that staff members undergo regular training on the systems and practices for collecting money from County-own sources as well as the importance of maintaining the integrity of the structure in the County Administration's best interests. Additionally, the report suggests that greater funding be allocated for information, communication, and new technology. In order to reap long-term gains, facilities that assist revenue collection should be purchased. There ought to be an adequate and functioning system of internal control to provide better control over the collected taxes. The county government must regularly assess, establish goals for realistic County own source revenue collection, and implement

measures to assure high compliance. The current study was conducted on counties that have used agencies in their revenue collection while considering internal strengths to the counties towards OSR target attainment.

In Kenya's sub-national government sector, Wang'ombe and Kibati (2020) conducted research at the county government of Nakuru. The investigation's approach was interpretative. They employed sampling stratification to make it simpler to divide the sample into the three categories, with 10% of the sample being selected from each stratum of the target population. The research claims that in order to alter its culture and offer high-quality services, the council must allocate appropriate resources to staff training and development. The study in Nakuru had a smaller proportion of top management and a high portion in lower management and in line with corporate governance principles this study concentrated with top management who are the policy and decision makers in the county governments on aspects of performance management.

Kogei (2020) conducted a study on the effects of revenue collection strategies on revenue collection in Kenya's Meru County government. The benefit theory and the ability to pay theory, which in retrospect explain why taxpayers are motivated to pay their taxes, served as the foundation for this study. A descriptive research methodology was used to examine the 114 management and revenue collection staff members who worked in the finance division of Meru County. The size of the sample was set at 35 workers using a stratification method. The information was collected systematically using a survey, and SPSS was used for analysis. To ascertain how various strategies affect the amount of money collected, the study used descriptive statistics. The researcher advises the county to empower the workforce by investing in capacity building and information technology

in order to realize the optimum revenue. The current study determined the relationship between the competency of revenue collectors while considering a bigger sample of 280 respondents against 35 considered in Meru County for purposes of inferring and generalizing the results to other county governments.

Kimutai, Mulongo and Omboto (2017) assessed how training affected the mobilization of money in 6 county administrations in Rift Valley. This investigation used a descriptive design and discovered that county revenue staff training increased their understanding of the work they were assigned, which in turn affected their productivity in revenue mobilization. The counties' level of revenue collection was raised as a consequence of seminars and workshops that provided county personnel with knowledge of various revenue mobilization tactics and revenue management. According to the report, it is essential that county revenue-related staff receive the appropriate training and are hired based on their credentials. The present investigation established the relationship between capacity building plans of staff on the achievement of their own source revenue targets.

Guyo and Ombui (2022) surveyed Kenyan chartered universities to assess how training and development affect employee performance. Through the use of structured and unstructured questionnaires throughout the sampling group and secondary data derived through organizational reports, information was gathered from 220 employees. The study found that employee engagement and productivity were positively impacted by training and development. While the current study aimed to consider additional potential influencing elements own source revenue target, training and development have received a lot of attention. Furthermore, the focus of the last study was the private sector, whereas this one was on county governments, which are a part of the public sector. The reviewed literature considered the effect of various human resource factors touching on training and development, motivation and staff competency among others. Conceptually, none of the studies looked at the competency of revenue collectors with specific attention on capability and knowledge and the aspect of training and development which are considered in the current study. Contextually, Malalgoda et al. (2021), Ling and Ahamad (2020), Malik et al. (2023), Culpeper and Aniket (2023), Fakhari, et al., (2022), Asree et al. (2020), Fadilah (2024) and Salman et al. (2020), undertook research in foreign countries of United Kingdom, Malaysia, Indonesia, Canada, China, United Arab Emirates and India which are not similar to county governments in Kenya. In addition, Guyo and Ombui (2022) study on the effect of staff competency on service delivery was undertaken in chartered universities which are academic institutions and the same is not comparable to county governments which are public sector establishments. Most of the studies reviewed greatly relied on cross sectional methods and information analysis approaches which did not consider the nature of associations between the constructs of the studies. Due to these gaps, the present study closed the knowledge gap on the relationship between competency of revenue collection agents on the achievement of own source revenue targets.

2.2.2 Stakeholder Engagement and OSR target

Stakeholders are individuals and groups that have an interest in a certain topic even though they play no official part in the decision-making process (Park & Park, 2022). Stakeholder engagement is a process that involves two-way communication and interaction between the authority/organization/company making the decision and the individuals who wish to participate (Brown & Green, 2023). Measured in the current context by taxpayer education alongside reports and public feedback, it is based on incorporating the public's values, wants, and concerns into decision-making. Since the participants have some degree of control or impact on the choice, it is an organized procedure whose overall purpose is to arrive at decisions that are supported by the public (Lee & Kang, 2021).

Recent literature explores the relationship between stakeholder engagement and the achievement of revenue targets across various international contexts, revealing significant insights while identifying gaps that warrant further study, especially within the context of Kenyan county governments. A study by Potoski and Prakash (2022) in the United States of America (USA) examined how local governments incorporate stakeholder engagement in revenue generation strategies. Their mixed-method approach, combining case studies and surveys, demonstrated that effective stakeholder engagement improved revenue collection by ensuring stakeholder input informed more practical policies. While their study demonstrated a clear conceptual framework for standardizing these practices across different governance structures. This gap suggests the necessity for a more robust theoretical approach to understanding how standardized engagement can consistently influence revenue outcomes.

Also in USA, Park and Park (2022) looked at the relationship between budget variation and citizen participation. According to a study conducted on 1,506 municipal and county governments, areas with higher levels of public participation tend to have budget variances that are higher on the revenue side but lower on the expenditure side. As much as the residents desire additional services, this has a direct impact on the achievement of the own source income target because the taxpayers' contribution frequently falls short of expectations. This current study assessed this relationship in the Kenyan context to check if the there was a relationship between stakeholder engagement and own source revenue target in county governments.

In the European context, Roxburgh, Merrie, Pecl and McGee (2020) investigated stakeholder engagement's influence on policy development and revenue targets within the EU's Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD). Using participatory action research involving diverse sectors, they found that engagement strategies aligned sectoral interests with environmental and economic goals. Despite the success, the authors pointed out that measuring the direct impact of stakeholder engagement on revenue outcomes remains a challenge, highlighting the need for more systematic approaches. Although their research in the EU's Marine Strategy Framework Directive indicated successful alignment of sectoral interests with economic goals, the lack of systematic methods for quantifying engagement's effect on revenue targets was evident. This gap highlights the need for improved methodologies that can accurately assess the economic impact of stakeholder engagement.

Brown and Green (2023) in Canada explored the role of stakeholder engagement in municipal revenue enhancement strategies. Through case studies of ten municipalities, they found that effective engagement practices were linked to innovative revenue strategies, such as public-private partnerships. However, the study raised concerns about the long-term sustainability of these strategies, suggesting a gap in understanding how stakeholder engagement can drive enduring revenue growth. While their research linked stakeholder engagement to innovative revenue strategies, such as public-private partnerships, it raised concerns about the long-term viability of these approaches. This gap suggests the necessity for a conceptual framework that can guide the development of sustainable, stakeholder-driven revenue strategies over time.

Lee and Kang (2021) assessed the role of stakeholder engagement in achieving sustainable financial management in South Korean municipalities. Their quantitative study used regression analysis, revealing a positive correlation between proactive stakeholder engagement and revenue targets, especially for municipalities facing budgetary constraints. Nevertheless, the authors emphasized that more qualitative research is required to understand how stakeholder engagement dynamics vary in different political environments, suggesting a gap in exploring the role of political culture in engagement success. This gap suggests that future research should explore the role of political culture in shaping the effectiveness of stakeholder engagement, particularly in regions with varying governance structures.

In South America, Gómez and Ramirez (2021) explored how stakeholder involvement in fiscal policy formulation impacted revenue targets in Colombian municipalities. The longitudinal analysis of municipal budget reports showed that continuous stakeholder involvement resulted in more accurate revenue projections and higher compliance rates. However, the study noted that marginalized communities were often left out of these engagements, pointing to a gap in stakeholder inclusivity that could affect long-term revenue sustainability. Although their study linked stakeholder involvement to improved revenue projections, the exclusion of certain groups from the engagement process suggests a critical gap in understanding how inclusivity impacts revenue outcomes. This

gap necessitates research focused on developing more inclusive stakeholder engagement strategies that ensure all voices are heard.

Johnson and Taylor (2022) in Australia evaluated the effectiveness of stakeholder engagement in public financial management within local governments. Through interviews and document analysis, the study found that stakeholder engagement was crucial for achieving revenue targets, especially in regions undergoing economic transition. However, they identified a gap in engagement with small businesses, which could be addressed by creating more inclusive strategies for diverse stakeholder groups. While their study underscored the importance of stakeholder engagement, it lacked a detailed analysis of how small businesses, as key stakeholders, are integrated into these processes. This methodological oversight suggests that future studies should focus on refining engagement strategies to include small and medium enterprises more effectively.

In the Middle East, Al-Naimi and Qasem (2020) examined stakeholder engagement in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries and its influence on revenue optimization. Their mixed-method approach showed that stakeholder engagement played a significant role in sectors such as real estate and tourism. However, political factors often hindered effective engagement, and the study pointed out that further research is needed to explore how political dynamics affect stakeholder engagement outcomes. Although their study showed that engagement positively influenced revenue optimization, the varying political landscapes across the GCC region were not fully addressed. This gap underscores the need for research that explores how political dynamics affect stakeholder engagement and its subsequent impact on revenue generation.

Zhang and Li (2021) in East Asia analyzed the impact of stakeholder engagement on revenue mobilization across Chinese provinces. Their econometric analysis found that provinces with higher levels of stakeholder engagement in fiscal policy formulation met their revenue targets more successfully. Despite this, the study identified a gap in the role of digital platforms in facilitating stakeholder engagement, pointing to the potential for technology to enhance engagement processes. Although their study found that higher levels of stakeholder engagement swas not fully explored. This gap indicates the need for research into how digital tools can be leveraged to facilitate more effective stakeholder engagement.

A study conducted by Ruz (2021) in the Philippines province of Bataan for the fiscal years 2018–2019 looked at the impact of financial performance and the full transparency policy compliance that dictates statutory reporting to the government. Using a descriptive research approach, the study picked 12 city and municipal local government units and examined secondary data in financial accounts. The aim of the present research is to close the gap caused by the data source and usage of secondary techniques while trying to create relationships among different variables. The study revealed that there was no association between the factors it looked at, and the current study planned to use the same variable of statutory reports in the context of Kenya.

In Western Africa, Ayodele and Kwame (2023) investigated how stakeholder engagement influences revenue collection across five West African countries. They found that engagement was critical for improving tax compliance and broadening the tax base. However, rural areas remained significantly under-engaged, creating a gap that posed challenges for achieving revenue targets. This finding underscores the need for targeted outreach strategies to ensure that all stakeholders, including those in marginalized areas, are included in the engagement process. Their study highlighted the critical role of stakeholder engagement in improving tax compliance but noted that rural areas remained under-engaged. This gap emphasizes the need for research focused on developing outreach strategies that ensure comprehensive engagement across both urban and rural contexts.

Nkuna (2021) undertook a study to analyze the obstacles to tax collection that affect the Maruleng local municipality's ability to remain financially viable in Limpopo province of South Africa. The emphasis of the study was to ascertain the obstacles that had a contribution to the lack of financial resources in the municipalities through a mixed research method design by inductive analysis through telephone interviews and factor analysis through questionnaires. According to the research, the challenges include inadequate service provision, incorrect accounting, metered problems, an infrastructure shortage, and ineffective execution of policies. Recommendations include improved public participation, capacity enhancement and improved policy implementation. This current study considered the broad variables of stakeholder engagement, competency of revenue collectors, regulatory compliance and revenue management in line with the reviewed study under the Kenyan context to ascertain if the same factors produce the same results.

Additionally, in order to start project activities, a large number of stakeholders must be included early. The performance of the Water Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) project was found to be positively correlated with stakeholder participation in the planning stage, according to research conducted in Rwanda by Paton and Andrew (2019) to examine stakeholder involvement and its relationship to the outcome of the project. The WASH project's outcome and stakeholder participation were the main topics of the study, which was carried out in Rwanda. The current study sought to establish the relationship between stakeholders' participation on the attainment of own source revenue collection by Kenyan county governments.

Obara and Nangih (2017) used a survey approach to conduct a compliance analysis of tax hurdles and domestic revenue collection in Nigeria among micro firms in Port Harcourt city. The study demonstrates that Nigeria lacks a solid tax base and that the prevalence of cash transactions has an impact on the generation of domestic income. The report stated that effective automation, regular tax payer education would lead to increase revenue collections.

Owino and Akech (2023) focused on Kenyan counties and explored the impact of stakeholder engagement on revenue collection efficiency. Using comparative case studies of five counties, the authors found that stakeholder engagement improved transparency and accountability, which, in turn, enhanced revenue collection. However, inconsistent engagement practices across counties led to varying results. This inconsistency points to a need for a conceptual framework that can guide uniform engagement practices across diverse county settings in Kenya.

Gitaru (2017) found out that tax alignment by Small and Micro Enterprises in the Nairobi Central Business District was improved whenever there is stakeholder involvement through taxpayer education. This was achieved through taxpayer education programs in both digital and print media. All these interventions have to be targeted to check that the intended demographic understands what they are saying of the relevant tax laws. Kimutai (2017) examined income mobilization tactics in the North Rift region and their effects on county socioeconomic development. The study went one step further by looking at how the variables affected the socioeconomic growth of a larger region made up of multiple counties. Training, technology, stakeholder participation, the influence of infrastructure for mobilization of revenues and limitations experienced by county administrations when putting fundraising strategies into place were the aspects that were highlighted. According to the study, cooperation amongst stakeholders, technology, and training all had an impact on income mobilization strategies. The aim of the present research was to ascertain whether training, stakeholder engagement, and technology utilization have any impact on achieving revenue targets in the selected county governments.

In their study, which used a descriptive survey approach, Onyango, Bwisa and Orwa (2017) discovered that stakeholder participation had a substantial impact on the success of road upgrades in Kiambu County. According to the study's findings, stakeholders required to be included in project management and activity planning. This is in line with Paton and Andrew's (2019) emphasis that stakeholder involvement in planning phases is crucial when interested parties will have a big impact on project success. The application of the stakeholder participation factor in collection of revenues in County Governments and the accomplishment of objectives was the goal of this study.

Muute (2019) set out to look into how stakeholder involvement impacts building project success in Nairobi City County, Kenya. The results demonstrated that the project was being finished without too many difficulties and that the allocated funds were adequate to complete the project. The study found that stakeholder involvement significantly and

favorably influences how successfully building projects run. The study also found out that to achieve development objectives in county governments, stakeholder involvement played a significant role on the project outcome through the phases of design, implementation, monitoring and usage upon project completion. The goal of the current study was to examine how stakeholders affect own source revenue collection by agents in order to consistently meet revenue collection goals.

Ali (2019) investigated how the involvement of stakeholders affects the success of NG-CDF developments in the Wajir West Constituency. Data was gathered for the study via questionnaires and a descriptive case study of CDF-funded projects in Wajir West County. The results demonstrated that stakeholder involvement has a direct and advantageous impact on CDF success factors. In order to determine its impact on how source revenue collections are made through revenue collection agents, the Kenyan county administrations the current investigation was conducted.

According to the reviewed literature on stakeholder engagement, Local government performance studies by Park and Park (2022) in the United States of America, Tooley, et al., (2010) in Malaysian, Ruz (2021) in the Philippines, Nkuna (2021) in South Africa and Paton and Andrew (2019) in Rwanda which are foreign countries found that there is a link between high stakeholder engagement and successful outcomes. The current study considered county governments in Kenya to address the contextual gap. In addition, Onyango, et al., (2017), Muute (2019) and Ali (2019) found out that stakeholder involvement in project implementation led to success which is contextually different from own source revenue target considered in the current study. Furthermore, research on agency revenue collection and OSR target and the precise role played by government

regulatory bodies like the Commission on Revenue Allocation and the Controller of Budget in achieving own source revenue goals is limited. Although Obara and Nangih (2017) considered the variables of automation and taxpayer education in their study in Nigeria, the current study conceptually considers taxpayer education under stakeholder engagement in the Kenyan context while considering automation as a moderating variable between agency revenue collection and OSR target.

2.2.3 Regulatory Compliance and OSR Target

Regulatory compliance is defined by O'Donnell and Lewis (2021) as the adherence to laws, regulations, standards, and guidelines established by governing bodies that an organization or individual must follow in order to operate legally and ethically. Measured by operational policies and guidelines and revenue collection legislations, regulatory compliance is essential for maintaining legal and operational integrity, protecting the organization from legal risks, and ensuring the trust and confidence of stakeholders and the public.

Like many specialized organizations, revenue bodies understand that processes created specifically for this purpose are the best way to assist regulatory compliance (Lee & Kim, 2022). The European Union and the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) have released guidance notes on managing and improving compliance in response to this requirement. These notes define systematic procedures for managing compliance and maximizing voluntary compliance. The procedures are designed to identify, evaluate, and order systemic compliance (Bücker & Jansen, 2020).

Regulatory compliance ensures that the revenue collection process adheres to legal frameworks and enforcement of regulations (Macharia, Oluoch & Ncabira, 2021). The level of legal compliance has an impact on any tax system's revenue yield, efficiency, and fairness, according to IMF (2015). Revenue is undermined, competition is distorted, and equity is jeopardized by noncompliance. The reality that more importance is being placed taxpayer service and enforcement may have gone unnoticed because ineffective governance and management practices, as well as unwarranted legal restrictions, made it difficult for counties to respond promptly and effectively to new compliance challenges (O'Donnell & Lewis, 2021). In order to better manage taxpayer compliance, it is essential to use measures such as systematic risk assessment, automated checking, and debt management that have not yet been fully applied.

The National Policy to Support Enhancement of County's OSR (2019), which addresses many difficulties in the collection of decentralized taxes, has been prepared as a policy direction. Inadequate revenue laws and regulations, a proliferation of taxes and charges, a lack of human resource capacity, issues with enforcing tax payer compliance, a lack of automation and integration of tax-payers, as well as insufficient internal controls and audit systems are some of the concerns mentioned. In order to achieve efficiency in revenue administration, improve governance and transparency, and foster public engagement, the policy suggests upgrading the legislative frameworks for revenue collecting and aligning them to the policy objectives. The policy's goals are to improve County Government Own Source Revenue and raise county accountability. The County Governments (Revenue Raising Process) Bill 2018 is the piece of legislation that has been written with the policy and is seeking cabinet and parliamentary approval. The criteria for evaluating county legislation policies are established by the present policy.

According to CRA (2017), a hurdle to OSR mobilization is the slow pace of creating or operationalizing efficient legal and policy frameworks to support revenue administration. In that regard, several counties lack essential legislation like the rating and valuation rules required for tax collection. By providing clear instructions and strategies for tax administration and management, the establishment of an effective policy and legal framework is anticipated to make OSR mobilization easier. This study assessed the regulatory compliance in revenue collection by county governments or their agents.

Recent literature on the relationship between regulatory compliance and the achievement of revenue targets provides valuable insights across various international contexts, revealing important conceptual, contextual, and methodological gaps that necessitate further research. These gaps are particularly relevant to the context of Kenyan county governments, where the enforcement of regulatory compliance is critical for maximizing own-source revenue (OSR).

In the United States, O'Donnell and Lewis (2021) conducted an in-depth study on the impact of regulatory compliance on local government revenue generation, focusing on municipalities across several states. The researchers utilized a mixed-methods approach, combining qualitative case studies with quantitative survey data from local government officials. Their findings indicated that rigorous regulatory compliance significantly improved revenue collection by reducing instances of tax evasion and ensuring strict adherence to financial regulations. However, a conceptual gap emerged as the study did not address the potential challenges posed by the complexity and variability of

regulations across different municipalities. Smaller municipalities, in particular, faced difficulties in navigating these regulations, which could inadvertently hinder their revenue generation efforts. This gap suggests a need for a more refined understanding of how regulation complexity affects different types of municipalities, potentially warranting differentiated compliance strategies to optimize revenue outcomes (O'Donnell & Lewis, 2021).

In Europe, Bücker and Jansen (2020) explored the influence of regulatory compliance on revenue targets within the European Union's digital services sector. This study employed a quantitative analysis of compliance data from EU member states, focusing on the relationship between regulatory adherence and revenue performance across the digital economy. The authors found that higher levels of regulatory compliance were positively correlated with improved revenue outcomes, particularly in countries with well-established digital infrastructure. However, the study identified a methodological gap in how the long-term effects of regulatory compliance were measured. The rapidly evolving nature of digital markets meant that regulations quickly became outdated, leading to inconsistencies in their effectiveness over time. This gap underscores the need for dynamic regulatory frameworks that can adapt to technological advancements and continuously support revenue generation (Bücker & Jansen, 2020).

Lee and Kim (2022) conducted a study in South Korea to assess the impact of regulatory compliance on municipal revenue targets, focusing on the differences between urban and rural municipalities. Their research employed regression analysis to evaluate the relationship between compliance and revenue collection across various administrative regions. The findings indicated that while regulatory compliance generally improved revenue outcomes in urban municipalities, rural areas experienced significant challenges in enforcing these regulations. This discrepancy highlighted a contextual gap in how regulatory frameworks were applied and enforced in different geographic areas. Rural municipalities, with their limited administrative capacity, often struggled to maintain consistent compliance, leading to lower revenue generation. This gap points to the need for tailored regulatory strategies that consider the unique challenges faced by rural areas in enforcing compliance (Lee & Kim, 2022).

Ramirez and Gomez (2021) explored the relationship between regulatory compliance and revenue collection in Colombian municipalities, using a longitudinal study design. The researchers analyzed municipal financial data over several years to assess the impact of compliance on revenue outcomes. Their findings indicated that stricter enforcement of regulations led to more consistent revenue collection across municipalities. However, a significant contextual gap emerged in the study, particularly concerning the adaptability of regulations to local conditions. The authors noted that a one-size-fits-all approach to regulatory compliance was often ineffective in Colombia's diverse municipal environments. This gap suggests that regulatory frameworks need to be more adaptable to local contexts to optimize revenue generation (Ramirez & Gomez, 2021).

Brown and Taylor (2022) investigated the relationship between environmental regulatory compliance and revenue generation in Australian local governments. Their study, which employed a combination of interviews and document analysis, found that compliance with environmental regulations often resulted in increased costs for local governments but also created new revenue streams through fines and green initiatives. A methodological gap was identified, as the study did not provide a comprehensive analysis of how these new revenue streams compared to traditional revenue sources. This gap highlights the need for future research to explore the financial sustainability of revenue strategies that rely on environmental regulatory compliance (Brown & Taylor, 2022).

In the Middle East, Al-Omari and Qasim (2020) examined the impact of regulatory compliance on revenue targets within the GCC countries, focusing on the real estate and construction sectors. Their mixed-method study combined qualitative interviews with quantitative analysis of compliance data from multiple GCC countries. The findings revealed that while regulatory compliance generally improved revenue outcomes, the lack of standardized regulations across the GCC created a significant contextual gap. This gap led to varying levels of revenue achievement depending on the country, suggesting the need for more harmonized regulatory frameworks within the region to ensure consistent revenue generation (Al-Omari & Qasim, 2020).

Smith and Green (2023) conducted a study in Canada to explore the relationship between regulatory compliance and municipal revenue collection, focusing on municipalities with varying levels of resources. Their case study approach highlighted that municipalities with robust compliance frameworks were more successful in achieving their revenue targets. However, the study pointed out a significant conceptual gap related to the enforcement of compliance, particularly in remote areas where resources for monitoring and enforcement were limited. This gap suggests the need for research into innovative enforcement strategies that can overcome resource constraints and ensure consistent compliance across all regions (Smith & Green, 2023).

Zhang and Liu (2021) analyzed the impact of regulatory compliance on revenue mobilization in China's manufacturing sector, using econometric modeling to assess the relationship between compliance levels and revenue outcomes across various provinces. The study found that provinces with higher levels of regulatory compliance generally performed better in revenue generation. However, the authors identified a methodological gap in accounting for the informal sector, which often operated outside formal regulatory frameworks. This oversight potentially led to underreporting of revenue and suggests a need for more comprehensive approaches that include informal sector activities in compliance assessments (Zhang & Liu, 2021).

Ayodele and Mensah (2023) investigated the role of regulatory compliance in revenue collection in Nigeria and Ghana, focusing on the challenges posed by inconsistent enforcement and corruption. Their comparative analysis found that while regulatory compliance was critical for achieving revenue targets, the effectiveness of compliance efforts was significantly undermined by political and economic factors. The study highlighted a significant contextual gap in understanding how these challenges could be mitigated across different political and economic contexts, suggesting a need for tailored regulatory strategies that address the specific challenges of each country (Ayodele & Mensah, 2023).

An investigation was undertaken by Ewa *et al.*, (2018) on how regulatory compliance affects the capacity of Nigerian banks to evaluate fraudulent behavior by personnel way of life, and the identification of fraud. Thirteen Nigerian banks' data were surveyed using a Four Point Likert Scale employing percentages and ratios to analyze the results them. According to the study, the nature of regulatory compliance affects employees' attitudes toward fraud in such a way that strict compliance with regulatory compliance acts as a deterrent to employee fraud. In order to tackle the issues in the financial services industry, a trustworthy and effective oversight structure is needed, according to the report. The report advised Nigerian banks to revise their plans for regulatory compliance and pay close attention to how their staff operate because it might be a symptom of fraud.

Attah-Botchwey (2018) investigated the role played by internal controls in Ghana where it was found that monitoring and evaluation played a substantial role in revenue performance. The study further recommended that internal controls have to be strengthened in the revenue function so as to be able to achieve revenue targets. The study was done in an African context and this study assessed if the findings still hold in the Kenyan context with regard to devolved units.

Ndegwa and Owino (2023) examined the effects of regulatory compliance on revenue targets among Kenyan counties, using a comparative case study approach. Their study analyzed compliance practices across five counties, revealing that counties with higher levels of compliance were more likely to meet or exceed their revenue targets. However, the authors identified a significant conceptual gap in understanding the role of political interference in regulatory enforcement. In many cases, political factors undermined compliance efforts, leading to inconsistent application of regulations and subsequent revenue shortfalls. This gap suggests a need for further research into the political dynamics that influence regulatory compliance and how these can be managed to ensure consistent revenue generation (Ndegwa & Owino, 2023).

The impact of administrative capacity on tax collection in Kenya's Nyeri County was established by Githua and Ngahu (2018). The optimal theory of taxes formed the basis of the investigation. The methodology used in the study was both descriptive and correlational. The target demographic for the study was workers in the Nyeri county government's revenue division. From a total of 350 employees, 78 responses were picked at random to represent the sample. The results were presented using descriptive statistics, inferential statistics, and tables with important comments. The study's conclusions indicate that administrative capability has a big impact on revenue collection. According to the report, for the purpose of increasing the collection of revenues, the county administration should strengthen its ability to manage revenue. Based on this, the current study assessed the administrative, operational, and guiding principles used by revenue collection agents in an effort to help them meet their own source revenue collection goals.

The reviewed literature on the relationship between regulatory compliance and revenue target highlights several significant gaps that necessitate further research, particularly in the context of Kenyan county governments. Conceptual gaps were identified in studies from the United States, South Korea, and Canada, where challenges related to regulation complexity, enforcement variability, and political interference were not fully explored (O'Donnell & Lewis, 2021; Bücker & Jansen, 2020; Lee & Kim, 2022). Contextual gaps emerged in research conducted in Sub-Saharan Africa, Europe, and the Middle East, where differences in regulatory environments across regions, municipalities, and economic sectors revealed the need for more adaptable and localized regulatory frameworks (Ndegwa & Owino, 2023; Bücker & Jansen, 2020; Al-Omari & Qasim, 2020). Methodological gaps were evident in studies from Australia, Colombia, and China, where issues such as the dynamic nature of regulations, the underreporting of informal sector activities, and the lack of comparative analysis of new revenue streams versus traditional ones were highlighted (Brown & Taylor, 2022; Ramirez & Gomez,

2021; Zhang & Liu, 2021). These gaps underscore the need for more comprehensive and context-sensitive approaches to understanding how regulatory compliance influences revenue outcomes in diverse settings.

2.2.4 Revenue Management and OSR Target

Revenue management is conceptualized as the strategic process of optimizing revenue by analyzing and managing pricing, inventory, and demand to maximize profitability (Johnson & Müller, 2020). Measured by government budgeting base and revenue accounting, efficient revenue management acts as the loom that weaves all these threads together. This process bolsters decision-making, allowing counties to fine-tune their revenue strategies in real time. As a driving force to attain their OSR targets, county governments strategically harness agency revenue collection (Olatunji & Ayodele, 2017). This dynamic approach involves combining the various local taxes, licenses, fines, and fees, to create a viable financial composition that supports the aspirations of the community. Through meticulous record-keeping, streamlined administrative procedures, and innovative technology integration, counties amplify their capacity to generate revenue. Agency revenue collection becomes the backdrop upon which counties use to achieve their own source revenue targets (Gatta et al 2018). This endeavor empowers counties to chart a course toward self-sufficiency, enabling them to sculpt bespoke service delivery and robust infrastructure development that resonates with the pulse of their constituents' needs and dreams (Ogada & Shibairo, 2018).

The National Policy to support the enhancement of County's OSR (2019) permits the use of four structures to facilitate the administration of own source revenue. Firstly, the

47

policy proposes the use of internal revenue administration departments where a dedicated workforce within the department of revenue administration is in charge of revenue collection. Secondly, county governments can form autonomous county revenue authorities or corporations through legislation whereby the corporation can have autonomy on all matters related to own source revenue collection through a structured process. Thirdly, the Kenya Revenue Authority can be engaged as agents to undertake own source revenue collection whereby the county governments can benefit from cost savings and expertise of KRA among other benefits. Finally, private firms and other agents can be contracted where the county governments can benefit from expertise from the private sector firms and cost savings as the governments will not have to invest in revenue collection infrastructure.

In order to mobilize tax properly, all county governments are required to increase their administrative capabilities in the tax administrations (Shibia & Barako 2015). According to a 2021 USAID/Zambia Own source revenue Viability Assessment, 83.3% of district councils in the country keep a register of taxpayers and other payers. All companies and people who are required to pay property rates, personal levies, rentals on council properties, business licenses, business levies, for the operation of communication towers, and other fees were listed in the registers. Registers are often either kept on paper (26.7%) or on an Excel spreadsheet (33.3%). Additionally, 26.7% utilize Excel and either paper records or an accounting program. Basic taxpayer and non-taxpayer identifying information, like a person's or company's name and address, is kept on file by all district councils. However, only 13.3% and 46.7%, respectively, of district councils' registers keep track of Taxpayer Personal Identification Numbers and types of taxes and non-tax

obligations. Furthermore, the gender of each taxpayer or non-taxpayer is only kept on file by one Local Government Authority (LGA). Therefore, revenue collection agents must use methods that make it simple to analyze the money they have gathered and divide it into several categories.

The attention should be on raising property rates, particularly in urbanized areas, and on raising market fees, licenses, and permits in both urbanized and rural LGAs, according to UNICEF Malawi's report from 2022 on mobilizing local own source revenues. According to international standards for low- to middle-income nations, administrative adjustments might mainly cause the property rates to double from the present 0.075% of GDP to 0.15% of GDP. The report also stated that enhancing any of these streams would necessitate a combination of administrative and policy corrective measures. Any such improvements must be planned to maximize local tax collection while reducing potential efficiency distortions that could hinder economic growth or have unfair implications that disproportionately harm the poor. It is crucial to avoid making changes that result in higher administrative and compliance costs than the money the LGA brings in, effectively turning that local revenue stream into an annoyance tax. For long-term sustainability, all OSR improvements must prioritize increasing net income yield while reducing compliance costs, potential economic distortion costs, and administrative costs. The purpose of the current study was to examine the Kenyan setting in relation to the county governments' achievement of their own source revenue target.

Recent studies exploring the relationship between revenue management and the achievement of OSR targets across various international contexts have provided critical insights, though several gaps remain, making further research necessary. These studies,

ranging from the United States to Sub-Saharan Africa, highlight the complexities of revenue management and their impact on achieving revenue targets, but also point to significant conceptual, contextual, and methodological challenges that need to be addressed.

In the United States, Miller and Roberts (2021) examined the relationship between revenue management strategies and municipal revenue outcomes in large urban centers. Using a quantitative approach, they analyzed data from over 100 municipalities, focusing on how strategic budgeting, tax enforcement, and innovative revenue streams influence OSR achievement. The study found that municipalities with diversified revenue sources and strong enforcement mechanisms were more successful in meeting their revenue targets. However, a conceptual gap was identified in understanding the long-term sustainability of these strategies, particularly in economically volatile regions. This gap suggests a need for further research into how revenue management can be adapted to maintain revenue stability over time (Miller & Roberts, 2021).

In Europe, Johnson and Müller (2020) investigated the effects of revenue management on local government financial performance in Germany. Their study employed a mixedmethods approach, combining quantitative financial analysis with qualitative interviews from financial managers across various municipalities. The findings highlighted that effective revenue management, including rigorous financial planning and risk management, contributed significantly to achieving revenue targets. Nonetheless, a contextual gap was evident, as the study did not adequately account for the differences in revenue management between urban and rural municipalities, where financial capacities and challenges vary widely. This gap underscores the need for more context-specific research to tailor revenue management strategies to different types of municipalities (Johnson & Müller, 2020).

In Asia, Park and Lee (2022) explored the relationship between revenue management and financial performance in South Korean local governments. Through an econometric analysis of municipal financial data, the study found that proactive revenue management, particularly in tax collection and public asset management, significantly enhanced revenue outcomes. However, the study revealed a methodological gap in its reliance on short-term financial data, which limited the ability to assess the long-term impacts of revenue management on OSR targets. This gap highlights the importance of longitudinal studies that can provide a more comprehensive understanding of how these practices influence financial performance over time (Park & Lee, 2022).

In Latin America, Diaz and Torres (2021) examined the impact of revenue management on municipal financial sustainability in Brazil. Their study utilized a combination of financial ratio analysis and case studies to assess the effectiveness of various revenue management strategies in maintaining fiscal balance. The findings indicated that municipalities with strong revenue management, particularly in expenditure control and debt management, were more likely to achieve their revenue targets. However, a conceptual gap was noted in the study's limited exploration of how external economic shocks, such as commodity price fluctuations, could affect the sustainability of these revenue management. This gap points to the need for further research into how municipalities can build resilience into their revenue management strategies to withstand economic shocks (Diaz & Torres, 2021).

51

In Australia, Smith and Brown (2022) investigated the role of revenue management in enhancing the financial performance of local governments. Through a comprehensive analysis of financial statements and interviews with key financial officers, the study found that municipalities that adopted innovative revenue management, such as value-based pricing and revenue forecasting, were more successful in achieving their revenue targets. However, the study revealed a methodological gap related to the lack of comparative analysis between municipalities with varying levels of resource availability, which could skew the understanding of revenue management effectiveness. This gap suggests the need for comparative studies that consider the impact of resource constraints on revenue management (Smith & Brown, 2022).

In the Middle East, Al-Mutairi and Al-Shammari (2020) explored the relationship between revenue management and revenue generation in Kuwaiti municipalities. Their study employed a mixed-methods approach, combining survey data with financial performance analysis. The findings indicated that municipalities with rigorous financial controls and revenue diversification strategies were more effective in meeting their revenue targets. However, a contextual gap was identified in the study's limited consideration of the cultural and regulatory differences across municipalities, which could influence the effectiveness of revenue management. This gap suggests the need for more nuanced research that takes into account the cultural and regulatory contexts in which these practices are implemented (Al-Mutairi & Al-Shammari, 2020).

In Canada, Clark and Mitchell (2023) conducted a study on the impact of revenue management on municipal financial health in Ontario. Using a combination of quantitative financial analysis and qualitative interviews, the study found that
municipalities that implemented comprehensive revenue management, including multiyear budgeting and performance-based budgeting, were more likely to achieve their revenue targets. However, a conceptual gap was noted in the study's limited focus on the role of citizen engagement in revenue management, which could be a critical factor in ensuring the success of these practices. This gap highlights the need for research that explores the role of public participation in enhancing the effectiveness of revenue management strategies (Clark & Mitchell, 2023).

In the context of Southeast Asia, Nguyen and Tran (2021) examined revenue management and its impact on revenue targets in Vietnamese municipalities. Through an empirical analysis of financial data from various municipalities, the study found that those with proactive revenue management, such as early tax collection initiatives and diversified revenue streams, were more successful in achieving their OSR targets. However, the study identified a methodological gap in its limited consideration of informal sector revenues, which are significant in many Southeast Asian economies. This gap suggests the need for more comprehensive research that includes the informal sector in revenue management analyses to better understand the full scope of revenue generation (Nguyen & Tran, 2021).

In a study in Sub-Saharan Africa on the success of SARAs, Jeppesen (2021) found out that by the year 2021, 23 countries in Africa had created the tax administrations with Kenya being among them. The law that created the Kenya Revenue Authority was passed in the year 1995 and in the same year the organization came into existence. According to the same study, the concern of insufficient revenue had a direct effect on the development agenda articulated by the developing countries. Another concern brought forth by the researcher was also the viability and justifications in creation of SARAs so that independence to execute their mandates is free from political interference and the same organizations have financial and human resource autonomy.

In South Africa, Moyo and Gumede (2023) investigated the role of revenue management in achieving OSR targets in South African municipalities. Using a mixed-methods approach, the study focused on municipalities that had implemented new revenue management systems, such as electronic revenue collection platforms. The findings indicated that these systems significantly improved revenue outcomes, particularly in urban municipalities. However, a contextual gap was identified, as the study did not fully explore the challenges faced by rural municipalities in implementing these systems, where technological and infrastructural limitations were more pronounced. This gap suggests the need for research that addresses the unique challenges of rural municipalities in adopting modern revenue management (Moyo & Gumede, 2023).

In a survey on own-source revenue potential and tax gap study of Kenya's county governments, the World Bank (2019) found that existing complexity in the structure of rates, fees, and charges poses major challenges to counties aiming to enhance their OSR collections. In particular, existing structures create uncertainty and hinder the precise implementation of fiscal instruments, making it difficult for revenue collectors to charge the correct rate for each activity or product. Further, IBP Kenya (2021) uncovered evidence of heterogeneity in the definitions of fees, charges, and tax rates under different streams. In some cases, there is also substantial variation in the economic base for fees, charges, and tax rates that are categorized under the same OSR stream. According to Waddell et al. (2019), due to frequent organizational changes, individuals must develop

new knowledge, skills, and behaviors. They contend that firms will struggle to make changes if staff does not develop new competencies. Staff competency will always be improved through training in their particular job-related areas of responsibility.

According to Kiprotich, Njuguna and Kilika (2018), a formidable challenge in effective revenue management is the existence of a large informal economy in many counties. A significant portion of economic activities in the informal sector often goes unregulated and untaxed, undermining revenue collection. In a study in Nairobi City County, Naburi (2017) found out that the county government relied on reactive interest and social pressures when undertaking enforcement as a revenue management mechanism. The researcher further noted that ineffective administration and political interference as pointed by Jeppesen (2021) was the biggest contributor in low revenue collections in the county government.

On their part, Okotchi, Makokha and Namusonge (2020) note that some businesses and individuals engage in tax evasion practices, reducing the revenue base available to county governments. Tackling these challenges requires robust enforcement mechanisms, transparent taxation processes, and anti-corruption measures. It is thus deducible that overall, while devolution holds the potential for increased revenue generation and local development, addressing these revenue collection challenges is crucial to unlocking the full benefits of devolution for Kenya's counties.

Naburi (2017) looked at the enforcement and collection of property taxes. Low rates of compliance were found by the study in Nairobi. According to the research, the county government relies on reactive interest, social pressure from posting defaulters' names, punishments, and penalties. The study determined that ineffective administration and

political intervention were to blame for the low collection of property taxes, and it made recommendations for better public services, capacity building, and political support mobilization. This study sought to establish county revenue administration's impact on revenue mobilization from a holistic approach with focus on revenue management through budgeting alongside revenue accounting and the relationship with own source revenue target considering revenue automation as a moderating variable.

Kanyinga (2016) studied how tax management affected how well small businesses in a Nairobi industrial area neighborhood were complying with turnover tax(TOT). In order to boost TOT compliance among Kenya's small and medium-sized businesses, the study indicates that KRA has included information technology into its operations. SME's view of EFT, SIMBA, ITR and ITMS as the key tax management drivers of compliance and, subsequently, of enhanced collection of revenue. The goal of the current study was to regulate how the county governments' chosen revenue management techniques and automated revenue collection strategies affect their ability to meet their own source income targets. The current study covered all the OSR tax sources including property tax, rates, tolls, fines and fees.

Shibia and Barako (2015) looked into 47 counties' property tax performance factors. The findings show that urbanization, population density, and administrative capability are crucial elements in determining how well property taxes perform. The study indicates significant differences between counties and a drop in property taxes relative to the global average. It advises county governments to increase their administrative capabilities in order to mobilize tax property.

In examining the impact of international funding, impoverishment, surface area, and development on county own income collections, Khadondi (2015) investigated a distinct set of factors. The results show that, with the exception of land acreage, all other variables impacted statistics in a big way the amount of self-generated income. The study governments prioritize poverty alleviation, suggests that county enhance intergovernmental assistance, and concentrate on expanding metropolitan regions. The impact of the variables identified different from the reviewed study on the achievement of the income targets set by county governments, which collect money through agencies, was also taken into account in this study.

Karimi, Kimani and Kinyua (2017) looked at the implications of budgetary control on non-governmental organizations' performance. 7,127 non-governmental organizations made up the research target population. Using convenience judgmental sampling procedures, 30 non-governmental organizations were chosen, including both national and international groups with their main offices in Nairobi. Using questionnaires, a descriptive survey was performed to collect the data. A key element in determining success, according to the report, is budget evaluation. The organization can describe the path the review should go based on the assessment's objectives, finances, deadline, and required abilities to assess by developing an evaluation strategy. The effectiveness of budget alignment over a specific time period must be ensured by monitoring and managing the budgets after they have been implemented (Karimi et al., 2017). Effectiveness is determined by the budgeting process' monitoring and supervision.

According to Attah-Botchwey (2018), the Municipality's inefficient income mobilization was caused by poor supervision, and top executives just slightly failing to appropriately

take auditor outcomes and suggestions into account and respond accordingly. According to the study, insufficient revenue monitoring resulted in weak expenditure restrictions, raised the possibility of embezzlement, and encouraged unauthorized borrowing of money for personal use as well as other financial irregularities. In turn, this reduced municipal revenue. The study came to the conclusion that improving revenue mobilization requires the use of internal controls. In order to monitor internal controls and inform the government when revenue goals are met, this study was therefore necessary.

It can be deduced from the reviewed literature, that many studies have identified gaps in the understanding of the long-term sustainability of revenue management strategies. For instance, Miller and Roberts (2021) found that while municipalities with diversified revenue sources and strong enforcement mechanisms were more successful in meeting their revenue targets, the study did not adequately explore how these strategies might fare in economically volatile regions over time (Miller & Roberts, 2021). Similarly, Diaz and Torres (2021) noted a lack of exploration into how external economic shocks, such as commodity price fluctuations, could affect the sustainability of revenue management (Diaz & Torres, 2021). Additionally, Clark and Mitchell (2023) highlighted the need for research into the role of citizen engagement in enhancing revenue management strategies, which could be critical for their success (Clark & Mitchell, 2023).

Contextual differences often go unaddressed, affecting the applicability of revenue management. Johnson and Müller (2020) observed that their study did not sufficiently account for the different revenue management between urban and rural municipalities in Germany, where financial capacities and challenges vary significantly (Johnson & Müller, 2020). Furthermore, Al-Mutairi and Al-Shammari (2020) identified a lack of consideration for cultural and regulatory differences across municipalities in the Middle East, which could influence the effectiveness of revenue management (Al-Mutairi & Al-Shammari, 2020).

Methodological limitations in existing studies also contribute to gaps in understanding. Park and Lee (2022) pointed out that reliance on short-term financial data restricted their ability to assess the long-term impacts of revenue management (Park & Lee, 2022). Nguyen and Tran (2021) noted the omission of informal sector revenues in their analysis, which is significant in many Southeast Asian economies (Nguyen & Tran, 2021). Smith and Brown (2022) also revealed a methodological gap due to the lack of comparative analysis between municipalities with varying resource levels, which could skew the understanding of revenue management effectiveness (Smith & Brown, 2022). Additionally, Moyo and Gumede (2023) found that the study did not fully explore the unique challenges faced by rural municipalities in adopting modern revenue management systems, where technological and infrastructural limitations are more pronounced (Moyo & Gumede, 2023).

2.2.5 Automation and OSR Target

Measured in the current study by automated taxpayer registration, automation refers to the use of technology and systems to perform tasks or processes with minimal human intervention (Smith & Johnson, 2021). According to Ivanov, Webster, Stoilova and Slobodskoy (2022), automation enhances the efficiency and accuracy of revenue collection processes. Automated systems facilitate seamless data capture and real-time transaction recording, reducing the likelihood of errors and ensuring that all revenue streams are efficiently accounted for. This heightened precision in data management can significantly strengthen the link between agency revenue collection and the realization of revenue targets. The automated systems provide a solid foundation for transparent and dependable revenue management, potentially maximizing the positive impact of agency collection endeavors. The International Business Partnership (IBP) Kenya (2021) reports that there is a growing interest among a majority of counties in the country, in the adoption of automation technologies to enhance agency revenue collection processes within county governments (World Bank, 2019). Automation holds the promise of streamlining revenue collection, reducing leakages, improving transparency, and increasing the efficiency of revenue administration.

To address revenue collection challenges, counties adopt automated systems to streamline the entire lifecycle, from data capture to invoicing, eliminating manual bottlenecks that impede timely revenue retrieval (Azmi, Nawawi, Ab Latif & Ling, 2013). The need for automation is also exacerbated by the demand for transparency and accountability.

In terms of collecting taxes and other revenues, automation has proven crucial. The implementation of new instruments to increase company efficiency affects the way taxes and other forms of income are collected. The current financial systems are becoming obsolete due to the rapid evolution of information technology (IT) (Adams, 2013). Empirical literature suggests that the success of automation in revenue collection is contingent on several factors, including the capacity of revenue officers, the level of public awareness and acceptance, and the robustness of the underlying technology infrastructure (Otieno & Waweru, 2019). Thus, understanding the extent to which

automation impacts revenue collection and the achievement of own-source revenue targets is crucial for policy formulation and implementation in Kenyan counties. Necessitated by a range of challenges that impede the realization of OSR collection targets, counties have harnessed the power of automation as a transformative tool (Nkote & Luwugge, 2020). Cumbersome manual processes including data entry, recordkeeping, and reconciliation, often lead to errors, inefficiencies, and delayed revenue retrieval. These challenges not only hinder revenue collection but also strain county resources and compromise accuracy (Obara & Nangih, 2017).

Smith and Johnson (2021) conducted an in-depth study to evaluate the impact of revenue collection automation on municipal revenue outcomes in large urban centers across the USA. Their research adopted a mixed-methods approach, combining rigorous quantitative analysis of revenue performance data from 50 municipalities with qualitative interviews of financial managers responsible for implementing these systems. Their findings demonstrated that municipalities integrating automation into their revenue collection processes saw a marked improvement in efficiency and accuracy, which translated into better achievement of OSR targets. However, the study uncovered a conceptual gap concerning the long-term viability of automation systems, particularly in economically volatile environments. This indicates a need for further longitudinal studies to assess how automation impacts revenue stability over time and in varying economic conditions.

Miller and Roberts (2022) explored the effects of advanced technology-driven revenue collection systems on financial performance in mid-sized US municipalities. Utilizing a quantitative framework, they analyzed revenue performance data pre- and post-

implementation of automation systems to identify improvements in revenue collection and target. Their results confirmed that automation significantly enhanced efficiency and revenue outcomes. Nonetheless, the study exhibited a methodological gap as it did not include a comparative analysis with municipalities that had not adopted automation. This oversight suggests that future research should incorporate comparative elements to better isolate the impact of automation from other influencing factors.

In Europe, Johnson and Müller (2021) investigated how automated revenue collection systems affect local government financial performance in Germany. Their study used a mixed-methods approach, blending quantitative financial analysis with qualitative interviews from municipal finance officers. The research concluded that automation systems notably improved revenue collection efficiency and helped meet revenue targets. However, a contextual gap was identified due to the study's lack of differentiation between urban and rural municipalities, which may experience varying financial challenges and capacities. To address this, future research should explore how automation impacts different types of municipalities to create tailored strategies for diverse contexts.

Andersen, Johansen and Kristensen (2022) extended the investigation into Scandinavian local governments to evaluate the role of automation in revenue collection. Their study employed both quantitative analysis of municipal financial records and qualitative surveys of local government officials. Findings indicated that automation systems led to substantial improvements in revenue collection efficiency and target. Despite these positive outcomes, the researchers noted a conceptual gap related to the effects of automation on revenue volatility and stakeholder resistance. Future research should focus on understanding these dynamics and how they influence the sustainability of automated systems over time and across various stakeholder groups.

In Asia, Park and Lee (2023) assessed the impact of revenue collection automation on financial performance in South Korean municipalities. The study utilized econometric analysis of municipal financial data alongside case studies of automation implementations. Results revealed that automation positively affected revenue collection efficiency and helped municipalities meet OSR targets. However, the study displayed a methodological gap due to its reliance on short-term financial data, limiting the assessment of long-term impacts. Longitudinal studies are essential to evaluate how automation influences financial performance over extended periods and varying economic conditions.

Nguyen and Tran (2022) examined the effectiveness of automated revenue collection systems in Vietnamese municipalities using a mixed-methods approach that included quantitative data from municipal records and qualitative interviews with local finance officials. Their findings showed that proactive automation significantly improved revenue collection efficiency and OSR target. Nevertheless, the study exposed a contextual gap by not addressing how differing levels of technological infrastructure across regions might affect automation's effectiveness. Future research should incorporate these regional variations to better understand how automation performs in diverse technological contexts.

Foster and Hope (2017) determined how Malaysia's embrace of technology has affected the country's ability to mobilize revenue. The study's findings demonstrated that, without incurring high administrative costs, the government could significantly increase its financial capacity relative to population growth and citizen desires. In their investigation into the use of revenue technology in Malaysia collections, the researchers used the 120 questionnaires that were given to employees of the country's revenue department. They also emphasized the fact that adopting technology and automating operations was considered as essential for collecting road parking fees, which boost profits.

Moyo and Gumede (2023) explored the role of automation in achieving revenue targets in South African municipalities. Their mixed-methods study combined quantitative analysis of revenue data with qualitative surveys of municipal finance managers. They found that automation significantly improved revenue collection efficiency and the attainment of revenue targets. However, a methodological gap emerged from the study's limited consideration of technological disparities between urban and rural municipalities, which could affect the effectiveness of automation. Future research should address these disparities to understand how automation impacts different municipal settings more comprehensively.

Adama and Bakari (2022) investigated the effectiveness of automated revenue collection systems in Nigerian municipalities. Their mixed-methods approach included quantitative analysis of financial data and qualitative interviews with municipal finance officials. The findings indicated that automation improved revenue collection efficiency but identified a methodological gap due to the limited focus on informal sector revenues and rural municipalities. Future studies should include these sectors to provide a more complete understanding of automation's impact across different revenue streams and municipal contexts.

Ndonye (2018) looked at the factors affecting the income collection in Nigeria. It was discovered that consumers looking for services find it challenging to submit online applications because they do not have the appropriate technological knowledge. The research also identified a number of obstacles to revenue collection, including the lack of an automated system of revenue collecting, inadequate ICT infrastructure inside the ministry, and staff resistance to change. The study's reporting was somewhat biased because factor analysis, which may be used to separate certain characteristics, such as technological know-how, was not used.

Still in Nigeria, Abdullahi (2019) examined the impact of computer technology on the efficiency of organizations in the Nigerian banking sector. Multiple regression analysis was utilized in the study to evaluate the hypotheses that were being tested after a questionnaire was employed to collect data. The investigation's outcomes showed that network, software, and hardware components all significantly and favorably affect organizational efficiency in the Nigerian banking sector. In order to improve organization, the report advises banks to purchase or employ current, 21st-century software, hardware, and networks. There was need therefore for the county government to automate their own source revenue collections so as to be able to actualize revenue collection targets.

According to Olatunji and Ayodele (2017), automation expedites the revenue collection cycle, accelerating the conversion of collected funds into usable resources for county governments. Automated systems thus streamline administrative processes, reducing the time required for data entry, reconciliation, and fund transfer. The availability of funds for county initiatives is expedited, allowing for more immediate contributions to own

source revenue targets (Nkote & Luwugge, 2020). This timeliness ensures that the revenue collected is put to productive use swiftly, increasing the chances of reaching or surpassing the set revenue targets. Automation, in this regard, acts as a powerful catalyst in expediting the revenue realization process. The revenue system must be updated in order to promote convergence and information sharing, which will raise the system's performance and quality (Kira, 2016).

In an investigation of how e-filing and e-payments affect revenue collection in Rwanda Authority, Kamana (2016) assessed the effect of automated processes on the effectiveness of tax collection. 90 respondents were interviewed as part of the study's descriptive method research methodology, and both primary and secondary data were evaluated using the Pearson correlation model. The researcher found that despite employing e-filing and e-payment procedures, the Authority was unable to fulfill revenue goals because taxpayers were not aware of how to use the system. This current study assessed the moderating effect of revenue collection automation in the Kenyan context and use multiple correlation based on the variables that were under study.

In Kenya, Macharia et al. (2021) undertook a study in Kiambu county government to determine the variables influencing county governments' revenue growth in Kenya. 403 respondents were sampled for the study using questionnaires and a descriptive survey research design, including 19 county government policymakers and 384 registered enterprises. According to the survey, the use of technology, the enforcement of regulations, and a rise in taxation were the next most significant factors in revenue growth. The current study examined other counties included in the study's scope to see

whether the Kiambu-established parameters hold true while taking into account the moderating impact of automated revenue collection.

Nthenge (2020) undertook a study in the KRA on how automation activities affect revenue collection performance with capacity building as a moderator. The study that adopted an exploratory research design sampled 384 employees out of a target population of 4108 members of staff drawn from Domestic Taxes and Customs and Border Control departments. The investigation found out that process automation had a positive effect on revenue collection performance in the organization. In addition, the study argues that there is a decreasing effect of capability growth on the effectiveness of automated collecting revenues. The investigation proposes that all automation activities ought to be aligned to recent technological developments and the organization ought to customize their training policies to the systems being utilized in revenue collection. This study contextualized the variables under investigation to County Governments and capacity building were a construct under agency revenue collection while automation was the moderating variable against own source revenue target.

According to KRA (2021), revenue management systems used by national and county governments such as Integrated Financial Management Information System (IFMIS), the older LAIFOMS or custom solutions introduced by private developers are inadequate since the annual revenue targets set out in the County Governments are still not being achieved. The complexity of regulatory compliance compounds these issues, as counties must navigate intricate tax codes and adhere to changing legal requirements, which can result in non-compliance penalties and operational disruptions.

Sande (2023) looked on how computerized revenue collecting systems affected the connection between regional authorities' financial results and their budgeting procedures in Kenya. The study sampled 45 respondents made up of controllers of budgets in the county governments. The study found out that automated revenue collection systems had a moderating effect on the variables and recommended that the counties adopt the systems. This current study sought to determine the moderating effect of automation on the relationship between agency revenue collection and OSR target.

A study on revenue management in 24 of the county governments out of 47 was conducted by Mandala, Odhiambo and Wanga (2020) with a focus on automation, difficulties encountered, and legal viewpoints. The study also looked into if there was a model for automating revenue collecting that worked well. According to the report, county governments were struggling with insufficient income bases, a lack of internal audits, poorly qualified staff, the usage of partially automated systems, bad infrastructure, and ineffective change management. The study suggests complete revenue automation to boost productivity and enhance service delivery. A model of automated revenue collection was also offered. This current study used revenue collection automation as a moderating variable on own source revenue target.

Gitaru (2017) conducted a research on the Impact of Automation on revenue collection at the KRA. The study which adopted a descriptive research design analyzed secondary data from Customs department spanning a period of ten years from July 2007 to June 2016. The researcher found out that after automation, the number of transactions increased significantly and this was measured through the number of entries centralized Information Processing Center, where they were handled and moved through. In addition, the revenue collected increased upon adoption of the automated Simba system. Therefore, automation can be seen to have a positive relationship with revenue collected through efficiency in the processing of declarations. The current study employed a cross sectional research design to investigate if the agencies collecting revenues in county governments could achieve revenue targets while considering automation as a moderating variable.

Madegwa, Makokha and Namusonge (2018) investigated the effect of revenue automation on the performance of county governments with a specific emphasis on Trans Nzoia County. The study sampled 62 respondents made up of managers, accountants and revenue collectors and collected data through the use of semi-structured self-administered questionnaire. The study found that automation had a positive effect on performance in the county government. This was achieved through the automation process providing saved time and costs and provision of a value-added service. Therefore, it can be concluded that revenue automation has a positive impact on organizational performance. The current study expanded the context to more county governments while using automation as a moderating variable to check the relationship between agency revenue collection and own source revenue target.

The impact of IFMIS in relation to revenue administration was investigated by Ochuodho and Ngaba (2020) in Kisumu County. The 49 senior revenue administration officers who made up the engaged target population were chosen from each of the seven sub-counties. The study suggested that the other IFMIS modules be fully implemented and that a technical staff be on standby to quickly resolve any technical issues that may arise during revenue collection. There should be plans in place to fully exploit and expand revenue sources. In order to lower the danger of revenue collection leakage, internal control should be improved. For improved financial success, employee motivation should also be given preference. By using revenue collection automation as a moderating variable in the accomplishment of own source revenue targets, the current study tried to ascertain if counties had complied with its suggestions.

The impact of ICT on tax collection in the Kenyan county governments of Migori and Homa Bay is documented by Owino, Senaji, Eng and Ntara (2017). The target audience was 864 people, including 16 revenue officers and 848 revenue officers who worked for the Homa Bay and Migori county governments. Both secondary and primary information were employed in the investigation. The investigation discovered a notable link between revenue collection and Information Systems. The study would be advantageous for fully integrating IS in revenue collection. Bett and Yudah (2017) established that the variables had a significant contribution on revenue collection by the KRA. This current research paid specific emphasis to the County governments and checked if the factors would have the same relationship with own source revenue collection.

Maisiba and Atambo (2016) studied the effectiveness of revenue collection in the Uasin Gishu County. The KRA Office in Uasin Gishu County served as the case study for the research. Data was gathered using questionnaires with 102 respondents as its target audience, which included KRA employees and tax payers. Using SPSS, field data were examined using both descriptive and inferential statistics. It was determined that e-tax in Kenya still has built-in difficulties despite the country's effective training in e-filing technologies.

Recent public tax trends, according to Owino et al. (2017), stress the necessity of implementing an online system for services tax assessment and collection. This can be linked to a number of things, such as the potential advantages of state-building through taxation and the lack of international help. Therefore, the county government must automate its own source revenue collecting so that it can readily track whether its goals are being met in time for corrective action to be taken.

Kirimi (2015) studied the influence of automation on revenue performance in Meru County through a descriptive research design that targeted 156 staff members with a final sample of 111 respondents. The study emphasized on online process, receipting, payment and response in the revenue collection process. Although the study found out that automation affects revenue performance to a great extent, other variables to do with institutional arrangements had an effect on revenue realization. This study sought to assess if the automation of revenue collection had a moderating effect on agency revenue collection variables on the achievement of revenue targets in Meru County among other selected counties now that the county had undertaken agency revenue collection.

Owidhi (2018) investigated the influence of automation in Nakuru County which is also being considered in the current study. The study employed a survey research design with a target population of 132 employees working in revenue and finance and accounts department of the County Government. The study which sampled 69 respondents found out that the improved efficiency in revenue collection in the county government was attributed to revenue automation process. The study examined the direct effect of revenue collection automation and not the moderating effect of automation on agency revenue collection towards the achievement of revenue targets set in county governments. In Uasin Gishu County, Kenya, Omwono, Yokobed and Owambi (2016) used an ex-post facto research approach with 105 branch managers, unit level managers, supervisors, and sales agents as the target group. A 45-person sample was chosen using a straightforward random sampling process. The major methods for gathering primary and secondary data were structured questionnaires, interview guides, and observation. According to the study, ICT use and insurance company profitability in Kenya are positively correlated. The outcomes further demonstrate that: ICT adoption is not a replacement for efficient insurance industry regulation. The county government must therefore fully use technology in their own source revenue collection.

Maisiba and Atambo (2016) found that the specific barrier modulation mechanisms used in the current investigation were not defined by the study. Descriptive research was employed by Okiro (2015) who found that the 18 government agencies in Nairobi that were in operation between 2013 and 2015 were the study's target population. The study fails to indicate if the revenue collected was as per the target set by own source revenue which this study sought to establish.

In their report, Development Initiatives (2018) found that failure to fully roll out IFMIS to counties to facilitate revenue collection has made the situation worse. Most counties struggle with a lack of necessary skills and knowledge to carry out crucial OSR mobilization responsibilities such revenue forecasting, collection, management, and assessment of revenue collecting costs. Therefore, it was necessary to assess the moderating impression of revenue collection automation on the achievement of own source revenue targets as well as on the agency revenue collection.

Ling and Nawawi (2015) studied advanced ICT integration abilities and financial education applications in Malaysia. In order for taxpayers to effectively use an online tax system, one has to have fundamental skills on how to operate it. According to the study, a person must possess three specific characteristics in order to interact with a computer-based tax system effectively. The administration of taxes must be improved and made more efficient by using cutting-edge technology like ICT to automate processes and structures for collecting money (Mugambi and Wanjohi 2018). Henry et al., (2016) conducted research on how innovation and collaboration affect the organizational performance of Thailand's automotive parts sector. 250 automotive parts business owners in Thailand were studied using a quantitative research methodology. According to the study, the following aspects ought to be considered in developing effective and efficient automated payment systems; taste and preference; the practicality, dependability, and security of the chosen payment method; and the standard of the offered services, including elements like the speed at which transactions are processed.

Every nation, especially emerging ones, has emerged as a key player in the use of modern technology for raising revenue since it offers a wide range of services that promote revenue growth. Weru et al., (2017) investigated economic growth pattern and taxes tax system automation by looking at the cases of Brazil and Japan. The findings showed that a nation does not need to wait until it has achieved a high level of growth before making a significant change in its tax structure. A new approach promotes economic expansion and enhance domestic market.

Based on the foregoing, revenue collection automation is poised to have a substantial interactive role on the relationship between agency revenue collection variables of

competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance alongside revenue management and the achievement of own source revenue targets within county governments in the Kenya. As Sande, Okiro, Wanjare and Omoro (2023) found in their study, automated revenue collection system significantly moderated the link among financial success and procedures for budgeting of the 45 counties sampled. Similarly, Okumu, Olweny and Muturi (2022) found that automation significantly moderates the linkage between firm ownership, board composition and performance of initial public offering stocks on the Nairobi Securities Exchange. Further, Chege (2018) found that automation has a significant moderating role on the linkage between performance of financial intermediaries and supply chain processes in Kenya.

Whereas these studies focused on conceptually different variables from agency revenue collection and achievement of own source revenue targets, which are the focus in the present study, the significant moderating role of automation point to pertinent attributes of the concept of automation, that supports the working thesis that revenue collection automation could have a moderating role on the association between agency revenue collection and achievement of own source revenue targets.

Further, most of the reviewed literatures had investigated the direct effect of automation on revenue performance in different contexts. Ling and Nawawi (2015), Foster and Hope (2017) in Malaysia, Henry et al., (2016) in Thailand, Weru et al., (2017) in Brazil and Japan, Tsokota (2019) in Zimbabwe, Kamana (2016) in Rwanda and Ndonye (2018) in Nigeria did a research on automation and firm performance. The current study sought to investigate the relationship between agency revenue collection and OSR target while considering automation as a moderating variable. In addition, Nthenge, (2020) and Gitaru (2017) undertook research on automation in the Kenya Revenue Authority which is contextually different from the county governments.

Methodologically, Macharia, Oluoch, and Ncabira (2021) study in Kiambu County sampled 403 respondents made up of 19 policy makers and 384 registered enterprises to ascertain the variables influencing revenue growth while the current study will sample 280 members of staff in various management cadres who will be well informed on internal factors affecting OSR target. Conceptually, Abdullahi (2019) found out that information and communication technology affect organizational efficiency in the Nigerian banking sector which is different from automated taxpayer registration which support the moderating effect that was considered in this study.

2.2.6 Own Source Revenue Target

Own source revenue target refers to the specific revenue goals or objectives set by a government, organization, or entity that are generated from its own resources or revenue streams, rather than from external sources such as grants or transfers (Miller & Roberts, 2021). In the current study, it is measured by forecasted versus actual collections and revenue arrears collections. The county government determines the amount of money to raise as own source revenue through the budgeting process. The 2010 Constitution clearly defines the sources of income as including property tax, entertainment tax, and any other fees for services provided by counties that have been authorized by act of Parliament or legislation. Then, counties must approve the methods for raising money that will help them collect the money they need to reach the revenue goals they set during the budgeting process. The proportion of money from own sources collected to quantities

projected varies and is frequently less than 100%. This implies that if the county does not meet the established targets, financial goals would be hampered (Adenya, 2017).

Miller and Roberts (2021) conceptualized OSR target as the extent to which municipalities meet their predefined revenue targets from internal sources, such as taxes, fees, and fines, excluding intergovernmental transfers. Their operationalization involved a quantitative approach, where OSR achievement was measured through financial performance metrics such as the percentage of revenue targets met annually. They utilized municipal financial data to assess how various revenue management strategies, including diversification and enforcement, impacted these metrics. This approach provides a clear, quantifiable measure of success in achieving OSR targets but does not fully capture the long-term sustainability of these strategies (Miller & Roberts, 2021).

Johnson and Müller (2020) approached OSR Target from a broader perspective, defining it as the capacity of local governments to achieve financial stability and meet revenue goals through effective management practices. They operationalized this by combining quantitative financial data with qualitative assessments from interviews with financial managers. The study measured OSR achievement based on indicators like revenue growth and budget adherence. This comprehensive approach highlights the importance of both financial metrics and managerial practices in achieving revenue targets, yet it may not account for contextual variations between different types of municipalities (Johnson & Müller, 2020).

Nguyen and Tran (2021) conceptualized OSR Target as the ability of municipalities to maximize internal revenue collections relative to their financial goals. Their operationalization involved a mixed-methods approach, using both quantitative data on

revenue collections and qualitative interviews to understand the impact of revenue management systems, particularly automation, on achieving targets. They measured success through metrics such as revenue collection efficiency and target fulfillment rates. While this approach effectively captures the role of technological systems in enhancing revenue performance, it may overlook other factors influencing OSR achievement, such as informal sector contributions (Nguyen & Tran, 2021).

Well-designed budgets can significantly contribute to inspiring managers by setting ambitious but attainable goals. The manager should take part in creating his or her own budget and the targets must be specific and attainable. Senior management can evaluate the success of their teams using the budget. But it's important to keep in mind that following the budget is only one factor in evaluating a manager's performance (Karimi et al., 2017).

Different tax forms have an impact on the amount of tax collected, while tax structure has an impact on tax collection through flexibility, neutrality, equity, and simplicity. The quantity of tax collected was significantly impacted by the diversification of revenue. The study suggested using cutting-edge technology and qualified personnel in tax administration. In a same vein, Gituma (2017) examined the factors that influence efficient tax collection in Embu County. In order to collect money as efficiently as possible in Embu County, the study evaluated how staff qualifications, corruption, technology, government policies, and legislation affected this. Gituma looked into two other factors of corruption and government regulations and found out that these have a direct relationship with amount of revenue collected. Adenya and Muturi (2017) looked at the factors affecting tax collection in Kiambu County. Technology, internal controls, human resources, and law enforcement were the aspects looked at. According to the report, the county had competent employees who followed internal procedures, but it had weak technology and ineffective tax law enforcement. From April to July 2017, a descriptive and survey study approach was used to determine the current ability of Kiambu County to generate the desired amount of money. The findings suggest that county governments should carefully evaluate the factors involved in order to maximize income collection.

Kimutai (2017) went a step further by looking at how the variables affected the socioeconomic growth of a larger region made up of multiple counties. Interview guides and questionnaires were used as data gathering tools. The study found that collaboration amongst stakeholders, stakeholder training, and technology all positively and significantly affected revenue mobilization tactics and, in turn, the socioeconomic advancements of the counties.

According to a study by Elmirzaev and Kurbankulova (2016) titled "Tax Arrears, Tax Compliance, and Tax Debt Management in Uzbekistan: Existing Issues and Possible Solutions," Uzbekistan continues to pursue a tax reduction strategy despite the threat of a widening fiscal gap with a view to boost economic growth and increase the number of taxpayers through preferential taxation, exemptions, and tax holidays. As a result, the amount of tax debt and arrears decreased, and tax compliance procedures began to function relatively effectively. The Uzbek banking sector underwent a series of extensive structural reforms and modernization following the beginning of the transition plan to market economy (Komolov, 2015). This investigation examined the county government context in collecting tax arrears as a measure of own source revenue target.

2.3 Theoretical Framework

This section identifies existing theories relevant to revenue collection through agencies and revenue collection automation on own source revenue achievement. It attempts to reveal the link between revenue collection agencies and OSR achievement.

2.3.1 Agency Theory

Originated by Jensen and Meckling (1976), Agency theory addresses the principle-agent relationship, in which a single individual (the principal) entrusts another individual (the agent) with making decisions on his or her behalf, often resulting in potential conflicts of interest. As part of its main tenets, agency theory explores the complexities and conflicts that arise when principals delegate authority to agents, who might not always align their interests with those of the principals (Eisenhardt, 1989). The theory emphasizes the information asymmetry between principals and agents, the potential for agents to engage in opportunistic behavior (such as shirking or pursuing personal gain), and the challenges of designing contracts and incentives that mitigate conflicts and align interests. It also highlights the role of monitoring, risk-sharing mechanisms, and the costs associated with agency relationships (Adams, 2018).

Agency theory has faced criticism for its focus on self-interested behavior, which might not accurately capture all motivations and nuances in real-world relationships (Eisenhardt, 2016). It has been noted that agency theory often simplifies human behavior by assuming individuals are solely driven by economic motives, overlooking other social and psychological factors. Additionally, the theory's emphasis on contracts and incentives can sometimes overlook the importance of relational aspects in certain contexts (Adams, 2018).

In the context of the study on agency revenue collection, automation, and OSR target among selected county governments in Kenya, agency theory offers a relevant lens to understand the dynamic between county governments (principals) and their revenue collection agents (e.g., tax collectors). The theory's insights into information asymmetry, opportunistic behavior, and contract design align with the complexities of revenue collection processes and the need to ensure agents act in the best interest of principals. By examining how automation influences the principal-agent relationship and how it affects agents' behavior in revenue collection, the study can shed light on how technology-driven solutions might mitigate conflicts and enhance revenue realization.

The study objectives align closely with the tenets of agency theory with regard to competencies of revenue collectors, agency theory points to the importance of aligning agents' skills and incentives with the goals of the principals. In this context, the competencies of revenue collectors are crucial in ensuring that they can effectively execute their duties in a manner that aligns with the revenue targets set by the county governments. A lack of competencies could exacerbate information asymmetry and lead to suboptimal performance, thereby affecting OSR target.

With regard to stakeholder engagement, while agency theory primarily focuses on the principal-agent relationship, stakeholder engagement introduces an additional layer of complexity, as it involves multiple parties whose interests may not always align.

80

Effective stakeholder engagement can reduce the potential for conflict and build trust, thereby enhancing the overall revenue collection process. This aligns with the theory's emphasis on the importance of incentives and alignment of interests. Regulatory compliance is also a critical factor in ensuring that agents operate within the legal and procedural frameworks established by the principal. Agency theory suggests that clearly defined contracts and oversight mechanisms can mitigate the risks of non-compliance, thus enhancing the likelihood of achieving revenue targets.

With regard to revenue management, effective revenue management requires that agents not only collect revenues efficiently but also manage these resources in a way that supports the county government's broader objectives. Agency theory's focus on contract design and monitoring mechanisms is relevant here, as it highlights the need for clear guidelines and accountability structures to ensure that revenue management aligns with the principals' goals. With regard to the moderating effect of automation, automation plays a critical role in reducing information asymmetry and enhancing monitoring capabilities, which are central concerns in agency theory. In automating revenue collection processes, county governments can reduce the potential for opportunistic behavior, ensure more accurate reporting, and align agents' actions with the overall objectives of the principal. The study aims to establish whether automation acts as an effective moderating factor that enhances the relationship between agency efforts and OSR target.

While agency theory has been widely applied in various contexts, there is a gap in its application to the specific challenges faced by county governments in Kenya, particularly in the area of revenue collection. Previous studies have largely focused on the national level, with limited attention to the unique dynamics at the county level, where devolved governments are directly responsible for generating their own revenue. This study fills that gap by applying agency theory to the county context, exploring how the competencies of agents, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance, and revenue management interact with automation to influence OSR target.

Past studies related to revenue target and agency revenue collection have provided valuable insights into the effectiveness of different revenue collection strategies and their impact on achieving financial goals. For instance, research by Tanjung, Nasution and Harahap (2020) investigated the role of revenue collection agencies in enhancing local government revenue performance in Indonesia, highlighting that well-designed agency frameworks and performance-based incentives significantly improve revenue collection efficiency and target. Similarly, the study by Khan, Ahmad and Khan (2019) explored the impact of revenue collection automation on revenue target in Pakistan, finding that automation enhanced transparency and reduced discrepancies, thereby improving the likelihood of meeting revenue targets.

Further, Gikonyo, Karanja and Mwangi (2018) examined the role of agency revenue collection models in Kenya and noted that counties with robust agency systems and clear performance metrics were more successful in achieving their revenue targets compared to those with less structured approaches. Another study by Saha and Sundaram (2021) assessed the effectiveness of revenue collection agencies in Indian municipalities, revealing that agencies with stronger oversight and accountability mechanisms were more successful in aligning their collection practices with revenue targets. These studies collectively underscore the importance of effective agency design, performance

management, and technological integration in improving revenue collection outcomes and achieving financial targets.

2.3.2 The New Public Management Theory

The New Public Management (NPM) theory emerged in the 1980s as a response to challenges facing traditional public administration models. While it does not have a single originator, Manning (2001) has been widely credited for contributed to its development alongside scholars and practitioners in various countries, including the United Kingdom, New Zealand, and Australia. NPM theory advocates for introducing management principles and practices from the private sector into the public sector to enhance efficiency, effectiveness, and accountability (Crook, 2003). Key tenets include decentralization, performance measurement, market-based approaches, customer orientation, and a focus on results. NPM emphasizes results-based management, outsourcing of services, competition among service providers, and a shift from bureaucracy to managerialism (Robert, 2014).

NPM theory has faced criticism for its potential to overlook equity and social considerations in public service provision, as well as its tendency to reduce complex societal issues to quantifiable metrics. Critics argue that market-based approaches might not always be suitable for public services that prioritize social welfare and equality.

Additionally, NPM's focus on efficiency should also consider the institutions in discussion and cultural factors across the different countries (Belhassan & Azegagh, 2020). The NPM hypothesis is pertinent to comprehending the results of the present investigation how modern administrative principles influence public revenue

management. The theory's emphasis on efficiency, customer orientation, and performance measurement resonates with the study's exploration of how automation enhances revenue collection processes. By examining how automation streamlines revenue collection, enhances accountability, and improves performance measurement, the study can illustrate the extent to which NPM principles are being applied in revenue management within county governments.

Furthermore, NPM's focus on results aligns with the study's goal of assessing how automation impacts as a moderating variable in the achievement of OSR targets, shedding light on whether technology-driven reforms contribute to improved revenue outcomes. The theory's broader implications for public sector management offer a framework to analyze how counties balance efficiency and equity while pursuing revenue collection targets through automation.

The study's specific objectives align with the principles of NPM. With regard to competencies of revenue collectors, NPM advocates for performance measurement and the professionalization of public service roles. In examining the relationship between the competencies of revenue collectors and the achievement of OSR targets, the study taps into NPM's focus on enhancing efficiency and effectiveness within the public sector. Competent revenue collectors are better equipped to implement efficient processes, thereby contributing to improved revenue outcomes.

With regard to stakeholder engagement, while NPM places significant emphasis on customer orientation and stakeholder involvement, it also highlights the importance of decentralization and market-based approaches. The study's focus on stakeholder

84

engagement reflects NPM's tenet of involving citizens and other stakeholders in the public management process, ensuring that revenue collection practices are aligned with the needs and expectations of the public. Effective stakeholder engagement can lead to better compliance and cooperation, thus improving OSR performance.

On regulatory compliance, NPM supports a results-based approach to public management, where regulatory compliance is not just about adhering to rules but achieving measurable outcomes. By assessing the relationship between regulatory compliance and OSR target, the study aligns with NPM's principle of accountability, where public entities are held responsible for meeting their objectives, and performance is closely monitored and measured.

On revenue management, NPM's focus on managerialism and market-based approaches underscores the importance of efficient revenue management. The study's exploration of how revenue management influences OSR targets reflects NPM's call for decentralization and the application of private sector management practices in the public sector. Efficient revenue management, driven by principles of NPM, can lead to better resource allocation, streamlined processes, and ultimately, higher revenue collection.

With regard to the moderating effect of automation, one of the central tenets of NPM is the adoption of modern management tools and technologies to enhance public sector performance. Automation, as a technology-driven reform, embodies NPM's emphasis on improving efficiency, accountability, and performance measurement in public service delivery. The study's examination of how automation moderates the relationship between agency revenue collection and OSR targets is directly aligned with NPM's focus on results-based management and the use of technology to streamline operations and achieve better outcomes.

While NPM has been widely adopted in various public sector reforms globally, there is a gap in understanding how its principles are being applied at the county government level in Kenya, particularly in the context of revenue collection and automation. The study addresses this gap by applying NPM theory to the specific challenges of county revenue management, providing insights into how NPM-driven reforms—such as automation—impact the achievement of OSR targets.

Past studies on revenue target and agency revenue collection offer valuable insights into the impact of management reforms and automation. Wang and Wang (2020) examined the influence of NPM reforms on revenue collection efficiency in Chinese local governments, finding that performance measurement and decentralization improved revenue targets. Barker and Boxall (2019) analyzed the role of revenue collection agencies in Australian municipalities, highlighting that agency reforms significantly impacted revenue target. Zhang and Xu (2021) explored how performance measurement systems under NPM principles enhanced revenue outcomes in Singapore. Additionally, Ndiaye and Moustier (2022) investigated the role of automation in Senegalese municipalities, demonstrating that automation significantly improved revenue collection efficiency and target. These studies collectively illustrate how NPM-driven reforms and technological advancements impact revenue collection and target attainment across various contexts.

2.3.3 Resource Based View Theory

Penrose (1959) is credited as originating the resource-based view theory (RBV), arguing that an organization's resources—rather than its industry structure—are extremely significant. RBV theory was further developed by economists and management scholars Wernerfelt (1984) and Barney (1991) and asserts that a firm's sustainable competitive advantage lies in its unique and valuable assets and expertise which are challenging to imitate or substitute. These substances may consist of assets that are both physical and intangible including processes, intellectual property, organizational culture, and human capital. RBV emphasizes that a firm's ability to exploit these resources strategically can lead to better performance and market positioning. The theory highlights the importance of aligning resources with the firm's strategy and creating a competitive advantage through resource heterogeneity and immobility.

While RBV theory offers insights into how firms can leverage their unique resources for competitive advantage, it has been criticized for its vague definition of what constitutes a "valuable" resource and the challenge of determining causality between resources and performance. Critics argue that the theory may overlook external factors and competitive dynamics that impact firm success (Wade & Hulland, 2004). In addition, the theory has been criticized as it discusses more on competition than cooperation. It is proposed that the RBV can be more comprehensive if it considers proponents of stakeholder theory by incorporating normativity, checking on sustainability, having a different perspective of people and considering the positive effect of cooperation among all the stakeholders (Freeman, Dmytriyev & Phillips, 2021).

The RBV theory is relevant to the current study in understanding how counties can leverage their resources, including technological capabilities, for competitive advantage in revenue collection. The theory's focus on unique and valuable resources resonates with the study's exploration of how automation can moderate on other variables to enable county governments with distinctive capabilities to achieve set revenue targets. By investigating how counties strategically deploy technology resources, organizational structures, and expertise in revenue collection, the study can shed light on how these resources contribute to achieving OSR targets.

Additionally, RBV's emphasis on alignment between resources and strategy is pertinent to understanding how automation strategies need to be congruent with counties' broader revenue generation objectives. Furthermore, RBV's consideration of resource immobility aligns with the study's exploration of how lack of automation in other counties may be a barrier to revenue collection success witnessed selected counties.

The study's specific objectives align with the principles of RBV. On competencies of revenue collectors, RBV theory underscores the importance of human capital as a critical resource that can drive an organization's competitive advantage. In the context of county governments, the competencies of revenue collectors represent a valuable resource that, when effectively developed and leveraged, can lead to better revenue collectors' competencies and OSR targets aligns with RBV by highlighting how human capital contributes to the county's financial performance.
On stakeholder engagement, RBV theory can be extended to include relational resources, such as the relationships and networks that an organization maintains with its stakeholders. Effective stakeholder engagement can be seen as a strategic resource that enhances trust, cooperation, and compliance, thereby improving revenue collection. The study's focus on stakeholder engagement resonates with RBV by considering how county governments can utilize their relationships with various stakeholders as a resource to achieve better OSR performance.

With regard to regulatory compliance, in line with RBV, regulatory compliance can be considered an intangible resource that strengthens a county's legitimacy and operational stability. By ensuring adherence to legal frameworks, county governments can avoid penalties and enhance their reputation, which can, in turn, facilitate more efficient revenue collection. The study's examination of the relationship between regulatory compliance and OSR target reflects RBV's emphasis on leveraging organizational resources—such as compliance systems and expertise—to achieve strategic objectives.

On revenue management, RBV theory also considers processes and organizational capabilities as key resources. Efficient revenue management, which include effective budgeting, forecasting, and financial reporting, can be viewed as organizational capabilities that provide a competitive advantage. The study's exploration of how revenue management influences OSR targets is directly aligned with RBV by focusing on how county governments can optimize these internal processes to enhance their financial performance.

89

On the moderating effect of automation, RBV theory asserts that technological resources, such as automation systems, can provide a sustainable competitive advantage by improving efficiency, reducing costs, and enhancing accuracy in operations. The study's examination of how automation moderates the relationship between agency revenue collection and OSR targets is consistent with RBV, as it investigates how counties can leverage automation—a valuable and potentially rare resource—to enhance their revenue collection capabilities and achieve better financial outcomes.

The RBV theory provides a framework for understanding how county governments can leverage their internal resources, such as human capital, technological systems, and organizational processes, to achieve their OSR targets. However, there is a gap in the existing literature regarding how these resources interact with each other, particularly in the context of revenue collection and automation in the public sector.

Past studies related to revenue target and agency revenue collection within the context of RBV theory highlight the significance of leveraging unique organizational resources for improving financial performance. For example, Wang and Huang (2019) examined how the strategic deployment of human capital and technological resources within local governments can enhance revenue collection efficiency and achievement of targets in China. Similarly, Kipp and Zeng (2020) explored how organizations in the public sector utilize their intangible assets, such as expertise and process capabilities, to achieve revenue goals, emphasizing the role of organizational competencies in performance outcomes. Additionally, Kumar and Gupta (2021) investigated the impact of automated systems on revenue collection, illustrating how technological resources can offer a competitive advantage by improving accuracy and efficiency. These studies align with

RBV theory by focusing on how internal resources and capabilities contribute to achieving revenue targets, providing a comprehensive understanding of how strategic resource management impacts revenue collection.

2.4 Conceptual Framework

A conceptual framework is a research instrument that demonstrates both the relationships between the many study variables and the overall direction of a study. According to Adom, Dickson and Hussein (2018), it also aids the researcher in increasing their understanding of the situation under study. It is an outline of the research variables in a diagrammatical format that is based on the prior literature in the area of interest and tries to analyze the variables in a systematic manner (Dag & Andreas, 2022).

The conceptual framework outlines the theoretical relationship between the independent and dependent variables (Eriksson & Kovalainen, 2015). As per Figure 2.1, total revenue collected and revenue arrears realized served as indicators of this study's outcome variable of own source revenue target. The independent variable of agency revenue collection indicators was; competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance and revenue management. The moderating variable was revenue collection automation.

Independent Variables



Figure 2.1 Conceptual Framework

Source: Adopted and modified from the Tax Administration Diagnostic Assessment Tool

(TADAT)

The measures of the variables in the conceptual framework were derived from the Tax Administration Diagnostic Assessment Tool (TADAT), which is designed to objectively assess the strengths and weaknesses in key components of a country's tax administration system. TADAT covers nine key performance outcome areas (POAs) that address critical tax administration functions, processes, and institutions. For the independent variables, competency of revenue collectors is evaluated through capability and knowledge as well as training and development; stakeholder engagement is assessed through taxpayer education and public feedback; regulatory compliance is measured by operational policies and revenue collection legislation; and revenue management is analyzed via government budgeting base and revenue accounting. The moderating variable, revenue collection automation, includes automated taxpayer registration, while the dependent variable, own source revenue targets, is measured by forecasted versus actual collections and revenue arrears collections.

2.5 Identification of Knowledge Gap

The reviewed literature reveals several gaps relevant to the study of revenue collection competencies. While past research has explored various human resource factors such as training, motivation, and staff competency, none specifically addressed the competency of revenue collectors with a focus on capability, knowledge, and training and development. Additionally, much of the research was conducted in foreign contexts, such as the UK, Malaysia, and Canada, which differ significantly from the county government settings in Kenya. Studies on staff competency in chartered universities are not directly comparable to public sector revenue collection. Furthermore, previous studies often relied on small sample sizes and cross-sectional methods, which limited their ability to explore the dynamic relationships between variables. The current study addresses these gaps by examining a larger sample of 280 respondents and considering the specific aspects of competency and their impact on achieving own source revenue targets.

Recent literature on stakeholder engagement and revenue targets reveals several key gaps that warrant further exploration. While studies have demonstrated that stakeholder engagement can positively impact revenue collection, they often lack a standardized conceptual framework for applying these practices across different governance structures. Additionally, the relationship between stakeholder engagement and revenue outcomes is not always systematically quantified, and there is a need for more robust methodologies to measure this impact. Existing research frequently overlooks the inclusivity of marginalized communities and small businesses, which can affect long-term revenue sustainability. Furthermore, the role of political dynamics and the potential of digital platforms to enhance engagement processes are underexplored. These gaps suggest a need for a more comprehensive understanding of how stakeholder engagement strategies can be uniformly applied and measured, particularly in diverse and evolving contexts such as Kenyan county governments.

Recent literature on regulatory compliance and revenue targets reveals several important gaps that need to be addressed. Studies often lack a nuanced understanding of how regulatory complexity and variability impact different types of municipalities, suggesting a need for differentiated compliance strategies. Methodological gaps include inadequate measurement of the long-term effects of compliance and insufficient consideration of the informal sector's role. Contextual gaps include challenges faced by rural areas and the need for adaptable regulatory frameworks that cater to local conditions. Additionally, political interference and corruption frequently undermine compliance efforts, highlighting the need for research on managing political dynamics. There is also a need for more comprehensive approaches that account for the financial sustainability of compliance-related revenue strategies.

Recent studies on revenue management and the achievement of OSR targets reveal several critical gaps. Many studies lack a comprehensive understanding of how long-term sustainability of revenue strategies can be maintained amidst economic volatility and external shocks. There is also a need for more context-specific research that differentiates between urban and rural municipalities, particularly in terms of financial capacities and challenges. Methodological gaps include inadequate consideration of informal sector revenues, short-term data limitations, and insufficient comparative analysis between municipalities with varying resource levels. Additionally, issues such as the impact of political interference, cultural and regulatory differences, and the effectiveness of modern revenue management systems in rural or technologically challenged areas remain underexplored. Addressing these gaps could enhance the effectiveness and sustainability of revenue management strategies in diverse contexts.

Empirical literature on revenue collection automation reveals several gaps. There is a lack of longitudinal studies to assess the long-term impacts of automation on revenue stability and sustainability, particularly in economically volatile environments. Methodological gaps include insufficient comparative analysis between municipalities with and without automation and limited focus on informal sector revenues and rural municipalities. Contextual gaps are evident in the failure to differentiate between urban and rural municipalities and varying levels of technological infrastructure, which can affect automation's effectiveness. Additionally, there is a need for research addressing stakeholder resistance and the impact of automation on revenue volatility.

Author	Objective	Methodology	Findings	Gaps	How the gaps were addressed in the current study
Potoski and Prakash (2022)	Examined how local governments incorporate stakeholder engagement in revenue generation strategies in the USA	Mixed-method approach, combining case studies and surveys	Effective stakeholder engagement improved revenue collection	The study broadly focused on revenue collection, overlooking the more refined OSR	Focused on stakeholder engagement and OSR targets among selected counties in Kenya
Roxburgh et al. (2020)	Investigated stakeholder engagement's influence on policy development and revenue targets within the EU's MSFD	Participatory action research	Engagement strategies aligned sectoral interests with environmental and economic goals	The study focused on national governments in the EU, which may operate differently from county governments in Kenva	Focused on selected county governments in Kenya
Zhang and Li (2021)	The impact of stakeholder engagement on revenue mobilization across Chinese provinces	Econometric analysis	Provinces with higher levels of stakeholder engagement in fiscal policy formulation met their revenue targets more successfully	The potential of automation to enhance these engagements was not fully explored	Explored the moderating role of automation
Ayodele and	How stakeholder	Desktop review	Engagement was	The study focused	Focused on selected

Table 2.1Summary of Literature Gaps

Kwame (2023)	engagement influences revenue collection across five West African countries		critical for improving tax compliance and broadening the tax base	on national governments in West African countries, which may operate differently from county governments in Kenya. The study also generally explored revenue collection without specific focus on OSR targets	counties in Kenya and OSR targets
Onyango et al (2017)	. Effect of stakeholder participation on the success of road upgrades in Kiambu County	Descriptive survey approach	Stakeholder participation had a substantial impact on the success of road upgrades in Kiambu County	The study narrowly focused on one county, which may not be indicative of other counties	Focused on six selected counties in Kenya that improves on generalizability of findings
O'Donnell and Lewis (2021)	d Impact of regulatory compliance on local government revenue generation, focusing on municipalities across several states	Mixed-methods approach, combining qualitative case studies with quantitative survey data from local government officials	Rigorous regulatory compliance significantly improved revenue collection by reducing instances of tax evasion and ensuring strict adherence to financial regulations	The study broadly focused on revenue collection, overlooking the more nuanced OSR	Focused on regulatory compliance and OSR among selected counties in Kenya
Ayodele and Mensah (2023)	d Investigated the role of regulatory	Descriptive survey design	While regulatory compliance was	The study focused on national	Focused on selected devolved

	compliance in revenue collection in Nigeria and Ghana		critical for achieving revenue targets, the effectiveness of compliance efforts was significantly undermined by political and economic factors	contexts, overlooking subnational contexts	governments in Kenya
Githua and Ngahu (2018	ImpactofadministrativecapacityontaxcollectioninKenya'sNyeriCounty	Both descriptive and correlational designs	Administrative capability has a big impact on revenue collection	The study narrowly focused on one county, which may not be indicative of other counties	Focused on selected counties in Kenya
Miller and Roberts (2021)	Relationship between revenue management strategies and municipal revenue outcomes in large urban centers	Quantitative approach	Municipalities with diversified revenue sources and strong enforcement mechanisms were more successful in meeting their revenue targets.	Focused on large urban centers, which may not be reflective of Kenyan counties	Focused on six selected counties in Kenya with distinct characteristics but undertaking revenue collection
Moyo and Gumede (2023)	The role of revenue management in achieving revenue targets in South African municipalities	Mixed-methods approach	Electronic revenue collection platforms significantly improved revenue outcomes, particularly in urban municipalities.	Focused on South African municipalities, which may not be reflective of Kenyan counties	Focused on selected counties in Kenya
Smith and Johnson	The impact of	Mixed-methods	Municipalities	Focused on USA	Focused on selected

(2021)	revenue collection automation on municipal revenue outcomes in large urban centers across the USA.	approach	integrating automation into their revenue collection processes saw a marked improvement in efficiency and accuracy	municipalities which is contextually different from Kenya	devolved governments in Kenya
Adama and Bakari (2022)	Effectiveness of automated revenue collection systems in Nigerian municipalities.	Mixed-methods approach	Automation improved revenue collection efficiency	Broadly focused on the effectiveness of automated revenue collection systems, without linking it to OSR	Focused on automation and OSR among selected counties in Kenya and used cross sectional research design methodology
Kamana (2016)	The effect of automated processes on the effectiveness of tax collection	Descriptive design	Despite employing e-filing and e- payment procedures, the Authority was unable to fulfill revenue goals because taxpayers were not aware of how to use the system	Broadly focused on the effectiveness of tax collection without specific reference to OSR and used descriptive design that is a challenge for generalization of findings	Focused on automation and OSR among selected counties in Kenya and used inferential statistics to draw conclusions

CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

The approach used in the research is described in this section. It gives a general summary of the investigation's region, the population to be investigated, the samples, and method of sampling that were employed. The chapter covers gathering information methods, tools for gathering data, analysis of information, and ethical issues.

3.2 Research Design

The study is grounded in Positivism philosophy, which emphasizes empirical evidence and objective measurement, aligning well with the theoretical formation underpinning the research. This philosophy is particularly suited for examining theories such as Agency Theory, NPM Theory, and RBV Theory. Agency Theory focuses on the relationship between principals and agents, highlighting how agency revenue collection practices can impact the achievement of OSR targets (Jensen & Meckling, 1976). This theoretical framework supports the Positivist approach by using measurable variables to assess the alignment of incentives and performance outcomes. The NPM Theory, which emphasizes efficiency and effectiveness in public sector management, aligns with the Positivist focus on quantifiable outcomes and the role of automation in improving performance (Hood, 1991). Applying NPM principles, the study examines how modern management practices influence revenue collection and target. In addition, the RBV Theory, which posits that organizational resources and capabilities are crucial for achieving competitive advantage, complements the Positivist approach by focusing on the measurable impact of automation and resource utilization on revenue performance (Barney, 1991). Together, these theories provide a robust theoretical foundation for analyzing how revenue collection practices and automation interact, grounded in the Positivist philosophy's emphasis on empirical and objective analysis.

In this study, a cross-sectional research design was adopted to explore the influence of agency revenue collection on the achievement of OSR targets, with a focus on how automation moderates this relationship. The cross-sectional design was chosen because it allows for the examination of relationships between variables at a single point in time, providing a snapshot of how agency revenue collection practices impact OSR target and how automation plays a role in this dynamic (Creswell, 2014). This design is particularly useful for assessing the current state of revenue collection systems and their effectiveness in achieving revenue targets, facilitating a comprehensive analysis of the factors influencing performance.

To gather and analyze data, the study employed a mixed-methods approach, combining both primary and secondary sources of data. These methods enabled the collection of first hand information on revenue collection practices, automation levels, and their direct impact on revenue target. Secondary data were sourced from existing records, reports, and relevant literature to supplement and validate the primary data, offering additional context and historical insights (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). The combination of primary and secondary data enhances the reliability and depth of the study's findings by integrating empirical evidence with contextual background. This mixed-methods approach supports a robust analysis by triangulating diverse data sources, which helps in validating results and providing a more nuanced understanding of the research problem (Tashakkori & Teddlie, 2010). Leveraging both primary and secondary data, the study captured the complexities of how automation moderates the relationship between revenue collection and OSR target. This methodological strategy aligns with best practices in research, ensuring that the findings are comprehensive and grounded in both empirical data and contextual understanding (Creswell & Clark, 2018).

3.3 Location of the Study

The location of this investigation includes selected county governments in Kenya of Nairobi, Meru, Kakamega, Nakuru, Narok and Kericho. The study focused on six selected Kenyan devolved units of government out of the 47 county governments as detailed in the Constitution of Kenya, 2010. The investigation's focus on select county governments was strategically chosen to provide a representative and comprehensive analysis of the factors influencing revenue collection and OSR target within diverse contexts of Kenya's devolved units. These counties were selected based on several key criteria that align with the study's objectives.

Firstly, the selected counties represent a range of geographic and demographic profiles, encompassing urban (Nairobi), semi-arid (Narok), and agricultural regions (Kericho, Meru, Kakamega, and Nakuru). This diversity allows for a thorough examination of how varying regional characteristics impact revenue collection and target, providing insights into both urban and rural contexts (Cheeseman, Griffin & Kinuthia, 2016). Nairobi, as the capital city, presents a unique case due to its economic and administrative significance, while counties like Meru and Kakamega offer perspectives from more agriculturally focused regions.

Secondly, these counties have been chosen due to their varying levels of automation and resource allocation in revenue collection, which will facilitate a fresh understanding of how automation moderates the relationship between revenue collection practices and target (Wang'ombe, 2018). In including both high and low-performing counties in terms of revenue collection and automation, the study analyzed the differential impacts and identify best practices or challenges unique to each context. Lastly, the study excludes other counties to maintain a manageable scope and depth of analysis. Including all 47 counties would require an extensive number of resources and time, which might dilute the focus and depth of the investigation. In concentrating on these six counties, the study ensures a detailed and focused examination, providing actionable insights while still capturing a representative cross-section of Kenya's diverse county governments (Kanyinga, 2014).

3.4 Target Population

In research, distinguishing between the target population and the accessible population is crucial for defining the scope and feasibility of a study. Target population, as per Saunders et al., (2019), is the entire collection of people or things with the same qualities that the researcher is looking at. For this study, the target population comprises all 47 county governments in Kenya, as outlined in the Constitution of Kenya, 2010. This broader population represents the full spectrum of devolved units that the research seeks to understand in terms of revenue collection and OSR target (Mwaura, 2015).

The accessible population, on the other hand, consists of those individuals or entities within the target population that are actually reachable and available for the study. In this case, the accessible population comprises 738 employees from the chosen county governments, as detailed in Table 3.1. These are distributed into various job cadres, including County Executive Committees (CECs) members for Finance, Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) of County revenue corporations, County Chief Officers (CCOs) responsible for revenue administration, Directors of revenue in the county governments and corporations and revenue officers in the county governments. The performance contracts that mandate that all staff to participate in revenue collection led to the selection of employees based on their contributions to the service delivery described in those contracts. Including CEC members for Finance and CCOs in the study, despite their contractual tenure and potentially shorter time in the system, is justified by their critical roles in shaping and implementing revenue policies and strategies. These positions are pivotal in overseeing revenue collection processes, setting financial priorities, and ensuring compliance with regulations (Public Finance Management Act, 2012). Their insights into the strategic and operational aspects of revenue management are invaluable for understanding the broader impact of revenue collection practices and automation. Additionally, their involvement provides a comprehensive perspective on how policy decisions and administrative oversight influence revenue outcomes, thus contributing to a more nuanced analysis of the factors affecting own source revenue targets and management practices in county governments (Otieno & Waweru, 2019).

Additionally, the PFM Act of 2012 mandates that, following their appointment as revenue receivers by the CEC members for Finance and Economic Planning, the

105

receivers' appointments may be followed by the appointment of revenue collectors from the public service, which comprises the workforce in the county government or with the revenue agent. This implies that all the county government staff had a probable chance of being appointed as collectors and thus contribute towards attainment of own source revenue target. Members of staff in county governments were drawn from the immediate community and since they were in social groups, this made them ideal.

Category	Nairobi	Meru	Kakamega	Kericho	Narok	Nakuru	Total
CECs	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
CEOs	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
CCOs	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
Directors	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
Revenue officers	205	95	88	100	76	144	708
Total	210	100	93	105	81	149	738

Table 3.1Target Population Per Category

Source: Selected County Governments (2023)

3.5 Sample Size and Sampling Procedure

The target population was used to create the framing sample for this study, which included a list of staff members in the chosen county governments according to employment data kept by the county governments. The study used a combination of census and the stratified random sampling technique. The sample consisted of senior management which is the CECs for Finance, Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) of County revenue corporations, CCOs in charge of revenue administration, Directors of revenue in the county governments and corporations. The strata was made up of revenue officers who are the collectors in the county governments starting from the Sub-County revenue officers, revenue officers and revenue officers . Stratification made sure that the data accurately represented county governments, which collect their revenue through agents and have equally undertaken automation of the process. Owing to the relatively low population sizes, comprising one CEC for Finance, one CEO of revenue collection agencies, one CCO in charge of revenue administration and one Director of revenue each from the respective county revenue collection units, a census was conducted whereby all 24 of them were included in the sample. A sample was however drawn from the 708 revenue officers who were then randomly sampled. The Yamane (1967) formula, which was adopted by Israel (2013), was employed to arrive at the desired sample size.

 $n = \underline{N}$ (3.1)

 $1 + N (e)^2$

Where:

"n = the desired sample size; N = the target population; e= the error term (0.05)" Using the above formulae, the sample size to be sampled is calculated as below. Therefore:

$$n = \frac{708}{1+708(0.05)^2}$$

= 256 + 24 = 280

The Neyman (1970) assignment algorithm was used in the investigation to stratify the people who participated. Assuming an established population size, the technique's goal is to increase survey accuracy. The ideal number of samples for strata h under Neyman assignment would correspond to:

$$n_{h=} \left(\frac{N_h}{N}\right) n \tag{3.2}$$

Where, nh- The sample size for stratum h, n - Total sample size, Nh -The population size for stratum h, N - The total population. Consequently, the number of samples is going to be dispersed as indicated in Table 3.2.

Category	Nairobi	Meru	Kakamega	Kericho	Narok	Nakuru	Total
CECs	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
CEOs	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
CCOs	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
Directors	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
Revenue officers	74	34	32	36	28	52	256
Total	78	38	36	40	32	56	280

Table 3.2Sample Size Per Category

Source: Researcher (2023)

The researcher split the population into a number of mutually exclusive sub-populations or strata using a stratified sample design. This design helped to boost the empirical effectiveness of the data set by giving sufficient information for sub-population analysis and enabling the investigator to employ a variety of research techniques and procedures in various strata. To choose the participants from the stratum, a straightforward random sampling procedure was used in the investigation.

3.6 Data Collection Instruments

Data collection tools are the devices that are utilized to gather the investigation's data (Oso and Onen, 2008). Creswell (2013) characterized gathering of information as the method of acquiring knowledge from predetermined participants in studies. The individual conducting the study formulated inquiries for research to collect primary information. Structured questionnaires were used by the study's data collection team to gather information on revenue collection, and data extraction software was used to gather secondary data.

The study utilized both primary and secondary sources of data to ensure a comprehensive analysis of the research questions. Primary data were collected directly from respondents using structured questionnaires, targeting employees involved in revenue collection across selected county governments in Kenya. This approach allowed for firsthand insights into the competency of revenue collectors and stakeholder engagement, providing empirical evidence to support the study's findings (Creswell, 2014).

Secondary data were obtained from existing records, reports, and publications related to county revenue collection, including official documents from county governments, academic journals, and government reports. These sources offered contextual background and supported the triangulation of data, ensuring that the findings were well-grounded and reflective of both current practices and established knowledge in Public Finance Management (Mugenda & Mugenda, 2003). The combination of primary and secondary data enriched the study, enabling a robust analysis and interpretation of the factors influencing the achievement of OSR targets.

By removing interviewer bias, questionnaires guarantee that respondents have enough information to provide thoughtful responses (Kothari, 2004). Since it is a cost-effective strategy, the study will use closed-ended questionnaires for data collection. The study utilized the designed and tested questions from earlier studies for the variables of interest. However, the language and presentational style were changed to meet the situation and the study's objectives. The instrument was made simpler so that the target responders may easily understand the questions and provide accurate information. Since each item has a possible alternative answer, closed-ended questions are simpler to administer and evaluate than open-ended ones.

To triangulate the results of the dependent variable, secondary data was gathered using a data extraction tool. Secondary data was gathered from various, discrete sources that are printed, typewritten, or electronically accessible and are gathered from the Independent Offices and Commissions in Government and various knowledge sources. Publications that were linked to the study variables were considered secondary data, along with financial statements and published literature.

3.7 Data Collection Procedures

An introductory letter from the University of Kabianga's Board of Graduate Studies and a research license from the National Commission for Science, Technology, and Innovation

(NACOSTI) were used by the researcher to request approval to go ahead with the investigation.

Within the selected county administrations, the investigator carried out an initial survey ahead of beginning the actual gathering of information procedure to determine the study region, become familiar with it, and set up appointments with the respondents. The questionnaires were given to the chosen county government employee on the day of the appointment by the researcher and the research assistant, who also collected them once they have been completed. To improve clarification and the pursuit of more information that may become necessary, the drop and pick technique was employed in data collecting. The self-administered questionnaire was accompanied by a covering letter that described the study's objectives, assured respondents of strict anonymity, and stated that solely academic purposes was served by their responses.

3.7.1 Validity of the research instrument

Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill (2019) posits that validity is dependent on the measures that were utilized in the study and the accuracy of the research tool. Validity in quantitative research denotes the level at which a measuring tool achieves its intended purpose (Thatcher, 2010). It is defined in qualitative research as the process through which a researcher verifies the validity of the research findings (Creswell, 2013).

The degree to which the tool appropriately covered the subject being studied is known as the instrument's content validity. The test items in the study were checked by professionals, including research supervisors, financial colleagues, and other specialists in public finance management. The variables in the study were also the subject of a thorough literature analysis on the pertinent literature as a technique to check on content validity.

Reviewing the questions to make sure they represent the intended objectives established face validity. The researcher also made sure that the instructions for completing the questionnaire were the same for each participant and that the questions were written in plain language that the respondents could understand (Taherdoost, 2016). The experts who were engaged to verify the content validity of the items also evaluated the study's measurement items critically.

The extent to which one measure reveals links with another measure can be evaluated using criteria regarding validity. Both regression analysis and discriminant analysis were used to measure this. The degree to which measures link to one another and highlight relationships that have previously been seen in the past was revealed by correlation analysis, which was used to assess for concurrent and postdictive validity.

The variables were checked using factor analysis to assess the construct validity of the instrument. Construct validity, according to Mugenda (2003), is the degree to which a test measures an intended variable. As recommended by Koh and Nam (2005), Principal Component Analysis (PCA) were combined with varimax rotation. Items with cross-loading more than 0.40 were eliminated, while items loaded beyond the minimum 0.40 were regarded acceptable for study and therefore taken into consideration. The following statistical outputs were generated from factor analysis: Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy and Bartlett's Test of sphericity, total variance explained and rotated component matrix.

3.8.1.1 Competency of Revenue Collectors

Bartlett's and KMO tests were aimed at measuring sphericity and sampling adequacy respectively. The purpose of this was to test how well items under Competency of Revenue Collectors were correlated, and therefore determined the suitability of the questionnaire to proceed with factor analysis.

Table 3.3 KMO and Bartlett's Test for Competency of Revenue Collectors

KMO and Bartlett's Test							
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sa	0.681						
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	76.315					
	Df	21					
	Sig.	0.000					

Source: Research Data (2023)

As presented in Table 3.3, the study established KMO test statistics of 0.681. According to Kaiser (1974), KMO values greater than 0.5 indicates adequate sampling. As such, the value of 0.681 indicated that there was sampling adequacy. Bartlett's Test of Sphericity produced a p value of 0.000 indicating that the items in the dataset were significantly correlated and that the variable, is thus fit for factor analysis.

The PCA method was used to flag the main dimensions in the dataset, based on the variance explained. This method was considered desirable since it permitted the dataset reduction to a more controllable size at the same time maintaining a lot of the original information. To this end, the study used the Kaiser's criterion to seek variables equal to

or greater than 1 eigen value. Table 3.4 presents the results for the total variance explained.

				Extrac	Extraction Sums of Squared			Rotation Sums of Squared		
	Iı	nitial Eiger	n values		Loadin	gs	Loadings			
Component	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	
1	2.877	41.099	41.099	2.877	41.099	41.099	2.185	31.219	31.219	
2	1.358	19.397	60.497	1.358	19.397	60.497	2.049	29.277	60.497	
3	.864	12.350	72.847							
4	.736	10.514	83.360							
5	.495	7.068	90.429							
6	.399	5.694	96.122							
7	.271	3.878	100.000							

 Table 3.4
 Total Variance Explained for Competency of Revenue Collectors

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Source: Research Data (2023)

A total of 7 components were established as Table 3.4 shows. Out of the 7 components, 60.497 percent of the variations were explained by 2 components. A total of 41.099 percent of the variations were accounted for by component 1, while 19.397 percent of the variations were explained by component 2. As such, from the combined data set, a maximum of 2 components were extracted from the variable based on the total variance.

As further presented in Table 3.5, two components were also extracted from the combined data from the rotated component matrix, using a factor loading cutoff point of 0.4 (Mertens, 2020). As indicated, four items loaded under component 1, while three

items loaded under component 2. This confirms that the two components, that is capability and knowledge and training and development are adequate indicators of competency of revenue collectors.

	Compon	ent
	1	2
Achievement of county revenue targets would be possible if all revenue collection employees are trained on methods of revenue collection.	.629	
Having many years of revenue collection experience will help one achieve revenue collection target	.766	
Attainment of revenue collection targets result from revenue collection officer effective public relations techniques.	.654	
Achievement of revenue collection targets would result through training and development in revenue collection techniques.		.821
Training of staff on technology used in revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.758
Having a code of conduct would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.711
Sensitization of staff on the rules and regulations governing revenue collections would lead to achievement of revenue targets	.837	
Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.		
Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.		

Table 3.5 Component Matrix for Competency of Revenue Collectors

a. Rotation converged in 3 iterations.

The dimensionality of the dataset, as determined by the PCA and the results presented, is two. The KMO value of 0.681 indicates adequate sampling, and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity with a p-value of 0.000 shows that the items are significantly correlated, making the dataset suitable for factor analysis. According to Table 3.4, the PCA revealed a total of 7 components. However, the Kaiser's criterion (eigenvalue ≥ 1) was used to determine the number of meaningful components. The first two components had eigenvalues greater than 1, with component 1 explaining 41.099% of the variance and component 2 explaining 19.397% of the variance. Together, these two components accounted for 60.497% of the total variance, suggesting they capture the majority of the information in the dataset. As indicated in Table 3.5, after rotation, the items loaded primarily onto two components. Component 1 includes items related to "capability and knowledge," while Component 2 includes items related to "training and development." This further supports that the dataset's dimensionality is effectively captured by two components.

3.8.1.2 Stakeholder Engagement

Bartlett's and KMO tests were aimed at measuring sphericity and sampling adequacy respectively. The purpose of this was to test how well items under stakeholder engagement are correlated, and therefore determine the suitability of the questionnaire to proceed with factor analysis.

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of	.868	
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	1307.557
	df	78
	Sig.	.000
	0	

Table 3.6 KMO and Bartlett's Test for Stakeholder Engagement

Source: Research Data (2023)

The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity are key tests used to assess the suitability of data for factor analysis. In this case, the KMO value is 0.868, which is well above the commonly accepted threshold of 0.6, indicating that the data is appropriate for factor analysis and that the sampling is adequate. Bartlett's Test of Sphericity yielded a significant Chi-Square value (1307.557) with a significance level of 0.000, confirming that the correlation matrix is not an identity matrix. This suggests that the variables are sufficiently correlated to justify the use of factor analysis.

							Rotation
							Sums of
				Extrac	tion Sums	of Squared	Squared
	Iı	nitial Eiger	values		Loading	gs	Loadings ^a
		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative	
Component	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%	Total
1	5.348	41.139	41.139	5.348	41.139	41.139	4.463
2	1.508	11.600	52.739	1.508	11.600	52.739	4.199
3	.944	7.263	60.002				
4	.806	6.202	66.204				
5	.794	6.110	72.314				
6	.676	5.199	77.513				
7	.538	4.137	81.650				
8	.524	4.033	85.683				
9	.497	3.825	89.508				
10	.430	3.311	92.819				
11	.358	2.754	95.573				
12	.326	2.508	98.081				
13	.249	1.919	100.000				

Table 3.7Total Variance Explained for Stakeholder Engagement

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. When components are correlated, sums of squared loadings cannot be added to obtain a total variance.

Source: Research Data (2023)

The table summarizing the component extraction reveals that two components were identified as significant, based on their eigenvalues. The first component has an eigenvalue of 5.348, explaining 41.139% of the variance, while the second component has an eigenvalue of 1.508, accounting for an additional 11.600% of the variance. Together, these two components explain 52.739% of the total variance. The remaining components have eigenvalues less than 1 and do not contribute significantly to explaining the variance, hence were not retained in the analysis. The rotation sums of squared loadings further reveal that the two extracted components provide a clearer, more interpretable structure, with the first component explaining a slightly larger portion of the variance after rotation.

	Component	
	1	2
Taxpayer sensitization on their need to pay county		442
taxes would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.442
Consultation with Commission on Revenue		
Allocation when setting taxes and levies would lead	.604	
to achievement of revenue targets		
Consultation with the Office of the Controller of		
Budget for review of targets would lead to the		.527
achievement of revenue targets		
Consultation with The National Treasury on target		
setting and forecasting would lead to achievement of		.438
revenue targets		
Communication with taxpayers through simple and		
easy to access channels of communication like SMS,	(1)	
public notices and barazas would lead to achievement	.012	
of revenue targets		
Sensitization to taxpayers on county levies upon		
amendment of the Finance Act would lead to	.634	
achievement of revenue targets		
Preparation of statutory reports to CRA, OCOB and		
National Treasury within timelines would lead to	.702	
achievement of revenue targets		
Submission of statutory reports to CRA, OCOB and		
National Treasury within timelines would lead to	.728	
achievement of revenue targets		
Scheduled public participations and consultative		
meetings before amendment of Finance Act would	.715	
lead to achievement of revenue targets		
Incorporating taxpayers inputs when amending the	()(
Finance Act would lead to revenue target	.626	
Commission on Revenue Allocation and Office of the		
Controller of Budget feedback on proposals on	700	
revenue raising measures would lead to achievement	.729	
of revenue targets		
Direct communication by taxpayers to the county		
government would lead to achievement of revenue	.571	
targets		
Complaint handling procedure for tax disputes would	(77	
lead to achievement of revenue targets	.6///	
Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.		
a. 2 components extracted.		
l		

Table 3.8Component Matrix for Stakeholder Engagement

In the component matrix, different stakeholder engagement activities load onto two distinct components. The first component is heavily loaded with items related to the preparation and submission of statutory reports, public participation, and feedback from regulatory bodies like the Commission on Revenue Allocation (CRA) and the Office of the Controller of Budget (OCOB). This suggests that this component represents formalized, structured engagement with regulatory and statutory bodies. The second component is loaded with items related to taxpayer communication and sensitization, indicating that this component likely represents direct interaction and engagement with taxpayers. The clear differentiation between these two types of engagement highlights the importance of both structured regulatory engagement and direct taxpayer communication in achieving revenue targets.

3.8.1.3 Regulatory Compliance

Bartlett's and KMO tests were aimed at measuring sphericity and sampling adequacy respectively. The purpose of this was to test how well items under regulatory compliance were correlated, and therefore determined the suitability of the questionnaire to proceed with factor analysis.

Table 3.9	KMO and	Bartlett's	Test for	Regulatory	^r Compliance

KMO and Bartlett's Test				
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of S	.676			
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	160.457		
	Df	36		
	Sig.	.000		

As presented in Table 3.9, the study established KMO test statistics of 0.676. As per Kaiser (1974), the value of 0.676 indicates that there was sampling adequacy. Bartlett's Test of Sphericity produced a p value of 0.000 indicating that the items in the dataset were significantly correlated and that the variable, regulatory compliance, is thus fit for factor analysis. The PCA method was then used to flag the main dimensions in the dataset, based on the variance explained. To this end, the study used the Kaiser's criterion to seek variables equal to or greater than 1 eigenvalue. Table 3.10 presents the results for the total variance explained.

				Extraction Sums of Squared		Rotation Sums of Squared			
	Initial Eigenvalues			Loadings		Loadings			
Component	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %
	1000		, ,	1000		,,,	10000		
1	3.390	37.668	37.668	3.390	37.668	37.668	3.036	33.729	33.729
2	2.210	24.552	62.220	2.210	24.552	62.220	2.564	28.491	62.220
3	.897	9.966	72.186						
4	.806	8.959	81.145						
5	.643	7.139	88.284						
6	.368	4.094	92.378						
7	.318	3.538	95.916						
8	.253	2.811	98.727						
9	.115	1.273	100.000						

Table 3.10Total Variance Explained for Regulatory Compliance

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

A total of 9 components were established as Table 3.10 shows. Out of the 9 components, 62.220 percent of the variations were explained by 2 components. A total of 37.668 percent of the variations were accounted for by component 1, while 24.552 percent of the variations were explained by component 2. As such, from the combined data set, a maximum of 2 components were extracted from the variable based on the total variance.

As further presented in Table 3.11, two components were also extracted from the combined data from the rotated component matrix, using a factor loading cutoff point of 0.4 (Mertens, 2020). As indicated, four items loaded under component 1, and two items loaded under component 2. This confirms that the two components, that is operational policies and guidelines and revenue collection legislations are adequate indicators of competency of regulatory compliance.

	Component	
	1	2
Presence of approved policies, rules and regulations governing revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.733
Amendments to the County Finance Acts to comply with legislations governing specific revenue streams like Trade Licensing Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.742
Adherence to legislation setting up the structures of revenue sections or agencies with regard to human resource and financial autonomy of the agencies or boards would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.600
Presence of primary revenue administration laws for all revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets	.761	
Primary revenue administration laws drafted in consultation and collaboration with the National Government would lead to achievement of revenue targets	.734	
Consultative legislative drafting and review of revenue administration laws before approval would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.567
Publishing of revenue administration laws in the local media and notice boards would lead to achievement of revenue targets	.924	
Publicizing of the revenue laws before implementation in local radio stations and county websites would lead to achievement of revenue targets	.858	
Annual review of the Finance Act to capture changes in the economic outlook in the County would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.731
Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.		
Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.		
a. Rotation converged in 3 iterations.		
Source: Research Data (2023)		

Table 3.11 Component Matrix for Regulatory Compliance

3.8.1.4 Revenue Management

Bartlett's and KMO tests were aimed at measuring sphericity and sampling adequacy respectively. The purpose of this was to test how well items under revenue management are correlated, and therefore determine the suitability of the questionnaire to proceed with factor analysis.

KMO and Bartlett's Test					
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sa	.791				
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	362.663			
	Df	45			
	Sig.	.000			

 Table 3.12
 KMO and Bartlett's Test for Revenue Management

Source: Research Data (2023)

As presented in Table 3.12, the study established KMO test statistics of 0.791. As per Kaiser (1974), this is an indication of sampling adequacy. Bartlett's Test of Sphericity produced a P value of 0.000 indicating that the items in the dataset are significantly correlated and that the variable, regulatory compliance, is thus fit for factor analysis. The PCA method was then used to flag the main dimensions in the dataset, based on the variance explained. To this end, the study used the Kaiser's criterion to sought variables equal to or greater than 1 eigenvalue. Table 3.13 presents the results for the total variance explained.
				Extra	ction Sums	of Squared	Rota	tion Sums	of Squared
	Ι	nitial Eiger	ivalues		Loadin	gs	Loadings		
		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative
Component	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%
1	5.820	58.198	58.198	5.820	58.198	58.198	4.661	46.614	46.614
2	1.350	13.499	71.697	1.350	13.499	71.697	2.083	20.834	67.448
3	1.096	10.957	82.653	1.096	10.957	82.653	1.521	15.205	82.653
4	.643	6.432	89.085						
5	.408	4.083	93.168						
6	.278	2.779	95.947						
7	.178	1.777	97.724						
8	.106	1.057	98.781						
9	.095	.950	99.732						
10	.027	.268	100.000						

 Table 3.13
 Total Variance Explained for Revenue Management

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Source: Research Data (2023)

A total of 10 components were established as Table 3.13 shows. Out of the 10 components, 82.653 percent of the variations were explained by 3 components. A total of 58.198 percent of the variations were accounted for by component 1, while 13.499 percent of the variations were explained by component 2 and 10.957 percent of the variations were explained by component 3. As such, from the combined data set, a maximum of 3 components were extracted from the variable based on the total variance.

As further presented in Table 3.14, three components were also extracted from the combined data from the rotated component matrix, using a factor loading cutoff point of

0.4 (Mertens, 2020). As indicated, six items loaded under component 1, two items under component 2 and three items loaded under component 3. This implies that in addition to the two initially identified factors, that is government budgeting base and revenue accounting, there is a third indicator of revenue management. Upon assessment of the respective items, this was labeled regular auditing.

	Co	mponer	nt
	1	2	3
Daily Reconciliations of revenue collected would lead to		.852	
achievement of revenue targets			
Scheduled Internal audit and checks on revenue collected would			.757
lead to achievement of revenue targets			
Weekly analysis on key revenue streams performance would lead		.788	
to achievement of revenue targets			
Maintenance of separate revenue collection accounts for revenue	.708		
streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets			
Trend analysis on revenue collected used in budget forecasting	.932		
would lead to achievement of revenue targets			
Special audits on under-performing revenue streams would lead to	.832		
achievement of revenue targets			
Scheduled Rapid Results Initiatives on revenue collection would	.856		
lead to achievement of revenue targets			
Revenue accounting system capable of analyzing revenue			.833
performance trends would lead to achievement of revenue targets			
Revenue accounting system capable of revenue reconciliation	.899		
through third party confirmation would lead to achievement of			
revenue targets			
Compatible revenue accounting and county government financial	.751		
reporting system like IFMIS would lead to achievement of			
revenue targets			
Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.			
Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.			
a. Rotation converged in 8 iterations.			
Source: Research Data (2023)			

Table 3.14 Component Matrix for Revenue Management

Bartlett's and KMO tests were aimed at measuring sphericity and sampling adequacy respectively. The purpose of this was to test how well items under automation are correlated, and therefore determine the suitability of the questionnaire to proceed with factor analysis.

KMO and Bartlett's Test				
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of S	ampling Adequacy.	.631		
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	163.918		
	Df	36		
	Sig.	.000		

Table 3.15KMO and Bartlett's Test for Automation

Source: Research Data (2023)

As presented in Table 3.15, the study established KMO test statistics of 0.631. As per Kaiser (1974), the value of 0.631 indicates that there was sampling adequacy. Bartlett's Test of Sphericity produced a P value of 0.000 indicating that the items in the dataset are significantly correlated and that the variable, Automation, is thus fit for factor analysis. The PCA method was then used to flag the main dimensions in the dataset, based on the variance explained. To this end, the study used the Kaiser's criterion to seek variables equal to or greater than 1 eigenvalue. Table 3.16 presents the results for the total variance explained.

				Extrac	ction Sums	of Squared	Rotat	tion Sums	of Squared	
	Ι	nitial Eige	nvalues		Loadings			Loadings		
		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative	
Component	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%	
1	4.010	44.561	44.561	4.010	44.561	44.561	3.068	34.085	34.085	
2	1.445	16.054	60.615	1.445	16.054	60.615	1.922	21.360	55.445	
3	1.032	11.465	72.080	1.032	11.465	72.080	1.497	16.635	72.080	
4	.864	9.596	81.676							
5	.637	7.073	88.749							
6	.409	4.542	93.292							
7	.359	3.994	97.285							
8	.134	1.491	98.776							
9	.110	1.224	100.000							

 Table 3.16
 Total Variance Explained for Automation

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Source: Research Data (2023)

A total of 9 components were established as Table 3.16 shows. Out of the 9 components, 72.080 percent of the variations were explained by 3 components. A total of 44.561 percent of the variations were accounted for by component 1, while 16.054 percent of the variations were explained by component 2 and 11.465 percent of the variations were explained by component 3. As such, from the combined data set, a maximum of 3 components were extracted from the variable based on the total variance.

As further presented in Table 3.17, three components were also extracted from the combined data from the rotated component matrix, using a factor loading cutoff point of 0.4 (Mertens, 2020). As indicated, five items loaded under component 1, three items

under component 2 and one item loaded under component 3. This implies that in addition to the two initially identified factors, that is automated taxpayer registration and e-filing and e-payment, there is a third indicator of Automation. Upon assessment of the respective items, this was labeled 'activity alerts.'

Table 3.17 Component Matrix for Automation

	Co	mponen	ıt
	1	2	3
Web Based systems for revenue automation would lead to	.708		
achievement of revenue targets			
Automated system for taxpayer registration would lead to	.713		
achievement of revenue targets			
Automated registration that alerts the county government on			.913
dormant accounts that are not compliant would lead to			
achievement of revenue targets			
Automated system for taxpayer filing of tax obligation for		.721	
structured revenue streams like property rates would lead to			
achievement of revenue targets			
Automated system for payment of tax obligation through use of	.708		
USSD or mobile money would lead to achievement of revenue			
targets			
Technological upgrade for revenue collection to include	.823		
emerging revenue sources and streams would lead to			
achievement of revenue targets			
Scheduled software reviews and updates would lead to		.699	
achievement of revenue targets			
Electronic receipting of all revenues collected would lead to	.694		
achievement of revenue targets			
E-government strategy governing revenue collection would lead		.729	
to achievement of revenue targets			
Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.			
Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.			
Detetion concerns the 11 iterations			

a. Rotation converged in 11 iterations.

Source: Research Data (2023)

3.8.1.6 Own Source Revenue Target

Bartlett's and KMO tests were aimed at measuring sphericity and sampling adequacy respectively. The purpose of this was to test how well items under own source revenue target were correlated, and therefore determined the suitability of the questionnaire to proceed with factor analysis.

KMO and Bartlett's Test				
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of S	Sampling Adequacy.	.759		
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	178.313		
	Df	28		
	Sig.	.000		

 Table 3.18
 KMO and Bartlett's Test for Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

As presented in Table 3.18, the study established KMO test statistics of 0.759. As per Kaiser (1974), this indicates sampling adequacy. Bartlett's Test of Sphericity produced a P value of 0.000 indicating that the items in the dataset are significantly correlated and that the variable, own source revenue target, is thus fit for factor analysis. The PCA method was then used to flag the main dimensions in the dataset, based on the variance explained. To this end, the study used the Kaiser's criterion to seek variables equal to or greater than 1 eigenvalue. Table 19 presents the results for the total variance explained.

	т	-:		Extrac	tion Sums	of Squared	Rotat	tion Sums of	of Squared
	I	nitiai Eigei	nvalues		Loading	gs		Loadin	gs
		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative
Component	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%
1	3.929	49.109	49.109	3.929	49.109	49.109	2.899	36.237	36.237
2	1.725	21.568	70.676	1.725	21.568	70.676	2.755	34.439	70.676
3	.819	10.233	80.909						
4	.573	7.159	88.068						
5	.349	4.357	92.425						
6	.302	3.772	96.198						
7	.175	2.188	98.386						
8	.129	1.614	100.000						

 Table 3.19
 Total Variance Explained for Own Source Revenue Target

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Source: Research Data (2024)

A total of 8 components were established as Table 3.19 shows. Out of the 8 components, 70.676 percent of the variations were explained by 2 components. A total of 49.109 percent of the variations were accounted for by component 1, while 21.568 percent of the variations were explained by component 2. As such, from the combined data set, a maximum of 2 components were extracted from the variable based on the total variance.

As further presented in Table 3.20, two components were also extracted from the combined data from the rotated component matrix, using a factor loading cutoff point of 0.4 (Mertens, 2020). As indicated, four items loaded under component 1, and two items loaded under component 2. This confirms that the two components, that is forecasted

versus actual collections and revenue arrears collections were adequate indicators of own source revenue target.

	Compor	nent
	1	2
The county government forecasted revenue for every financial cycle covering all revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets	.870	
The county government has a structured method of forecasting the revenue targets	.884	
The forecasted revenues are used in the preparation of the county budget		.758
Revenue collected is reviewed daily and weekly to check on progress towards achievement of revenue targets		.616
Monitoring and evaluation has been done annually to check on revenues collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets	.760	
The county government maintains a revenue arrears register for all revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets	.607	
The county government offering waivers on penalties and interest on outstanding amounts of property rates would lead to achievement of revenue targets		.879
Revenue arrears collected is part of the revenue target every year		.864
Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.		
Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.		
a. Rotation converged in 3 iterations.		
Source: Research Data (2024)		

Table 3.20 Component Matrix for Own Source Revenue Target

3.7.2 Reliability of Research Instrument

Reliability in research, according to Bryman and Bell (2011), entails whether the findings of the study would hold true if it were conducted again using the same information and methodology. According to Downing (2004), dependability values over 0.8 are regarded as high. Statistical tests of correlation are used to determine reliability in the test-retest and alternative forms (Traub and Rowley, 1991).

The County Government of Bomet was selected for the pilot investigation to assess the reliability of the research instruments due to its representativeness and relevance, despite not being one of the primary counties under study. Bomet was chosen because it reflects similar administrative and operational characteristics to the selected counties, thereby providing valuable insights into the effectiveness of the research tools without affecting the primary study's integrity (Mugenda & Mugenda, 2003). The pilot study involved 10% of the sample population from Bomet, including CEC members for Finance, CEOs of revenue corporations, CCOs responsible for revenue administration, and revenue officers. This diverse group was targeted to ensure that the instruments were comprehensive and relevant across various job cadres, allowing for a thorough evaluation of the tools' reliability and alignment with the research questions (Creswell, 2014). The feedback from this pilot study helped refine the instruments, ensuring their validity and reliability for the main study.

When analyzing the results of the pilot study, a Cronbach Alpha value of at least 0.70 was considered reliable (Sekaran & Bougie, 2013). On their part, Tashakkori and Teddlie (2010) aver that an instrument is deemed highly reliable if it records a Cronbach Alpha coefficient of between 0.82 and 1.00; sufficient reliability if between 0.64 and 0.82; has

low reliability of between 0.46 and 0.64; and not reliable if between 0.10 and 0.46. Cronbach Alpha was established for every objective in order to determine if each scale (objective) would produce consistent results should the research be done on the same respondents at a different point in time. In the present study, the 0.7 Cronbach alpha threshold was used. Results are presented on Table 3.21.

Scale	Initial Items	Final Items	Initial Cronbach Alpha	Final Cronbach Alpha
Competency of Revenue Collectors	9	7	0.620	0.711
Stakeholder Engagement	13	13	0.751	0.751
Regulatory Compliance	9	9	0.745	0.745
Revenue Management	11	10	0.583	0.905
Automation	9	9	0.742	0.742
Own Source Revenue Target	8	8	0.793	0.793

Table 3.21Reliability Coefficients

Source: Research Data (2024)

As presented in Table 3.21, all scales were found to be reliable, having Cronbach alpha coefficients above thresholds prescribed by Tashakkori and Teddlie (2010). The first independent variable, Competency of Revenue Collectors, recorded an initial coefficient of 0.620 with 9 items. It was however revised by deleting two items from the scale, that is *"Background knowledge of the employees in accounting would lead to achievement of revenue targets"* and *"Use of non-financial rewards like recognition, inclusivity in decision-making and flexible working hours would lead to achievement of revenue targets"*

targets". The final questionnaire thus contains 7 items under the variable Competency of Revenue Collectors, which was reliable at a coefficient of 0.711.

The second independent variable, Stakeholder Engagement was found reliable, at a coefficient of 0.751 with 13 items. No item was thus deleted from the scale. Similar results were obtained under the third independent variable, Regulatory Compliance, which recorded a coefficient of 0.745 with 9 items. No item was deleted from the scale. In the fourth independent variable however, that is Revenue Management, the item *"Presence of a standard operating procedures manual for revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets"* was deleted. This resulted in a coefficient of 0.905, from the initial 0.583. Items under the moderating variable, Automation, were found reliable at a coefficient of 0.742. None of the 9 items was thus deleted. The dependent variable scale, that is Own Source Revenue Target, was also found reliable at a coefficient of 0.793. None of the 8 items was therefore deleted.

3.8 Data Analysis and Presentations

The Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS) Version 27 was used to code, clean, and input the field data into the computer for analysis. The information was condensed to identify new concerns and trends related to particular topics that depend on the variables and objectives. To acquire the appropriate scores, the study combined scores from indicators for the factors.

Descriptive statistical techniques were utilized to give comparisons and contrasts between revenue collection through agencies, revenue collection automation, and achieving own source revenue targets. Multiple regression analysis was utilized in testing the hypotheses and look at the correlation between study variables. (Hair *et al.*, 2005). To address the multi-collinearity issue, the study made use of the Variable Inflation Factor (VIF). The model's beta (β) coefficients for each independent variable were produced in order to examine each of the research's hypotheses.

Quantitative approaches were utilized for data analysis, leveraging both primary and secondary data sources. Descriptive statistics, including frequency, mean, and standard deviation, were employed to summarize and describe the characteristics of the data (Creswell, 2014). Inferential statistics, such as regression and correlation analysis, were applied to explore relationships and test hypotheses within the data (Field, 2013). Descriptive statistics provide a foundational understanding of the data set by summarizing key features, while inferential statistics allow for the examination of patterns and predictions, offering deeper insights into the data's implications (Bryman, 2016; Pallant, 2020). The use of these statistical methods ensures a comprehensive analysis of the data, aligning with best practices in quantitative research methodology (Cooper & Schindler, 2014).

Without using a moderator, the parameter that is dependent was initially regressed against each of the factors that were independent. Regression model 1 was employed.

37	$0 + 0 \mathbf{X}$	2	2	
Y =	$D_0 \pm D_1 X_1$	5 .	5 !	Ì.
-	P0 P1 + 1		-)	1

$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_2 X_2.$	
$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_3 X_3$	
$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_4 X_4.$	

The factor that is dependent was projected on each predictor factor in combination, in the second stage.

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \beta_3 X_3 + \beta_4 X_4 + \varepsilon....(3.7)$$

The factor that is dependent was projected against each of the factors that were predictor in the third phase, and an interaction was added in a moderated model.

 $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 M + \beta_3 X_1 * M + \varepsilon$ (3.8)

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_4 X_2 + \beta_5 M + \beta_6 X_2 * M + \epsilon(3.9)$$

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_7 X_3 + \beta_8 M + \beta_9 X_3 * M + \varepsilon(3.10)$$

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_{10}X_4 + \beta_{11}M + \beta_{12}X_4 * M + \varepsilon(3.11)$$

Where;

Y is Own Source revenue target measured by forecasted versus actual collections and revenue arrears collections;

β_0 is Constant Term;

 β_1 , β_2 , β_3 , β_4 are Beta coefficients;

X₁ is Competency of revenue collectors (measured by Capability and Knowledge and Training and Development);

X₂ is Stakeholder engagement (measured by Taxpayer Education and Reports and Public Feedback);

X₃ is Regulatory compliance (measured by Operational Policies and Guidelines and Revenue Collection Legislations);

X₄ is Revenue management (measured by Government Budgeting Base and Revenue Accounting);

M is Revenue collection automation which is the interaction measured by Automated Taxpayer Registration.

 ϵ is the "error term"

The regression models generated several key statistics that were interpreted to understand the relationships and moderating effects. The regression coefficients indicate the strength and direction of the relationships between variables. For instance, the coefficient for agency revenue collection quantified the change in own source revenue target associated with a unit change in agency revenue collection. A positive coefficient suggests a positive relationship, while a negative coefficient implies a negative relationship. The coefficient for the interaction term (automation * agency revenue collection) helped understand the moderating effect of automation.

The p-values associated with the coefficients provide information about the statistical significance of the relationships. A p-value below a predetermined threshold (e.g., 0.05) indicates that the relationship is statistically significant. In the context of the study, a significant p-value for the interaction term indicates that automation moderates the relationship between agency revenue collection and revenue target.

The R-squared value represents the percentage of the variance associated with the dependent variable that can be accounted for by the equation's variables that are independent. A greater R-squared value suggests that the model fits the data more accurately. In this study, R-squared helped determine how well the combined variables

(agency revenue collection and automation) explain the variance in own source revenue target.

The interaction term between automation and agency revenue collection provided insights into the moderating effect. If the coefficient of the interaction term is significant and positive, it suggests that automation strengthens the relationship between agency revenue collection and revenue target. If the coefficient is significant and negative, it implies that automation weakens this relationship.

Overall model fit statistics, such as the F-statistic and associated p-value, provide information about the goodness of fit of the entire regression model. A low p-value for the F-statistic suggests that at least one independent variable in the model significantly contributes to explaining the variance in the dependent variable.

Interpreting these statistics collectively helped draw conclusions about how agency revenue collection and automation interact to influence own source revenue target. The regression model's results offered valuable insights into whether and how automation acts as a moderating factor in the relationship between revenue collection and revenue target in the context of selected Kenyan county governments.

Thematic content analysis was then employed whereby the qualitative data obtained from secondary sources including discrete sources that are printed, typewritten, or electronically accessible and are gathered from a market, future product uses, and various knowledge sources. As per Sekaran and Bougie (2013), thematic content analysis is a flexible and powerful method for distilling valuable insights from diverse qualitative data sources. It allowed the study to identify and interpret key themes, patterns, and trends that

can inform decision-making and contribute to a deeper understanding of the research topic, whether it pertains to market dynamics, future product uses, or knowledge acquisition. Table 3.22 operationalizes the study variables:

Variable	Indicators	Type of data	Measurement scale	Expected outputs	
Competency of revenue collectors	-Capability and knowledge -Training and development	Quantitative	Likert scale (Ordinal)	Means and standard deviations	
Stakeholder Engagement	-Taxpayer Education -Reports and public feedback	Quantitative	Likert scale (Ordinal)	Means and standard deviations	
Regulatory Compliance	-Operational Policies and Guidelines -Revenue collection legislations	Quantitative	Likert scale (Ordinal)	Means and standard deviations	
Revenue Management	-Government Budgeting Base Revenue -Accounting	Quantitative	Likert scale (Ordinal)	Means and standard deviations	
Revenue collection automation	-Automated taxpayer registration -E-filing and e- payment	Quantitative	Likert scale (Ordinal)	Means and standard deviations	
Own Source Revenue Target	-Forecasted versus actual collections -Revenue arrears collections	Quantitative	Likert scale (Ordinal)	Means and standard deviations	

3.8.1 Multicollinearity Test

Multicollinearity arises when a number of variables in the model of regression have a moderately or strongly correlated relationship. Unfortunately, when it does, it can ruin analysis and limit the conclusions of research. When the t-tests for each individual slope in this study are non-substantial (P > 0.05), while the total F-test for evaluating all slopes simultaneously is substantial (P = 0.05), it can be determined that multicollinearity is present using VIF.

To check for multicollinearity, a correlation test was used. Correlation coefficients often fall between a negative and a positive one. The direction in which the variables move is implied by the correlation coefficient, which can be positive or negative. A positive correlation coefficient indicates that the variables move in the same direction.

There is no link between any two variables if the correlation coefficient is zero. A correlation coefficient of one, whether positive or negative, denotes close to perfect connection. This results in a multicollinearity issue. Perfectly multicollinear variables should be omitted in favor of the other to prevent multicollinearity. However, the multicollinearity issue is not serious and is disregarded if the pair-wise correlation coefficient is less than 0.8 (Gujarati, 2003). On the other hand, multicollinearity arises if the coefficient of correlation is larger than 0.8, and a corrective action should be done.

Multicollinearity tests detect high correlations between independent variables, which can undermine the model's interpretability and predictive power. As per Cooper and Schindler (2018), multicollinearity can undermine the interpretability and predictive power of a statistical model, making it challenging to isolate the individual effects of each independent variable on the dependent variable. It can lead to inflated standard errors, making it difficult to assess the statistical significance of the coefficients, and may result in unstable parameter estimates. Additionally, multicollinearity can make it challenging to discern the true relationships within the data, potentially leading to misleading or erroneous conclusions (Kothari, 2019). In this study, both Tolerance Variable Inflation Factor (VIF) were used to check for multicollinearity. As a rule of thumb, tolerance values less than 0.1 and VIF values beyond the range of -10 to 10 are generally symptomatic of crossovers (Sekaran & Bougie, 2019).

	Tolerance	VIF
Competency of Revenue Collectors	.453	2.206
Stakeholder Engagement	.347	2.879
Regulatory Compliance	.267	3.751
Revenue Management	.298	3.354
Revenue Collection Automation	.447	2.237

Table 3.23Tests for Multicollinearity

Source: Research Data (2023)

Results indicated no multicollinearity in the dataset with acceptable tolerance and VIF values recorded in all predictor variables. Each predictor had tolerance values significantly greater than 0.1, and the VIF scores within the allowed range of -10 to 10: competency of revenue collectors (Tolerance=.453; VIF=2.206); stakeholder engagement (Tolerance=.347; VIF=2.879); Regulatory Compliance (Tolerance=.267; VIF=3.751); revenue management (Tolerance=.298; VIF=3.354); and revenue collection automation (Tolerance=.447; VIF=2.237). The absence of multicollinearity enhances the model's interpretability and the reliability of inferences, ensuring that the study's conclusions

about the relationships between these predictors and the dependent variable are robust and trustworthy.

The absence of multicollinearity, as indicated by acceptable tolerance and VIF values for all predictor variables, is a reassuring finding in the context of the statistical analysis. Multicollinearity can complicate the interpretation of regression models and affect the stability of parameter estimates, potentially leading to unreliable results. In this study, the predictor variables, including competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance, revenue management, and revenue collection automation, all exhibited tolerance values significantly greater than the threshold of 0.1 and VIF scores well within the commonly accepted range of -10 to 10. These results indicate that there is no substantial overlap or redundancy among the predictors, and each variable contributes distinct information to the model.

3.8.2 Normality Test

It is a requirement of the normality assumption that the error term has a normal distribution with constant variance. That is, the errors in the distribution of the predicted value of Y (the dependent variable) are in the neighborhood of the normal distribution. The premise of normality is crucial for constructing ranges of reference for parameters. It is challenging to draw accurate and reliable judgments regarding actuality if this premise is broken (Bryman, 2017). Normality tests assessed whether the residuals or the dependent variable follow a normal distribution, a crucial assumption for many statistical techniques. According to Clark et al. (2021), normality tests play a pivotal role in statistical analysis, especially in the context of parametric statistical techniques like

regression and hypothesis testing. When data or residuals follow a normal distribution, it means that the values are symmetrically distributed around the mean, and extreme values are rare. This allows for the application of powerful statistical methods, such as t-tests, ANOVA, and linear regression, which rely on the normality assumption to make accurate inferences.

A test for normalcy was performed using both the Shapiro Wilk Test and the Quantile-Quantile (Q-Q) plots advocated by Alejo et al., (2015). The Shapiro-Wilk test is a formal statistical test specifically designed to assess the normality of data. It is particularly powerful for small to medium sample sizes and is widely used because it is sensitive to departures from normality. The test generates a test statistic and a corresponding p-value, which indicates whether the null hypothesis (that the data is normally distributed) can be rejected. In this study, as shown in Table 3.21, the Shapiro-Wilk test results for all the variables—Own Source Revenue Target, Competency of Revenue Collectors, Stakeholder Engagement, Regulatory Compliance, and Revenue Management—indicate a p-value of .000. This p-value is below the typical significance level of 0.05, suggesting a violation of the normality assumption for each variable. Given these results, the Shapiro-Wilk test effectively identifies non-normal distributions, making it a critical tool in the initial assessment of data normality.

Table 3.24Normality Test

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^a			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
Own Source Revenue	120	238	000	.910	238	.000
Target	.130		.000			
Competency of	120	238	.000	880	238	.000
Revenue Collectors	.150			.009		
Stakeholder	086	0.96 229	000	040	220	.000
Engagement	.080	230	.000	.949	238	
Regulatory Compliance	.100	238	.000	.932	238	.000
Revenue Management	.123	238	.000	.942	238	.000

a. Lilliefors Significance Correction

Source: Research Data (2023)

While the Shapiro-Wilk test provides a quantitative measure of normality, it does not offer visual insight into how the data deviates from a normal distribution. This is where Q-Q plots become particularly useful. Q-Q plots graphically display the relationship between the observed quantiles of the data and the expected quantiles of a normal distribution. By plotting the data on a Q-Q plot, one can visually inspect the alignment of the data points with the reference line (which represents a perfectly normal distribution). Deviations from this line indicate departures from normality. Visual inspection using Q-Q plots is advocated by researchers like Alejo et al. (2015) as a complementary method to formal statistical tests because it can provide more detailed insight into the nature of any deviations, such as skewness or kurtosis, that might not be fully captured by the Shapiro-Wilk test.

Given the significant p-values from the Shapiro-Wilk test, indicating a violation of the normality assumption, the study resolved to visually inspect the data using Q-Q plots. This approach is beneficial because, while the Shapiro-Wilk test suggests non-normality,

the Q-Q plots allow for a more informed understanding of how the data deviates from normality. The visual inspection can reveal patterns, such as slight skewness or heavy tails, that might inform the choice of subsequent statistical analyses. For instance, if the data shows only minor deviations from normality, parametric tests might still be justified with caution. However, significant departures might suggest the need for non-parametric tests or data transformations.

This visual method is particularly advantageous because it allows for the identification of deviations from normality, such as skewness or kurtosis, that might not be readily apparent through numerical tests alone (Wilk & Gnanadesikan, 1968). The error term's distribution being normally distributed is the null hypothesis in this test. The t tests and standard errors did not check the significance of the regression coefficients if the null hypothesis is rejected, which is implied by the statement. Figure 3.1 presents the Q-Q plot for competency of revenue collectors.



Figure 3.1Q-Q Plot for Competency of Revenue CollectorsSource: Research Data (2023)

A majority of data points fell within the line of best fit, implying that data on the competency of revenue collectors was normally distributed. This is a critical assumption for various statistical analyses. The deviation of data points from the line of best fit at the beginning of the Q-Q plot, particularly in the tails, suggests that there are some minor departures from normality, often referred to as heavy tails or outliers. This typically occurs in real-world data, where extreme values do not perfectly follow the expected normal distribution. However, the fact that the majority of the data points are aligned along the line indicates that the overall distribution of the data closely approximates normality, especially in the central part of the distribution.

These minor deviations at the tails can be attributed to natural variability in the dataset or the presence of a few extreme values that do not significantly impact the overall analysis. In many practical applications, such deviations are acceptable, especially if the central tendency of the data still conforms to the assumptions of normality, which is critical for most parametric tests (Ghasemi & Zahediasl, 2012). Therefore, while these deviations are noted, they do not undermine the validity of using statistical methods that assume normality, as the majority of the data still closely follows the expected distribution.

This finding enhances the credibility of results and conclusions drawn from statistical tests and models based on the competency data, reinforcing the reliability and interpretability of the study's findings related to revenue collection and management within county governments in Kenya. A Q-Q diagram for stakeholder engagement was developed as well, with the results shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2Q-Q Plot for Stakeholder EngagementSource: Research Data (2023)

A majority of data points fell within the line of best fit, implying that data on the stakeholder engagement was normally distributed. These minor deviations at the tails can be attributed to natural variability in the dataset or the presence of a few extreme values that do not significantly impact the overall analysis. In the context of stakeholder engagement, normality is crucial for making valid inferences and drawing accurate conclusions about the relationship between stakeholder engagement and other variables. This finding reinforces the reliability and robustness of the study's analyses, enabled the study to apply statistical methods confidently to better understand the dynamics of

stakeholder engagement within county governments in Kenya. A Q-Q diagram for regulatory compliance was developed as well, with the results shown in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3Q-Q Plot for Regulatory ComplianceSource: Research Data (2023)

A majority of data points fell within the line of best fit, implying that data on the regulatory compliance was normally distributed. These minor deviations at the tails can be attributed to natural variability in the dataset or the presence of a few extreme values that do not significantly impact the overall analysis. In the context of regulatory compliance, normality is crucial for accurate and reliable statistical analyses, as it enabled the study to apply parametric tests with confidence, make valid inferences, and draw

meaningful conclusions about the impact of regulatory compliance on various aspects of the study. This finding enhances the credibility of the study's results, reinforcing the soundness and validity of the analyses pertaining to regulatory compliance within the selected county governments in Kenya. A Q-Q diagram for revenue management was developed as well, with the results shown in Figure 3.4.



Normal Q-Q Plot of Revenue Management

Figure 3.4Q-Q Plot for Revenue ManagementSource: Research Data (2023)

A majority of data points fell within the line of best fit, implying that data on the revenue management was normally distributed. These minor deviations at the tails can be attributed to natural variability in the dataset or the presence of a few extreme values that do not significantly impact the overall analysis. In the context of revenue management, normality is essential for the validity and reliability of statistical analyses. It enables the study to apply parametric tests confidently, make accurate inferences, and draw meaningful conclusions regarding the relationship between revenue management and their impact on revenue targets. This finding adds to the robustness of the study's analyses, reaffirming the credibility and interpretability of the results and contributing to a better understanding of revenue management within the context of the selected county governments in Kenya. A Q-Q diagram for revenue collection automation was developed as well, with the results shown in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5Q-Q Plot for Revenue Collection AutomationSource: Research Data (2023)

A majority of data points fell within the line of best fit, implying that data on the revenue collection automation was normally distributed. These minor deviations at the tails can be attributed to natural variability in the dataset or the presence of a few extreme values that do not significantly impact the overall analysis. In the context of revenue collection

automation, normality is crucial for the validity and reliability of statistical tests and models. It indicates that the data is amenable to parametric statistical techniques, enabling the study to confidently apply these methods to assess the impact of automation on revenue collection and revenue target. This finding reinforces the credibility of the study's analyses, ensuring that the results accurately reflect the relationship between revenue collection automation and the achievement of own source revenue targets among the selected county governments in Kenya. A Q-Q diagram for own source revenue target was developed as well, with the results shown in Figure 3.6.



Normal Q-Q Plot of Own Source Revenue Target Achievement

Figure 3.6 Q-Q Plot for Own Source Revenue Target Source: Research Data (2023)

A majority of data points fell within the line of best fit, implying that data on own source revenue target was normally distributed. In the context of own source revenue target, normality is essential for robust and valid statistical tests and models. It suggests that the data can be effectively and confidently analyzed using parametric statistical techniques, allowing researchers to make accurate inferences and draw meaningful conclusions about the factors influencing the achievement of revenue targets within the context of the selected county governments in Kenya. This finding points to the reliability and interpretability of the study's results, enhancing our understanding of the factors contributing to own source revenue target.

3.8.3 Autocorrelation test

According to Huitema (1986), autocorrelation is the extent to which a specific time series resembles an extended version of oneself over succeeding periods of time. Regression makes the premise that no error related to one observation is related to any other observation's error. The likelihood of autocorrelation was examined using Durbin Watson (DW) statistics.

Autocorrelation tests are critically important in statistical analysis, particularly in time series data and regression modeling (Bryman & Bell, 2017). They help identify and assess the presence of autocorrelation, which is a condition where data points or residuals are correlated with their own past values. Autocorrelation violates the assumption of independent and identically distributed residuals, which underpins many statistical techniques. It can lead to incorrect parameter estimates, inflated standard errors, and unreliable hypothesis tests.

In this study, autocorrelation was tested using the Durbin-Watson test. As per Kumar (2018), the importance of the Durbin-Watson statistic lies in its ability to detect autocorrelation, which, if present, can render regression results unreliable and biased. The Durbin-Watson statistic always ranges from 0 to 4. According to Brooks (2008), numbers close to 0 suggest positive autocorrelation, values toward 4 imply negative autocorrelation, and a value of 2 indicates that there is no autocorrelation in the sample.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson
1	.756 ^a	.572	.562	3.10065	2.102

Table 3.25Test for Autocorrelation

a. Predictors: (Constant), Revenue Collection Automation, Stakeholder Engagement, Competency of Revenue Collectors, Revenue Management, Regulatory Compliance

b. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

The study established a Durbin-Watson statistic of 2.102, indicating no autocorrelation. This implies that there are no disturbances in the data, which would possibly lead to inefficiency of the least squares estimates. This means that the dataset has the smallest variance among all linear unbiased estimators and that there are no wrong standard errors for the regression coefficient estimates. The finding is significant because autocorrelation can lead to inefficient parameter estimates, incorrect standard errors, and unreliable hypothesis tests, ultimately undermining the integrity of the statistical analysis. The confirmation of no autocorrelation ensures that the least squares estimates are efficient and that the regression coefficient estimates have accurate standard errors. This finding strengthens the validity of the study's results and supports the researchers in making accurate inferences about the factors influencing own source revenue target in the context of the selected county governments in Kenya.

3.8.4 Heteroscedasticity Test

With the remainder exceeds the term's variability is heteroscedastic, it means that it fluctuates in response to changes in the explanatory factors rather than being constant. Homoscedasticity, which is the opposite of heteroscedasticity and denotes that the variability of a DV is constant for all values of an IV, was first introduced in 2003 by Gujarati. Heteroscedasticity was minimized or, if feasible, avoided in this study by making sure that the information utilized for the testing of hypotheses are basically typical, converted properly, and operational regression equations are applied in the right ways, and that the variables are available. For every dimension of the predictive variable(s), the amount of variation of the remainder terms has to stay consistent. The study used Levine's test to check for heteroscedasticity.

Homogeneity of variance tests, such as the Breusch-Pagan and White tests, assess whether the variance of the residuals is consistent across different levels of the independent variables, an assumption crucial for the reliability of regression results. According to Kumar (2018), the assumption that the variance of the residuals is consistent across different levels of the independent variables, known as homoscedasticity, is fundamental in regression analysis. When this assumption is violated, it can lead to problems such as heteroscedasticity, where the spread of residuals varies systematically across different levels of the predictors. Heteroscedasticity can seriously compromise the accuracy and interpretability of regression results. Specifically, it can lead to incorrect standard errors of coefficients, affecting hypothesis testing and confidence intervals (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). In this study, the standardised residue and anticipated values were plotted to check for homoscedasticity. Figure 3.7 depicts the discovery.



Figure 3.7 Homogeneity of Variances

Source: Research Data (2023)

Results show a generally balanced representation of the standardized residual and predicted values, having a large number of residual data points near to 0 on each side of the line that was fitting. This suggests that the typical residual error rate for every dimension is close to zero meaning there is absolutely no heteroskedasticity (homoscedasticity infringement). As a result, homoscedasticity can be assumed in the dataset, and regression analysis may thus be carried out. The finding of a generally balanced representation of standardized residuals and predicted values, with a large number of residual data points clustering near zero on both sides of the fitted line, is a highly favorable result. This pattern suggests that the typical residual errors across the range of predicted values are close to zero, indicating the absence of heteroskedasticity, which is a violation of the homoscedasticity assumption. This is a crucial assumption for regression analysis, and the confirmation of homoscedasticity in the dataset signifies that the model is more robust and trustworthy. The absence of heteroskedasticity ensures that the standard errors of coefficients are reliable, and inferences drawn from the analysis are accurate, reinforcing the credibility of the study's findings and enabling more confident interpretations of the relationships between variables.

3.8.5 Linearity

Fitting a linear regression model between two variables when linear correlation exists is worthless. As a result, the t-Test is used to identify whether or not the independent and dependent variables have a meaningful linear connection (Hansen, 2016). The computed value of the t distribution and its critical value were compared in a two-tailed test to establish the null hypothesis. The crucial score and calculated score whenever Tr are less than $-t\alpha/2$ or more than $t\alpha/2$, the null hypothesis is rejected at a level of significance of α x 100%. Rejecting the null hypothesis indicates that the variables have a meaningful linear connection. The correlation between the independent and dependent variables is thought to be linear. This determination was made using scatter plots of the variables. Linearity tests evaluate the linearity assumption, ensuring that the relationship between the independent and dependent variables is adequately captured. Ensuring the linearity assumption is met is essential for the reliability and validity of regression results. If this assumption is violated, the model may fail to adequately capture the true nature of the relationships, leading to biased or misleading conclusions. Linearity tests help researchers confirm that the chosen functional form is appropriate for their data and that the model accurately reflects the relationships between variables. Figure 3.8 illustrates the finding.



Figure 3.8 Linearity Diagnostics

Source: Research Data (2023)

It was established that all the predictor variables including competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance, revenue management and revenue collection automation were linearly fitted against own source revenue target, meeting the condition for linearity. The data can thus be deemed fit for regression analysis. The finding that all predictor variables is a highly encouraging outcome. Linearity is a fundamental assumption in regression analysis, ensuring that the relationship between independent and dependent variables can be adequately captured by a linear function. The confirmation of linearity means that the chosen model is suitable for the data, and the relationships between the predictors and the dependent variable are well-represented. This finding is pivotal because it indicates that the dataset is amenable to regression analysis, allowing for the valid application of statistical techniques to examine the impact of these predictors on own source revenue target.

3.9 Ethical Considerations

The study adhered to rigorous ethical standards, ensuring that the research process was conducted with integrity and respect for the participants' rights. Approval for the study was first obtained from the Board of Graduate Studies at the University of Kabianga, which provided an official letter of introduction. This letter was instrumental in securing a research permit from the National Commission for Science, Technology, and Innovation (NACOSTI), a mandatory requirement for conducting research in Kenya. The NACOSTI permit was then used to request permission from the selected county governments, thereby ensuring that the research was legally and ethically sanctioned by all relevant authorities. In alignment with ethical research practices, the researcher clearly communicated the study's objectives to all participants, emphasizing that their participation was entirely voluntary and that the information provided would be used exclusively for academic purposes. Participants were assured of their anonymity and the confidentiality of their data, with strict measures in place to protect their identities and the information they shared. Additionally, participants were informed of their right to withdraw from the study at any point without facing any consequences, reinforcing the voluntary nature of their involvement.

Further, the researcher demonstrated academic integrity by diligently citing all sources of information, including peer-reviewed journals, books, published and unpublished theses, and other relevant research materials. This practice not only respected intellectual property rights but also contributed to the transparency and credibility of the research. These ethical considerations were crucial in building trust with participants, ensuring the accuracy of the data collected, and upholding the overall integrity of the study.
CHAPTER FOUR

RESEARCH FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the research findings and discussions are presented. With the aid of version 27 of SPSS, two main quantitative analysis techniques were conducted, that is both descriptive and inferential. Descriptive analysis involved the computation of frequency counts, means, percentage proportions, standard deviations as well as skewness and kurtosis. Inferential analysis on the other hand included the calculation of independent sample t-tests, Pearson correlation as well as regression analysis, a number of preliminary diagnostic tests were conducted, including tests for normality, homogeneity of variance, linearity as well as multicollinearity. The established findings are then placed within the empirical body of knowledge, in which they are discussed in reference to extant literature. Accordingly, the chapter is structured into two main sections, that is the presentation of results and discussions.

4.2 General and Background information

The section presents the general and demographic information of respondents;

4.2.1 Response Rate

As per the established sample size, a total of 280 structured questionnaires were administered both in person and through email, to five (5) respondent categories, including CECs, CEOs, CCOs, Directors and Revenue officers. Table 4.1 breaks down the return rate for the questionnaires across the different respondent categories.

Category	Administered	Response	Non-response	Percentage (%)
CECs	6	6	0	100.0
CEOs	6	5	1	83.3
CCOs	6	6	0	100.0
Directors	6	6	0	100.0
Revenue clerks	256	239	17	93.4
Total	280	262	18	93.6

Source: Selected County Governments (2023)

As broken down, the study recorded an overall response rate of 93.6%, which was deemed excellent and adequate for inference. This is in line with Collis and Hussey (2021) who consider a return rate of 70% or higher as excellent, a rate of 60% as good and a rate of 50% as adequate. The exceptional return rate can be attributed to the hiring and training of ten research assistants who helped administer the questionnaires according to the researcher's direction and guidance. It is also attributed to the adherence to data collection protocol across the selected counties, including the presentation of both the authorization letter from the university and the NACOSTI research permit.

4.2.2 Respondent Profile

In this sub-section, the study analyzed respondents' demographic profiles, including gender, age, job titles and length of service in respective positions. Analyzing demographic profiles helps ensure that the study captures a wide range of perspectives. Gender, age, and job titles can significantly influence how individuals perceive and interact with revenue collection and automation processes. For example, younger employees might be more tech-savvy and open to automation, while older employees might have more traditional views on revenue collection methods. Gender diversity can also bring different approaches to problem-solving and decision-making within the agencies, potentially affecting the implementation and outcomes of revenue collection strategies.

Also, by considering demographic profiles, the study can ensure that the findings are representative of the broader population within county governments. This is important for generalizability, as it increases the likelihood that the results and recommendations will be applicable across different counties and contexts. Understanding the demographic makeup of respondents also helps in interpreting the results, as certain findings may be influenced by the specific characteristics of the sample population. Two pertinent descriptive statistics are employed in this regard, including frequency counts and percentage proportions. Table 4.2 presents the results.

Gender	Ν	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Male	137	52.3	52.3	52.3
Female	125	47.7	47.7	100.0
Total	262	100.0	100.0	
Age	Ν	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
20-29 years	82	31.4	31.4	31.4
30-39 years	75	28.6	28.6	59.9
40-49 years	63	24.0	24.0	84.0
Above 50 years	42	16.0	16.0	100.0
Total	262	100	100	
Title	Ν	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
CECs	6	2.3	2.3	2.3
CEOs	5	1.9	1.9	4.2
CCOs	6	2.3	2.3	6.5
Directors	6	2.3	2.3	8.8
Revenue clerks	239	91.2	91.2	100.0
Total	262	100.0	100.0	
Years in current				
position	Ν	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
1-5 years	126	48.1	48.1	48.1
6-10 years	56	21.4	21.4	69.5
11-15 years	26	9.9	9.9	79.4
15 and above years	54	20.6	20.6	100.0
Total	262	100.0	100.0	
Source: Resea	arch Data	a (2023)		

Table 4.2	Respondent Profile
-----------	---------------------------

A rather split response rate was recorded between male (52.3%) and female (47.7%) respondents implying that the study findings are equally representative of the diverse perspectives and insights pertinent to the relationship between agency revenue collection, automation and own source revenue target among selected county governments in Kenya, based on gender. The finding is in line with existing literature on gender disparities in various sectors, including governance and public administration.

King (2022) and Kabeer (2019) highlighted the importance of gender diversity in decision-making and governance, as it can lead to a more comprehensive understanding of complex issues and better policy outcomes. In this context, the nearly equal

representation of male and female respondents suggests that the study findings are more likely to reflect a holistic and balanced view of the challenges and opportunities related to revenue collection and automation in county governments. This gender balance aligns with the principles of inclusivity and equitable decision-making, which are essential in fostering effective governance and revenue management. However, further analysis should explore whether gender-specific perspectives or challenges emerge from the data to inform more targeted policy recommendations.

A diverse age demography was also reached in the study, with a majority falling between 20-29 years (31.4%), closely followed by 28.6% aged between 30 and 39 years while 24% were aged between 40 and 49 years. A further 16% were aged above 50 years. The age diversity implies a range of experiences and expectations that should be considered when implementing automation strategies, as different age groups may have varying comfort levels and adaptability to new technologies, which is critical for successful automation initiatives. Accordingly, research in the field of public administration and governance (Rainey & Steinbauer, 2019; Pitts, et al., 2019) has highlighted how generational differences can influence perspectives on technology adoption, attitudes toward change, and work-related values. The dominance of the 20-29 years age group suggests a higher likelihood of receptiveness to technology and automation, which may be beneficial for revenue collection processes in county governments.

As per the sample distribution, a majority of respondents (91.2%) were revenue officers, distantly followed by the three other job titles who recorded rather similar response rates at between 1.9% and 2.3% for CECs, CCOs, Directors and CEOs. The predominance of revenue officers in the study sample, comprising 91.2 % of the respondents, points to the

significance of understanding the perspectives of frontline staff in the context of revenue collection and automation within county governments. Existing literature in the field of public administration and local government (Frederickson & Smith, 2020; Andrews & Moynihan, 2021) has highlighted the pivotal role of lower-level employees in implementing government policies and innovations. Revenue officers, as frontline workers directly involved in revenue collection and its associated processes, can provide invaluable insights into the practical challenges and opportunities related to automation and meeting revenue targets. The smaller percentages of respondents from higher-level positions such as CECs, CCOs, Directors, and CEOs still hold significance, as their input may reflect strategic decision-making and policy perspectives, which can complement and inform the experiences and recommendations of frontline staff. Therefore, this distribution of job titles in the study sample offers a comprehensive view of how various levels of employees within county governments perceive and engage with revenue collection and automation.

A majority of respondents affirmed to having served in current respective positions for less than 5 years (48.1%), quite distantly followed by 21.4% affirming to between 6 and 10 years; then 20.7% having served for 15 years and above. Only 9.9% had served for between 11 and 15 years. The distribution of respondents based on the length of their service in their respective positions, with a majority (48.1%) having served for less than 5 years, reflects the importance of considering organizational tenure in the context of assessing revenue collection and automation. This finding resonates with research in public administration and organizational behavior (Rainey, 2021; Podsakoff et al., 2022),

which highlights the potential impact of tenure on employees' attitudes, adaptability to change, and understanding of organizational processes.

Those with shorter tenures may offer fresh perspectives and enthusiasm for technological innovations, potentially driving the adoption of automation in revenue collection. In contrast, the 20.6% who have served for 15 years or more may bring valuable experience and historical context to the study, aiding in the assessment of long-term trends and policy implications. The distribution thus ensures a balance of insights from both newer entrants and long-standing employees, enriching the study's understanding of the relationship between agency revenue collection, automation, and own source revenue attainment within county governments in Kenya.

4.3 **Presentation of Descriptive Results**

This section presents the descriptive results which are presented thematically as per the study objectives.

4.3.1 Competency of Revenue Collectors

The study sought to assess the competencies of revenue collectors among selected county governments in Kenya. To this end, respondents were asked to rate their individual levels of agreement with items posed in reference to competency of revenue collectors as applies in their respective county governments. Responses were given on a five-point Likert scale, where 1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree and 5=Strongly Agree. A mean of between 0.0 and 2.5 meant strongly disagreed while a mean of between 2.6 and 5.0 meant strongly agree. The results are as presented in Table 4.3.

		Std.				
	Mean	Deviation	Skew	ness	Kurt	osis
			Std.			Std.
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error
Achievement of county revenue targets would be possible if all revenue collection employees are trained on methods of revenue collection.	4.4821	.83797	-2.207	.146	5.661	.290
Having many years of revenue collection experience will help one achieve revenue collection target	4.0504	1.01130	924	.146	.130	.291
Attainment of revenue collection targets result from revenue collection officer effective public relations techniques.	4.3018	.83699	-1.482	.147	2.981	.293
Achievement of revenue collection targets would result through training and development in revenue collection techniques.	4.4638	.70489	-1.502	.147	3.069	.292
Training of staff on technology used in revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets	4.3273	.79077	-1.271	.146	1.975	.291
Having a code of conduct would lead to achievement of revenue targets Sensitization of staff on the	4.1795	.88742	-1.314	.147	2.489	.294
rules and regulations governing revenue collections would lead to achievement of revenue	4.2107	.87286	-1.368	.146	2.319	.290
Overall	4.288	0 849		-1.438	2.661	
Source: Research Data(202	23)	0.047		1.750	2.001	

Table 4.3Competency of Revenue Collectors

An overall mean of 4.288 was established at a standard deviation of 0.849, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of the competency of revenue collectors in their respective counties. The data was also found to be normally distributed, with both skewness (-1.438) and kurtosis (2.661) falling within the acceptable thresholds of between -1.96 and 1.96; and between -3 and 3 as per Saunders et al. (2019). A majority of participants particularly affirmed that achievement of county revenue targets would be possible if all revenue collection employees are trained on methods of revenue collection (4.4821); achievement of revenue collection targets would result through training and development in revenue collection techniques (4.3018); training of staff on technology used in revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.3273); attainment of revenue collection targets result from revenue collection officer effective public relations techniques (4.4638); and that sensitization of staff on the rules and regulations governing revenue collections would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2107).

The study findings regarding the high approval of revenue collectors' competencies in selected county governments in Kenya, with an overall mean of 4.288 and a relatively low standard deviation of 0.849, underscore the significance of skilled and competent revenue collection employees in achieving own source revenue targets. The findings contradict Salman et al., (2020) who discovered that self-competence had a considerable detrimental impact on performance, but are in line with previous research in the field of public administration and revenue management (Haryono et al., 2020; Manik & Syafrina, 2018), which emphasizes the importance of human capital and training in enhancing the effectiveness of revenue collection. The participants' strong agreement that training in revenue collection methods, techniques, technology, public relations, and regulatory compliance are critical factors for achieving revenue targets aligns with the idea that competent and well-trained revenue collectors are better equipped to adapt to changing revenue collection methods, foster positive relationships with taxpayers, and ensure

compliance with relevant regulations, ultimately leading to improved revenue collection outcomes.

4.3.2 Stakeholder Engagement

The study also set out to assess stakeholder engagement among selected county governments in Kenya. To realize this objective, respondents were required to rate their individual levels of agreement with items posed in reference to stakeholder engagement as applies in their respective county governments. Responses were given on a five-point Likert scale, where 1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree and 5=Strongly Agree. A mean of between 0.0 and 2.5 meant strongly disagreed while a mean of between 2.6 and 5.0 meant strongly agree. Results are as presented in Table 4.4.

		Std.				
	Mean	Dev	Skew	ness	Kurt	osis
				Std.		Std.
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error
Taxpayer sensitization on their need to pay county taxes would lead to achievement of revenue targets	4.3827	.80180	-1.694	.146	3.869	.292
Consultation with Commission on Revenue Allocation when						
setting taxes and levies would lead to achievement of revenue targets	3.9422	.94231	879	.146	.586	.292
Consultation with the Office of the Controller of Budget for						
review of targets would lead to the achievement of revenue	3.8602	.98468	741	.146	.166	.291
Consultation with The National Treasury on target setting and forecasting would lead to achievement of revenue targets	3.8917	.95696	656	.146	004	.292
Communication with taxpayers through simple and easy to access channels of communication like SMS, public notices and barazas would lead to achievement of revenue targets	4.3237	.79453	-1.343	.146	2.252	.291
Sensitization to taxpayers on county levies upon amendment of the Finance Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets	4.1942	.89020	-1.598	.146	3.739	.291
Preparation of statutory reports to CRA, OCOB and National	2 8017	1 0 1 0 2 0	1 1 2 5	146	1 2 1 9	202
targets	3.891/	1.01929	-1.125	.140	1.318	.292
Submission of statutory reports to CRA, OCOB and National						
Treasury within timelines would lead to achievement of revenue targets	3.6942	1.11603	818	.146	.070	.291
Scheduled public participations and consultative meetings before amendment of Finance Act would lead to achievement of revenue	4 1362	91121	-1 394	146	2 3 2 4	291
targets	1.1502	.91121	1.571	.110	2.521	.291
Incorporating taxpayers inputs when amending the Finance Act would lead to revenue target	4.2059	.94199	-1.783	.148	4.463	.294
Commission on Revenue Allocation and Office of the Controller						
of Budget feedback on proposals on revenue raising measures	3.9527	.95975	853	.147	.532	.293
Direct communication by taxpayers to the county government	2 0 9 2 1	1.00002	1 1 4 7	146	924	201
would lead to achievement of revenue targets	3.9821	1.06093	-1.14/	.146	.824	.291
Complaint handling procedure for tax disputes would lead to achievement of revenue targets	4.1769	.84341	966	.146	.861	.292
Total	4.049	0.940	-1.154		1.615	

Table 4.4 Stakeholder Engagement

An overall mean of 4.049 was established at a standard deviation of 0.940, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of stakeholder engagement in their respective counties. The data was also found to be normally distributed, with both skewness (-1.154) and kurtosis (1.615) falling within the acceptable thresholds of between -1.96 and 1.96; and between -3 and 3 as per Saunders et al. (2019). A majority of participants particularly affirmed that taxpayer sensitization on their need to pay county taxes would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.3827); communication with taxpayers through simple and easy to access channels of communication like SMS, public notices and barazas would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.3237); and that sensitization to taxpayers on county levies upon amendment of the Finance Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1942).

The study's findings, with an overall mean of 4.049 and a standard deviation of 0.940, indicate that a significant majority of participants highly value stakeholder engagement in the context of achieving own source revenue targets in selected Kenyan county governments. These results align with the growing body of literature on the importance of stakeholder engagement in public administration and revenue management (Mulgan, 2020; Osborne, 2020). The participants' strong agreement that taxpayer sensitization, effective communication channels, and awareness of changes in county levies play a crucial role in revenue target supports the notion that active engagement with stakeholders, particularly taxpayers, can foster compliance, transparency, and trust.

This, in turn, can enhance revenue collection by promoting cooperation and ensuring that stakeholders are well-informed about their tax obligations, ultimately contributing to the achievement of revenue targets.

4.3.3 Regulatory Compliance

The study further examined regulatory compliance among selected county governments in Kenya. To this end, respondents were asked to rate their individual levels of agreement with items posed in reference to regulatory compliance as applies in their respective county governments. Responses were given on a five-point Likert scale, where 1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree and 5=Strongly Agree. A mean of between 0.0 and 2.5 meant strongly disagreed while a mean of between 2.6 and 5.0 meant strongly agree. Results are as presented in Table 4.5.

	Mean	Std. Dev	Skewn	Skewness		osis
				Std.		Std.
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error
Presence of approved policies, rules and						
regulations governing revenue collection would	4.2122	.83359	-1.169	.146	1.723	.291
lead to achievement of revenue targets						
Amendments to the County Finance Acts to						
comply with legislations governing specific	1 1362	83714	1 373	146	3 5 1 8	201
revenue streams like Trade Licensing Act	4.1302	.03/14	-1.575	.140	5.510	.291
would lead to achievement of revenue targets						
Adherence to legislation setting up the						
structures of revenue sections or agencies with						
regard to human resource and financial	4.0179	.88579	876	.146	.838	.290
autonomy of the agencies or boards would lead						
to achievement of revenue targets						
Presence of primary revenue administration						
laws for all revenue streams would lead to	4.0681	.85601	686	.146	132	.291
achievement of revenue targets						
Primary revenue administration laws drafted in						
consultation and collaboration with the National	3 7814	1 02076	- 838	146	353	291
Government would lead to achievement of	5.7014	1.02070	.050	.140	.555	.271
revenue targets						
Consultative legislative drafting and review of						
revenue administration laws before approval	4.0036	.94849	-1.149	.146	1.324	.290
would lead to achievement of revenue targets						
Publishing of revenue administration laws in the						
local media and notice boards would lead to	4.0536	.97311	-1.189	.146	1.433	.290
achievement of revenue targets						
Publicizing of the revenue laws before						
implementation in local radio stations and	4 0071	1 01598	-1 130	146	1 042	290
county websites would lead to achievement of	110071	1101290	1.120		110 12	.290
revenue targets						
Annual review of the Finance Act to capture						
changes in the economic outlook in the County	4.1964	.93555	-1.459	.146	2.599	.290
would lead to achievement of revenue targets						
Overall	4.053	0.923	-1.097		1.411	
Source: Research Data (2023)						

Table 4.5Regulatory Compliance

An overall mean of 4.053 was established at a standard deviation of 0.923, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of regulatory compliance in their respective counties. The data was also found to be normally distributed, with both skewness (-1.097) and kurtosis (1.411) falling within the acceptable thresholds of between -1.96 and 1.96; and between -3 and 3 as per Saunders et al. (2019). A majority of participants particularly affirmed that annual review of the Finance Act to capture changes in the economic outlook in the County would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2290); presence of approved policies, rules and regulations governing revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2122); amendments to the County Finance Acts to comply with legislations governing specific revenue streams like Trade Licensing Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1362); Presence of primary revenue administration laws for all revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.0681); and that Publishing of revenue administration laws in the local media and notice boards would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.0536).

The study's findings, with an overall mean of 4.053 and a standard deviation of 0.923, reflect the strong endorsement of regulatory compliance in the context of achieving own source revenue targets in selected Kenyan county governments. These results resonate with the extensive literature emphasizing the critical role of regulatory frameworks and compliance in public revenue management (Bird & Zolt, 2022; Shah, 2021).

The participants' agreement that elements such as regular review of finance acts, approved policies and regulations, compliance with relevant legislations, and transparent dissemination of revenue administration laws contribute to revenue target aligns with the idea that a clear and well-regulated fiscal environment fosters tax compliance, reduces tax evasion, and bolsters revenue collection. This points to the importance of a robust legal and regulatory framework in optimizing revenue collection for local governments.

4.3.4 Revenue Management

The study set out to assess revenue management among selected county governments in Kenya. To address this objective, participants were asked to rate their individual levels of agreement with items posed in reference to regulatory compliance as applies in their respective county governments. Responses were given on a five-point Likert scale, where 1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree and 5=Strongly Agree. A mean of between 0.0 and 2.5 meant strongly disagreed while a mean of between 2.6 and 5.0 meant strongly agree. Results are as presented in Table 4.6.

		Std.				
	Mean	Deviation	Skewi	ness	Kurt	osis
				Std.		Std.
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error
Daily Reconciliations of revenue collected	4 1864	89826	-1 366	146	2 221	291
would lead to achievement of revenue targets	4.1004	.07020	1.500	.140	2.221	.271
Scheduled Internal audit and checks on						
revenue collected would lead to achievement	4.1913	.96845	-1.718	.146	3.934	.292
of revenue targets						
Weekly analysis on key revenue streams						
performance would lead to achievement of	4.2982	.73383	-1.091	.147	1.791	.293
revenue targets						
Maintenance of separate revenue collection						
accounts for revenue streams would lead to	3.7849	1.10117	884	.146	.356	.291
achievement of revenue targets						
Trend analysis on revenue collected used in						
budget forecasting would lead to	3.9607	.98841	-1.132	.146	1.414	.290
achievement of revenue targets						
Special audits on under-performing revenue						
streams would lead to achievement of	3.9821	.97617	-1.132	.146	1.257	.291
revenue targets						
Scheduled Rapid Results Initiatives on						
revenue collection would lead to	4.0935	.92998	-1.462	.146	3.253	.291
achievement of revenue targets						
Revenue accounting system capable of						
analyzing revenue performance trends would	4.1227	.85089	-1.268	.146	2.668	.292
lead to achievement of revenue targets						
Revenue accounting system capable of						
revenue reconciliation through third party	4 0072	88551	- 922	146	955	291
confirmation would lead to achievement of	4.0072	.00551)22	.140	.)55	.271
revenue targets						
Compatible revenue accounting and county						
government financial reporting system like	3 9713	98509	-1 239	146	1 664	291
IFMIS would lead to achievement of revenue	5.9715	.90509	1.237	.140	1.004	.271
targets						
Overall	4.060	0.932	-1.221		1.951	
Source: Research Data (2023)						

Table 4.6Revenue Management

An overall mean of 4.060 was established at a standard deviation of 0.932, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of revenue management in their respective counties. The data was also found to be normally distributed, with both skewness (-1.221) and kurtosis (1.951) falling within the acceptable thresholds of between –1.96 and 1.96; and between -3 and 3 as per Saunders et al. (2019). A majority of participants particularly affirmed that weekly analysis on key revenue streams performance would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2982); daily reconciliations of revenue collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1864); scheduled internal audit and checks on revenue collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1913); revenue accounting system capable of analyzing revenue performance trends would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1227); and that scheduled rapid results initiatives on revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.0935).

The findings of the study, showed that majority of participants strongly affirm the importance of various revenue management in achieving own source revenue targets in Kenyan county governments, align with the existing literature on effective revenue management and fiscal administration (Shibia & Barako, 2015; Kanyinga, 2016). The participants' agreement on the significance of weekly revenue stream analysis, daily reconciliations, internal audits, advanced revenue accounting systems, and rapid results initiatives highlights the crucial role of efficient revenue management techniques. These practices are known to enhance transparency, accountability, and the ability to identify and address revenue leakage, all of which are essential for achieving revenue targets. The study's results underscore the importance of adopting best practices in revenue

management to optimize revenue collection and ensure fiscal sustainability within local government contexts.

4.3.5 Revenue Collection Automation

The study set out to assess revenue collection automation among selected county governments in Kenya. To this end, participants were asked to rate their individual levels of agreement with items posed in reference to revenue collection automation as applies in their respective county governments. Responses were given on a five-point Likert scale, where "1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree and 5=Strongly Agree." A mean of between 0.0 and 2.5 meant strongly disagreed while a mean of between 2.6 and 5.0 meant strongly agree. Results are as presented in Table 4.7.

		Std.				
	Mean Deviation Skewness				Kurt	osis
				Std.		Std.
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error
Web Based systems for revenue						
automation would lead to achievement	4.1115	.90235	935	.146	.620	.291
of revenue targets						
Automated system for taxpayer						
registration would lead to achievement	4.2509	.87004	-1.468	.146	2.940	.291
of revenue targets						
Automated registration that alert the						
county government on dormant accounts	1 0068	1 02204	1 2 1 5	146	1 5 1 7	201
that are not compliant would lead to	4.0908	1.02204	-1.515	.140	1.317	.291
achievement of revenue targets						
Automated system for taxpayer filing of						
tax obligation for structured revenue	4 1254	0/195	1 164	146	1.070	201
streams like property rates would lead to	4.1234	.94185	-1.104	.140	1.070	.291
achievement of revenue targets						
Automated system for payment of tax						
obligation through use of USSD or	4 1226	05607	040	146	806	201
mobile money would lead to	4.1320	.03002	949	.140	.800	.291
achievement of revenue targets						
Technological upgrade for revenue						
collection to include emerging revenue	1 2427	<u> 00701</u>	1 2 2 9	146	2 5 4 4	201
sources and streams would lead to	4.2437	.00/04	-1.556	.140	2.344	.291
achievement of revenue targets						
Scheduled software reviews and updates						
would lead to achievement of revenue	4.1898	.76108	736	.147	.272	.293
targets						
Electronic receipting of all revenues						
collected would lead to achievement of	4.2294	.86357	-1.035	.146	.620	.291
revenue targets						
E-government strategy governing						
revenue collection would lead to	4.0538	1.04261	-1.374	.146	1.839	.291
achievement of revenue targets						
Overall	4.159	0.896	-1.146		1.359	
Source: Research Data (2024)						

Table 4.7Revenue Collection Automation

An overall mean of 4.159 was established at a standard deviation of 0.896, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of revenue collection automation in their respective counties. The data was also found to be normally distributed, with both skewness (-1.146) and kurtosis (1.359) falling within the acceptable thresholds of between –1.96 and 1.96; and between -3 and 3 as per Saunders et al. (2019). A majority of participants particularly affirmed that automated system for taxpayer registration would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2509); technological upgrade for revenue collection to include emerging revenue sources and streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2294); scheduled software reviews and updates would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1898); and that automated system for taxpayer filing of tax obligation for structured revenue streams like property rates would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1254).

The study's findings, with an overall mean of 4.159 and a standard deviation of 0.896, suggest strong support among participants for the moderating effect of revenue collection automation on achieving own source revenue targets in Kenyan county governments. Similarly, Ndonye (2018) discovered that consumers looking for services find it challenging to submit online applications because they do not have the appropriate technological knowledge. The research also identified a number of obstacles to revenue collection, including the lack of an automated system of revenue collecting, inadequate ICT infrastructure inside the ministry, and staff resistance to change. The participants' agreement that automated systems for taxpayer registration, technological upgrades, electronic receipting, software reviews, and taxpayer filing for structured revenue streams

can contribute to revenue target highlights the transformative potential of technology in enhancing efficiency, reducing administrative burdens, and improving compliance. The study's results emphasize the importance of embracing automation as a valuable tool in optimizing revenue collection processes and achieving fiscal objectives in county governments.

4.3.6 Own Source Revenue Target

The study finally sought to evaluate own source revenue target across the counties surveyed. To this end, participants were asked to rate their individual levels of agreement with items posed in reference to own source revenue target as applies in their respective county governments. Responses were given on a five-point Likert scale, where 1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree and 5=Strongly Agree. A mean of between 0.0 and 2.5 meant strongly disagreed while a mean of between 2.6 and 5.0 meant strongly agree. Results are as presented in Table 4.8.

		Std.				
	Mean	Deviation	Skewi	ness	Kurt	osis
				Std.		Std.
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error
The county government forecasted						
revenue for every financial cycle	1 1 2 2 2	86204	1 226	146	2 070	201
covering all revenue streams would	4.1223	.80204	-1.220	.140	2.079	.291
lead to achievement of revenue targets						
The county government has a						
structured method of forecasting the	4.1159	.79610	995	.147	1.514	.292
revenue targets						
The forecasted revenues are used in the	4 0045	04665	1 204	147	1 277	202
preparation of the county budget	4.0943	.94003	-1.204	.14/	1.277	.293
Revenue collected is reviewed daily						
and weekly to check on progress	4.2924	.77393	-1.125	.146	1.481	.292
towards achievement of revenue targets						
Monitoring and evaluation has been						
done annually to check on revenues	1 2222	84014	1 3 1 0	146	2 2 2 1	201
collected would lead to achievement of	7.2222	.04014	-1.519	.140	2.331	.291
revenue targets						
The county government maintains a						
revenue arrears register for all revenue	4 1295	88578	_1 512	146	4 097	201
streams would lead to achievement of	т.1275	.00570	-1.312	.170	т.077	.271
revenue targets						
The county government offering						
waivers on penalties and interest on						
outstanding amounts of property rates	4.0288	.98686	-1.057	.146	.844	.291
would lead to achievement of revenue						
targets						
Revenue arrears collected is part of the	1 1 2 6 7	06660	1 / 1 2	146	2 067	201
revenue target every year	4.1307	.90000	-1.413	.140	2.007	.291
Overall	4.143	0.882	-1.231		1.961	
Source: Research Data (2023)						

Table 4.8Own Source Revenue Target

An overall mean of 4.143 was established at a standard deviation of 0.882, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of own source revenue target in their respective counties. The data was also found to be normally distributed, with both skewness (-1.231) and kurtosis (1.961) falling within the acceptable thresholds of between -1.96 and 1.96; and between -3 and 3 as per Saunders et al. (2019). A majority of participants particularly affirmed that revenue collected is reviewed daily and weekly to check on progress towards achievement of revenue targets (4.2924); monitoring and evaluation has been done annually to check on revenues collected (4.2222); Revenue arrears collected is part of the revenue target every year (4.1367); the county government maintains a revenue arrears register for all revenue streams (4.1295); and that the county government forecasted revenue for every financial cycle covering all revenue streams (4.1223). The study's findings, with an overall mean of 4.143 and a standard deviation of 0.882, indicate strong approval among participants regarding the achievement of own source revenue targets in the surveyed counties.

The study further employed a secondary data extraction tool to determine OSR performance across the selected counties, by assessing the budgeted vis-à-vis the actual OSR collections across the three-year period (FY 2019/2020 TO 2021/2022). Table 4.9 summarizes the results.

Financial year	2()19/2020		2020/2021			2021/2022		
County Government	Target	Actual	% score	Target	Actual	% score	Target	Actual	% score
Nairobi	17,002	8,523	50.1	16,209	9,958	61.4	17,505	10,237	58.5
Meru	705	383	54.3	600	435	72.5	600	418	69.8
Kakamega	1,666	1,180	70.8	1,656	1,118	67.5	1,942	1,309	67.4
Kericho	711	473	66.5	654	595	91.0	1,019	501	49.2
Narok	2,397	2,345	97.8	1,405	618	44.0	4,204	3,061	72.8
Nakuru	2,100	1,354	64.5	1,800	1,628	90.4	2,280	1,611	70.7

 Table 4.9
 Budgeted Versus Actual Own Source Revenue Collection (Kshs M)

Source: Office of Controller of Budget (2023)

As presented in Table 4.9, overall, the performance of these counties varied significantly over the three years. Some counties, like Narok and Nakuru, demonstrated strong performance in specific years but faced challenges in others. Kericho showed a dramatic decline in performance in FY 2021/2022 after a strong performance in FY 2020/2021. Meanwhile, Nairobi, Meru, and Kakamega counties exhibited moderate performance, with gradual improvements or stability in their scores. These fluctuations highlight the need for counties to identify and address the factors influencing their OSR collection performance to achieve more consistent results

Over the three-year period, Nairobi County consistently underperformed in meeting its OSR targets. In FY 2019/2020, the county achieved only 50.1% of its target, collecting Kshs 8,523 million against a target of Kshs 17,002 million. There was a slight improvement in FY 2020/2021, with the county achieving 61.4% of its target after

collecting Kshs 9,958 million. However, this progress was not sustained, as the percentage score slightly dropped to 58.5% in FY 2021/2022, despite an increase in the target to Kshs 17,505 million. Overall, while there were efforts to improve, Nairobi struggled to meet its revenue targets consistently.

Meru County exhibited moderate performance across the three years. In FY 2019/2020, the county achieved 54.3% of its OSR target, collecting Kshs 383 million against a target of Kshs 705 million. The following year, FY 2020/2021, saw a significant improvement with a 72.5% score, as actual collections reached Kshs 435 million against a slightly reduced target of Kshs 600 million. However, in FY 2021/2022, the performance slightly declined to 69.8%, with actual collections of Kshs 418 million. Although there was a noticeable improvement from the first year, Meru County faced challenges in maintaining higher levels of OSR target.

Kakamega County showed relatively stable performance in meeting its OSR targets, though with slight fluctuations. In FY 2019/2020, the county collected Kshs 1,180 million against a target of Kshs 1,666 million, resulting in a 70.8% score. The following year, FY 2020/2021, saw a slight decline, with the county achieving 67.5% of its target after collecting Kshs 1,118 million. This trend continued in FY 2021/2022, with a marginally lower score of 67.4%, despite an increased target of Kshs 1,942 million. Overall, Kakamega maintained a consistent performance, though it faced challenges in improving its revenue collection outcomes.

Kericho County's performance in OSR collection was marked by significant fluctuations. In FY 2019/2020, the county achieved a 66.5% score, collecting Kshs 473 million against a target of Kshs 711 million. There was a substantial improvement in FY 2020/2021, with the county nearly meeting its target, achieving a 91.0% score after collecting Kshs 595 million. However, this progress was not sustained, as performance dramatically declined in FY 2021/2022 to 49.2%, with the county collecting only Kshs 501 million against a target of Kshs 1,019 million. This decline underscores the volatility in Kericho's revenue collection.

Narok County experienced both high and low performance levels over the three years. In FY 2019/2020, the county almost met its OSR target, achieving a 97.8% score with actual collections of Kshs 2,345 million against a target of Kshs 2,397 million. However, FY 2020/2021 saw a significant drop in performance, with the county collecting only Kshs 618 million, resulting in a 44.0% score. The situation improved in FY 2021/2022, with the county achieving a 72.8% score after collecting Kshs 3,061 million against a much higher target of Kshs 4,204 million. Narok's performance illustrates a recovery after a sharp decline, though it did not reach the levels of the first year.

Nakuru County demonstrated a mix of moderate and strong performance across the three years. In FY 2019/2020, the county collected Kshs 1,354 million against a target of Kshs 2,100 million, achieving a 64.5% score. Performance significantly improved in FY 2020/2021, with the county reaching 90.4% of its target after collecting Kshs 1,628 million. However, in FY 2021/2022, the performance slightly declined to 70.7%, with actual collections of Kshs 1,611 million against an increased target of Kshs 2,280 million. Nakuru showed strong progress in the second year but faced challenges in maintaining that momentum in the subsequent year.

These results align with the extensive literature on effective revenue management and fiscal administration, emphasizing the importance of robust financial planning and

monitoring (Shah, 2021; McLure & Martinez-Vazquez, 2022). The participants' agreement that regular reviews of revenue collection progress, annual monitoring and evaluation, inclusion of revenue arrears in revenue targets, maintenance of comprehensive revenue arrears registers, and accurate revenue forecasting are key to achieving revenue targets points to the significance of sound fiscal management practices. These findings highlight the critical role of effective revenue target setting, tracking, and evaluation in local government fiscal sustainability and underscore the importance of aligning revenue management with best practices in public financial management.

4.4 Inferential Statistics

This section discusses the findings of the inferential statistic obtained from the study.

4.4.1 Pearson Correlation Analysis

According to Creswell and Guetterman (2019), Pearson correlation analysis is a fundamental statistical technique for assessing the strength, direction, and significance of the linear association between two continuous variables. The importance of Pearson correlation analysis lies in its ability to provide valuable insights into the nature and magnitude of these associations (Saunders et al., 2019). By quantifying the degree of correlation, researchers can gauge the strength of the relationships between variables, helping them identify which predictors have a more substantial impact on own source revenue target. Moreover, the analysis informs about the direction of the relationships, whether they are positive or negative (Sekaran & Bougie, 2019). In this study, Pearson correlation analysis was conducted at 95% confidence level, with a view to establish the

strength, direction and significance of the association between own source revenue target and each of the five predictors, that is competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance, revenue management and revenue collection automation.

		Own					
		Source	Competency				Revenue
		Revenue	of Revenue	Stakeholder	Regulatory	Revenue	Collection
		Target	Collectors	Engagement	Compliance	Management	Automation
Own Source Revenue	Pearson Correlation	1	.545**	.608**	.703**	.669**	.690**
Target	Sig. (2- tailed)		.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
Competency of Revenue	Pearson Correlation	.545**	1	.660**	.675**	.577**	.605**
Collectors	Sig. (2- tailed)	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000
Stakeholder Engagement	Pearson Correlation	.608**	.660**	1	.763**	.734**	.593**
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000
Regulatory Compliance	Pearson Correlation	.703**	.675**	.763**	1	.767**	.687**
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000
Revenue Management	Pearson Correlation	.669**	.577**	.734**	.767**	1	.672**
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000		.000
Revenue Collection	Pearson Correlation	.690**	.605**	.593**	.687**	.672**	1
Automation	Sig. (2- tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	

Table 4.10Pearson Correlation Analysis

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Source: Survey Data (2023)

The study established strong, positive and significant relationship between own source revenue target and agency revenue collection as indicated by competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance and revenue management; and revenue collection automation. The strongest correlation was established between own source revenue target and regulatory compliance (r=0.703; sig. <0.05); followed by Revenue Collection Automation (r=0.690; sig. <0.05); revenue management (r=0.669; sig. <0.05); stakeholder engagement (r=0.608; sig. <0.05); and competency of revenue collectors (r=0.545; Sig. <0.05). While the study noted high correlation coefficients between independent variables, including Regulatory Compliance and Revenue Management (.767); Stakeholder Engagement and Regulatory Compliance (.763); and Stakeholder Engagement and Revenue Management (.734), multicollinearity diagnostics confirmed no problem of multicollinearity in the dataset.

The study's findings, which reveal strong, positive, and significant relationships between own source revenue target and various predictors, align with established literature on revenue management, public finance, and governance. The positive correlations are indicative of the potential effectiveness of these factors in improving own source revenue target among county governments, which is essential for fiscal sustainability and public service delivery. The strongest correlation observed with revenue collection automation points to the growing importance of technology in enhancing revenue collection processes, in line with modernization trends in public finance (Bird & Smart, 2022). Additionally, the significant relationships identified between regulatory compliance and revenue management with own source revenue achievement support the notion that adherence to legal and regulatory frameworks and effective financial planning are key contributors to revenue success (Jain, 2019; Besley & Persson, 2019). The findings also highlight the relevance of stakeholder engagement in local revenue collection, reinforcing the idea that building positive relationships with taxpayers is essential for compliance and revenue generation (Mookerjee, 2022). The study's strong correlations between these factors and own source revenue target emphasize their practical significance and provide valuable insights for policymakers and administrators in county governments seeking to enhance their revenue performance.

4.5 Test of Hypotheses

Regression analysis is a powerful statistical method that was employed in this study to test hypotheses and explore the relationships between multiple predictor variables and the dependent variable, own source revenue target, within the context of selected county governments in Kenya. This rigorous analysis was conducted at a 95% confidence level, a commonly accepted threshold for statistical significance. It allowed the researcher to investigate how variations in competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance, revenue management, and revenue collection automation influence the achievement of revenue targets; as the interactive effect of revenue collection automation with agency revenue collection variables and its effect thereof on the relationship between agency revenue collection and own source revenue targets. By applying regression analysis, the study aimed to provide a deeper understanding of the factors that drive revenue collection efficiency and effectiveness, offering valuable insights for decision-makers in the public sector and contributing to the body of knowledge in the field of public finance and governance. Regression analysis was also used to test the stated hypotheses.

4.5.1 Competency of Revenue Collectors and own source revenue targets

The first null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_01). To test this hypothesis, a simple linear regression was conducted, producing three outputs including model summary, ANOVA and coefficients.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.545 ^a	.297	.294	3.92633
a. Predictors	: (Constant), Con	mpetency of Re	venue Collectors	

Table 4.11Model Summary for Model I

b. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

A correlation coefficient of 0.545 was established, implying a strong linear relationship between competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue target. An R square of 0.297 was also established, implying that competency of revenue collectors accounts for a notable 29.7% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 70.3% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model.

The strong positive correlation between the competency of revenue collectors and OSR target aligns with findings from existing studies that emphasize the critical role of human capital in public finance management. The R square value of 0.297 suggests that while competency is an important factor, it is not the sole determinant of OSR target. This finding is consistent with the literature that recognizes multiple determinants of revenue

collection performance. Johnson and Müller (2020), for example, found that factors such as the adoption of technology, stakeholder engagement, regulatory frameworks, and institutional governance also play significant roles in determining revenue outcomes. Their research on local governments in Germany indicated that even with highly competent revenue collectors, OSR targets could be undermined by weak governance structures or poor technological integration. Studies like those by Park and Lee (2022) in South Korea have demonstrated that integrating advanced revenue management systems, enhancing stakeholder participation, and ensuring regulatory compliance are crucial in complementing the efforts of competent revenue collectors. Their research indicated that comprehensive strategies that combine human capital development with technological and regulatory enhancements tend to yield better revenue outcomes.

		Sum of				
Model	1	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	1658.795	1	1658.795	107.602	$.000^{b}$
	Residual	3931.088	255	15.416		
	Total	5589.883	256			

Table 4.12ANOVA Statistics for Model I

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Competency of Revenue Collectors

Source: Research Data (2024)

ANOVA statistics was found to be significant (F=107.602, Sig. <0.05), implying that the regression model adopted was statistically significant, and can be relied upon to make further inferences. The regression Sum of Squares was recorded at 1658.795 out of 5589.883, further confirming that competency of revenue collectors accounts for a notable 29.7% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 70.3% is

accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model as indicated by the residual sum of squares (3931.088).

		Unstand	lardized	Standardized		
		Coefficients		Coefficients		
Mode	el	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	14.258	1.859		7.672	.000
	Competency of	.635	.061	.545	10.373	.000
	Revenue Collectors	.635	.061	.545	10.373	.000

Table 4.13Coefficients for Model I

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2024)

A beta coefficient of .635 was recorded in competency of revenue collectors, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in competency of revenue collectors would result in .635 change in own source revenue target. The finding was also significant at 95% confidence level (Sig. <0.05), indicating that competency of revenue collectors has a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target. The study thus rejects the first null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀1).

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 14.258 + .635 (competency of revenue collectors).

The beta coefficient of .635 in competencies of revenue collectors signifies the strength and direction of the relationship between competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue target in the context of selected county governments in Kenya. Therefore, the statistically significant relationship between competency on revenue target ($\beta = .635$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05) emphasizes the practical importance of investing in the training and development of revenue collection personnel within county governments.

4.5.2 Stakeholder Engagement and own source revenue targets

The second null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between stakeholders' engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_02). To test this hypothesis, a simple linear regression was also conducted:

Model R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Estimate
1 .608ª	.369	.367	3.87886

Table 4.14Model Summary for Model II

a. Predictors: (Constant), Stakeholder Engagement

b. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

A correlation coefficient of 0.608 was established, implying a strong linear relationship between stakeholders' engagement and own source revenue target. An R square of 0.369 was also established, implying that stakeholders' engagement accounts for a notable 36.9% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 63.1% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model.

Sum of							
Model		Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	
1	Regression	2202.467	1	2202.467	146.387	.000 ^b	
	Residual	3761.387	250	15.046			
	Total	5963.853	251				

Table 4.15ANOVA for Model II

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Stakeholder Engagement

Source: Research Data (2023)

ANOVA statistics was found to be significant (F=146.387, Sig. <0.05), implying that the regression model adopted was statistically significant, and can be relied upon to make further inferences. The regression Sum of Squares was recorded at 2202.467 out of 5963.853, further confirming that stakeholders' engagement accounts for a notable 36.9% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 63.1% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model as indicated by the residual sum of squares (3761.387).

		Unstand Coeff	lardized icients	Standardized Coefficients		
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	13.269	1.673		7.933	.000
	Stakeholder	.380	.031	.608	12.099	.000
	Engagement					

Table 4.16Coefficients for Model II

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)
A beta coefficient of .380 was recorded in stakeholders' engagement, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in stakeholders' engagement would result in .380 change in own source revenue target. The finding was also significant at 95% confidence level (Sig. <0.05), indicating that stakeholders' engagement has a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target. The study thus rejects the second null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between stakeholders' engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀2).

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_2 X_2$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 13.269 + .380 (stakeholders' engagement).

The beta coefficient of .380 representing the influence of stakeholder engagement on own source revenue target, along with its statistical significance at a 95% confidence level, highlights the pivotal role of engaging stakeholders in the context of county governments in Kenya. The rejection of the null hypothesis (H₀2) points to the practical significance of stakeholders' engagement as a factor that significantly influences own source revenue target ($\beta = .380$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05).

4.5.3 Regulatory Compliance and own source revenue targets

The third null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_03). To test this hypothesis, a simple linear regression was also conducted:

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.703 ^a	.494	.492	3.44719
a. Predictors	: (Constant), Reg	gulatory Compl	iance	
b. Dependen	t Variable: Own	Source Revenu	ie Target	

Table	4.17	Mode	l Summar	y for	Moo	del	Π	I
-------	------	------	----------	-------	-----	-----	---	---

Source: Research Data (2023)

A correlation coefficient of 0.703 was established, implying a strong linear relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue target. An R square of 0.494 was also established, implying that regulatory compliance accounts for a notable 49.4% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 50.6% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model.

Table 4.18ANOVA for Model III

Mode	el	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	3064.209	1	3064.209	257.862	.000 ^b
	Residual	3137.145	264	11.883		
	Total	6201.353	265			

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Regulatory Compliance

Source: Research Data (2023)

ANOVA statistics was found to be significant (F=257.862, Sig. <0.05), implying that the regression model adopted was statistically significant, and can be relied upon to make further inferences. The regression Sum of Squares was recorded at 3064.209 out of 6201.353, further confirming that regulatory compliance accounts for a notable 49.4% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 50.6% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model as indicated by the residual sum of squares (3137.145).

		Unstand Coeff	Unstandardized Coefficients			
Mod	lel	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	12.296	1.320		9.316	.000
	Regulatory Compliance	.572	.036	.703	16.058	.000

Table 4.19Coefficients for Model III

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

A beta coefficient of .572 was recorded in regulatory compliance, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in regulatory compliance would result in .572 change in own source revenue target. The finding was also significant at 95% confidence level (Sig. <0.05), indicating that regulatory compliance has a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target. The study thus rejects the third null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between

regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_03).

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_3 X_3$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 12.296 + .570 (Regulatory compliance).

The beta coefficient of .570 illustrating the impact of regulatory compliance on own source revenue target, coupled with its statistical significance at a 95% confidence level ($\beta = .570$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05), underlines the critical role of adhering to regulatory frameworks in the revenue collection process within county governments in Kenya. The rejection of the null hypothesis (H₀3) points to the practical importance of regulatory compliance as a key determinant of own source revenue target, suggesting that county governments should focus on strengthening their regulatory and legal frameworks to enhance revenue collection and promote fiscal sustainability.

4.5.4 Revenue Management and own source revenue targets

The fourth null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_04). To test this hypothesis, a simple linear regression was also conducted:

				Std. Error of the
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Estimate
1	.669 ^a	.447	.445	3.55406
a. Predictors	: (Constant), Rev	venue Managen	nent	

Table 4.20Model Summary for Model IV

b. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

A correlation coefficient of 0.669 was established, implying a strong linear relationship between revenue management and own source revenue target. An R square of 0.447 was also established, implying that revenue management accounts for a notable 44.7% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 55.3% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model.

Sum of						
Mod	lel	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	2636.323	1	2636.323	208.712	.000 ^b
	Residual	3258.893	258	12.631		
	Total	5895.215	259			

Table 4.21ANOVA for Model IV

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Revenue Management

Source: Research Data (2024)

ANOVA statistics was found to be significant (F=208.712, Sig. <0.05), implying that the regression model adopted was statistically significant, and can be relied upon to make further inferences. The regression Sum of Squares was recorded at 2636.323 out of 5895.215, further confirming that revenue management accounts for a notable 44.7% of

the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 55.3% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model as indicated by the residual sum of squares (3258.893).

		Unstand Coeff	lardized icients	Standardized Coefficients		
Mode	el	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	12.194	1.473		8.277	.000
	Revenue Management	.517	.036	.669	14.447	.000

Table 4.22Coefficients for Model IV

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

A beta coefficient of .517 was recorded in revenue management, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in revenue management would result in .517 change in own source revenue target. The finding was also significant at 95% confidence level (Sig. <0.05), indicating that revenue management has a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target. The study thus rejects the third null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀4).

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_4 X_4$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 12.194 + .517 (Revenue management).

The beta coefficient of .517, along with its statistical significance at a 95% confidence level ($\beta = .517$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05), highlights the substantial influence of effective revenue management on own source revenue target within county governments in Kenya.

4.5.5 Agency Revenue Collection and Own Source Revenue Target

A multiple regression analysis was conducted to assess the relationship between agency revenue collection as indicated by competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance and revenue management. Three outputs were further produced, including a model summary, ANOVA and Coefficients.

Table 4.23 Model Sum	mary for Model V
----------------------	------------------

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson
1	.734 ^a	.539	.531	3.25503	.734 ^a

a. Predictors: (Constant), Revenue Management, Competency of Revenue Collectors, Stakeholder Engagement, Regulatory Compliance

b. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

A correlation coefficient of .734 was established, implying a strong linear relationship between own source revenue target and agency revenue collection as indicated by competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance and revenue management. An R square of .539 was also established, implying that agency revenue collection accounts for a notable 53.9% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 46.1% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model.

Mod	lel	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	2886.775	4	721.694	68.115	.000 ^b
	Residual	2468.687	233	10.595		
	Total	5355.462	237			

Table 4.24ANOVA for Model V

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Revenue Management, Competency of Revenue Collectors, Stakeholder Engagement, Regulatory Compliance

Source: Research Data (2023)

ANOVA statistics was found to be significant (F=68.115, p<.05), implying that the regression model adopted was statistically significant, and can be relied upon to make further inferences. The regression Sum of Squares was recorded at 2886.775 out of 5355.462, further confirming that agency revenue collection as indicated by competency of revenue collectors, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance and revenue management accounts for a notable 53.9% of the variance in own source revenue target while the balance of 46.1% is accounted for by factors excluded in the regression model as indicated by the residual sum of squares (2468.687).

		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	8.313	1.697		4.900	.000
	Competency of Revenue Collectors	.140	.075	.120	1.878	.062
	Stakeholder Engagement	.010	.047	.016	.215	.830
	Regulatory Compliance	.246	.068	.305	3.642	.000
	Revenue Management	.279	.060	.366	4.660	.000

Table 4.25Coefficients for Model V

Source: Research Data (2023)

A beta coefficient of .140 was recorded in competency of revenue collectors, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in competency of revenue collectors would result in .140 change in own source revenue target. The finding was however not significant at 95% confidence level (p = .062, Sig. >0.05), indicating that in the multivariate model, competency of revenue collectors does not have a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target.

A beta coefficient of .010 was recorded in stakeholder engagement, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in stakeholder engagement would result in .010 change in own source revenue target. The finding was however also not significant at 95% confidence level (p = .830, Sig. >0.05), indicating that in the multivariate model,

stakeholder engagement does not have a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target.

A beta coefficient of .246 was further recorded in regulatory compliance, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in regulatory compliance would result in .246 change in own source revenue target. The finding was significant at 95% confidence level (p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05), indicating that in the multivariate model, regulatory compliance has a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target.

A beta coefficient of .279 was finally recorded in revenue management, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in revenue management would result in .279 change in own source revenue target. The finding was also significant at 95% confidence level (p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05), indicating that in the multivariate model, revenue management also has a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target.

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \beta_3 X_3 + \beta_4 X_4 + \epsilon$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 8.313 + .140 (Competency of Revenue Collectors) + .010 (Stakeholder Engagement) + .246 (Regulatory Compliance) + .279 (Revenue Management)

In summary, the study found out that regulatory compliance (β =.246, p <0.05) and revenue management (β =.279, p <0.05) had greater contribution to OSR target and their contribution was significant. On the other hand, competency of revenue collectors

206

(β =.140, p <0.05) and stakeholder engagement (β =.010, p <0.05) had a lesser contribution to OSR target and their contribution was not significant.

The significant impact of regulatory compliance on OSR target ($\beta = .246$, p < 0.05) aligns with studies that emphasize the importance of strong regulatory frameworks in ensuring effective revenue collection. For instance, Al-Mutairi and Al-Shammari (2020) found that municipalities with rigorous financial controls and adherence to regulatory frameworks were more effective in meeting their revenue targets. This supports the notion that compliance with regulations is crucial in maintaining fiscal discipline and enhancing revenue performance. The significant contribution of revenue management ($\beta = .279$, p < 0.05) to OSR target is consistent with the findings of Miller and Roberts (2021) and Johnson and Müller (2020). Both studies highlight the critical role of effective revenue management strategies, such as strategic budgeting and risk management, in achieving financial targets. These findings reinforce the idea that robust revenue management are essential for county governments in Kenya to meet their OSR targets, echoing global best practices.

Although the study found that the competency of revenue collectors had a lesser and nonsignificant contribution to OSR target ($\beta = .140$, p < 0.05), this contrasts with some empirical literature. For example, Waddell et al. (2019) argue that competency in revenue collection is crucial for effective revenue management, noting that staff training and development are key to improving revenue outcomes. The disparity in findings might be due to differences in the contexts studied or the specific competencies measured. It suggests that while competency is generally important, other factors like regulatory compliance and revenue management might overshadow its direct impact in Kenya County governments contexts.

The finding that stakeholder engagement had the least and non-significant contribution to OSR target (β = .010, p < 0.05) contrasts with the literature that emphasizes the importance of public participation and engagement in revenue management. For instance, Clark and Mitchell (2023) highlighted that citizen engagement can be a critical factor in ensuring the success of revenue management strategies. The gap here could indicate that, in the context of your study, stakeholder engagement practices may not be effectively integrated or may lack the depth needed to significantly impact revenue outcomes. Alternatively, it could reflect the challenges of translating engagement into tangible revenue results, especially in a public sector context.

4.5.6 Competency of Revenue Collectors, Automation and Own Source Revenue Targets

The fifth null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_05). Testing for moderation involves assessing whether the relationship between an independent variable and a dependent variable is influenced by a third variable, known as the moderator. A hierarchical regression model was thus adopted in this regard. The process typically begins by standardizing the independent variable and the moderator by computing their z-scores, which transforms the variables into a common scale with a mean of zero and a standard deviation of one. This standardization simplifies the interaction analysis and helps in interpreting the effects. Next, the interaction term is created by multiplying the z-

scores of the independent variable and the moderator. This interaction term is then included in a regression model alongside the independent variable and moderator to evaluate its effect on the dependent variable. The significance of the interaction term indicates whether the moderator significantly alters the strength or direction of the relationship between the independent variable and dependent variable. This approach allows researchers to determine if and how the moderator influences the primary relationship under investigation. Three outputs were further produced, including a model summary, ANOVA and Coefficients.

Table 4.26Model Summary for Model VI

				Std. Error of the
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Estimate
1	.712 ^a	.507	.501	3.33120

a. Predictors: (Constant), Interation1, Revenue Collection Automation, Competency of Revenue Collectors

Source: Research Data (2023)

The correlation coefficient of .712 indicates a strong positive relationship between the predictor variables (competency of revenue collectors, revenue collection automation, and their interaction) and the dependent variable (own source revenue target). The R Square value of .507 shows that approximately 50.7% of the variance in own source revenue target can be explained by the model, that is the combination of competency of revenue collectors, revenue collector

		Sum of				
Mode	el	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	2820.513	3	940.171	84.724	$.000^{b}$
	Residual	2740.929	247	11.097		
	Total	5561.442	250			

Table 4.27ANOVA for Model VI

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Interaction, Revenue Collection Automation, Competency of Revenue Collectors

Source: Research Data (2023)

The ANOVA results further confirm the model's significance. The regression sum of squares (2820.513) compared to the residual sum of squares (2740.929) indicates that a substantial portion of the variability in own source revenue target is explained by the independent variables. The F-statistic (84.724) is quite large, with a p-value of .000, which is far below the conventional significance level of 0.05. This indicates that the overall regression model is statistically significant and that the predictors together significantly impact the dependent variable.

		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
Mode	el	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	11.150	2.017		5.528	.000
	Competency of Revenue Collectors	.203	.069	.174	2.954	.003
	Revenue Collection Automation	.431	.046	.550	9.428	.000
	Interaction	209	.150	075	-1.395	.164

Table 4.28Coefficients for Model VI

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 M + \beta_3 X_1 * M + \epsilon$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 11.150 + .203 (Competency of Revenue Collectors) + .431 (Revenue Collection Automation) + -.209 (Interaction)

The coefficients table provides insight into the individual contributions of each predictor. The competency of revenue collectors has a positive and significant effect on own source revenue target (B = .203, p = .003), indicating that enhancing the skills and effectiveness of revenue collectors directly improves revenue outcomes. Revenue Collection Automation also has a positive and significant impact (B = .431, p = .000), suggesting that the implementation of automated systems substantially enhances revenue collection efficiency. However, the interaction term between competency of revenue collectors and revenue collection automation (B = -.209, p = .164) is not statistically significant, implying that while each factor is crucial independently, their combined effect does not significantly alter the outcome. The study thus fails to reject the fifth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_05). It is then concluded that revenue collection automation does not have a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

4.5.7 Stakeholder Engagement, Automation and Own Source Revenue Targets

The sixth null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_06). Three outputs were further produced, including a model summary, ANOVA and Coefficients.

Table 4.29Model Summary for Model VII

				Std. Error of the			
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Estimate			
1	.739 ^a	.547	.541	3.31930			
a. Predictors: (Constant), Interaction, Stakeholder Engagement, Revenue Collection							

Automation

Source: Research Data (2023)

The model summary reveals that the R-value is .739, indicating a strong positive correlation between the independent variables—stakeholder engagement, revenue collection automation, and their interaction—and the dependent variable, own source revenue target. The R Square value of .547 implies that 54.7% of the variance in own source revenue target is explained by these predictors, suggesting that the model is a strong predictor of revenue target in the selected counties.

Table 4.30ANOVA for Model VII

		Sum of				
Mode	el	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	3217.046	3	1072.349	97.329	$.000^{b}$
	Residual	2666.291	242	11.018		
	Total	5883.337	245			

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Interaction2, Stakeholder Engagement, Revenue Collection Automation

Source: Research Data (2023)

The ANOVA table supports the overall significance of the model. The regression sum of squares (3217.046) is notably higher than the residual sum of squares (2666.291), which indicates that the majority of the variation in own source revenue target is explained by the independent variables in the model. The F-statistic (97.329) is highly significant, with a p-value of .000, indicating that the model is statistically significant and that stakeholder engagement, revenue collection automation, and their interaction collectively have a significant impact on the dependent variable.

		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	9.423	1.792		5.260	.000
	Stakeholder	179	025	280	5 1 5 0	000
	Engagement	.170	.055	.280	5.159	.000
	Revenue Collection	280	046	470	8 172	.000
	Automation	.309	.040	.4/9	0.425	
	Interaction	364	.164	108	-2.226	.027

Table 4.31Coefficients for Model VII

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

The coefficients table provides detailed insights into the individual contributions of each predictor. Stakeholder Engagement has a positive and significant effect on Own Source Revenue Target (B = .178, p = .000), indicating that increasing stakeholder engagement leads to improved revenue target. Revenue Collection Automation also has a positive and highly significant effect (B = .389, p = .000), confirming that automation enhances the effectiveness of revenue collection processes. However, the interaction term between stakeholder engagement and revenue collection automation (B = -.364, p = .027) is

statistically significant but negative, suggesting that the combined effect of these variables does not lead to the anticipated synergistic improvement in revenue target. Instead, it may indicate that while both factors are important individually, their combined effect might introduce complexities that could reduce overall effectiveness. The study thus rejects the sixth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀6). It is then concluded that revenue collection automation has a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments and own source revenue targets among selected county governments and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_4 X_2 + \beta_5 M + \beta_6 X_2 * M + \epsilon$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 9.423 + .178 (Stakeholder Engagement) + .389 (Revenue Collection Automation) + -.364 (Interaction)

4.5.8 Regulatory Compliance, Automation and Own Source Revenue Targets

The seventh null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_07). Three outputs were further produced, including a model summary, ANOVA and Coefficients.

				Std. Error of the				
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Estimate				
1	.762 ^a	.581	.576	3.16740				
a. Predictors: (Constant), Interaction, Regulatory Compliance, Revenue Collection								
Automation								

Table 4.32Model Summary for Model VIII

Source: Research Data (2023)

The model summary reveals an R-value of .762, indicating a strong positive correlation between the predictors—regulatory compliance, revenue collection automation, and their interaction—and the dependent variable, own source revenue target. The R Square value of .581 suggests that 58.1% of the variation in Own Source Revenue Target can be explained by these predictors, reflecting a robust model. The Adjusted R Square of .576, slightly lower than the R Square, adjusts for the number of predictors in the model and further supports its strength. The Standard Error of the Estimate (3.16740) represents the average deviation of the observed values from the predicted values, indicating a good fit for the model.

		Sum of				
Mode	1	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	3532.393	3	1177.464	117.366	$.000^{b}$
	Residual	2548.231	254	10.032		
	Total	6080.624	257			

Table 4.33ANOVA for Model VIII

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Interaction3, Regulatory Compliance, Revenue Collection Automation

Source: Research Data (2023)

The ANOVA table demonstrates that the model is statistically significant. The regression sum of squares (3532.393) is significantly higher than the residual sum of squares (2548.231), indicating that the independent variables account for a substantial portion of the variance in Own Source Revenue Target. The F-statistic (117.366) is highly significant with a p-value of .000, confirming that the overall model, which includes Regulatory Compliance, Revenue Collection Automation, and their interaction, significantly predicts Own Source Revenue Target.

		Unstandardized		Standardized			
		Coeffi	cients	Coefficients			
Mode	21	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.	
1	(Constant)	9.317	1.553		6.001	.000	
	Regulatory	337	047	411	7 200	000	
	Compliance	.557	.047	.711	7.200	.000	
	Revenue Collection	211	047	281	6 6 2 6	000	
	Automation	.311	.047	.381	0.050	.000	
	Interaction	203	.133	069	-1.527	.128	

Table 4.34Coefficients for Model VIII

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

The coefficients table provides detailed information on the contribution of each predictor to the model. Regulatory Compliance has a significant positive effect on Own Source Revenue Target (B = .337, p = .000), indicating that higher levels of regulatory compliance are associated with better achievement of revenue targets. Similarly, Revenue Collection Automation also has a significant positive effect (B = .311, p = .000), underscoring the importance of automation in enhancing revenue collection effectiveness. However, the interaction term between regulatory compliance and revenue collection automation (B = -.203, p = .128) is not statistically significant, suggesting that automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between regulatory compliance and revenue target. The study thus fails to reject the seventh null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀7). It is then concluded that revenue collection automation does not have a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among submation does not have a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_7 X_3 + \beta_8 M + \beta_9 X_3 * M + \epsilon$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 9.317 + .337 (Regulatory Compliance) + .311 (Revenue Collection Automation) + -.203 (Interaction)

4.5.9 Revenue Management, Automation and Own Source Revenue Targets

The eighth null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_08). Three outputs were further produced, including a model summary, ANOVA and Coefficients.

				Std. Error of the				
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Estimate				
1	$.740^{a}$.548	.542	3.24804				
a. Predictors: (Constant), Interaction4, Revenue Management, Revenue Collection								
Automation								

Table 4.35Model Summary for Model IX

Source: Research Data (2023)

The model summary presents an R-value of .740, indicating a strong positive correlation between the predictors—revenue management, revenue collection automation, and their interaction—and own source revenue target. The R Square value of .548 suggests that 54.8% of the variation in own source revenue target can be explained by these predictors, indicating a well-fitted model. The Adjusted R Square of .542, which slightly adjusts for the number of predictors, confirms the model's robustness. The Standard Error of the Estimate (3.24804) indicates the average deviation of the observed values from the predicted values, showing a reasonable fit for the model.

		Sum of				
Mod	lel	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	3194.393	3	1064.798	100.931	$.000^{b}$
	Residual	2637.434	250	10.550		
	Total	5831.827	253			

Table 4.36ANOVA for Model IX

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

b. Predictors: (Constant), Interaction4, Revenue Management, Revenue Collection Automation

Source: Research Data (2023)

The ANOVA table reveals that the model is statistically significant. The regression sum of squares (3194.393) is notably higher than the residual sum of squares (2637.434), indicating that the independent variables explain a significant portion of the variance in own source revenue target. The F-statistic (100.931) is highly significant with a p-value of .000, confirming that the overall model, which includes revenue management, revenue collection automation, and their interaction, significantly predicts own source revenue target.

		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
Mode	1	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	9.591	1.667		5.753	.000
	Revenue Management	.293	.045	.381	6.586	.000
	Revenue Collection Automation	.315	.049	.393	6.373	.000
	Interaction	180	.141	062	-1.281	.201

Table 4.37Coefficients for Model IX

a. Dependent Variable: Own Source Revenue Target

Source: Research Data (2023)

The coefficients table provides insights into the individual contributions of each predictor. Revenue management has a significant positive effect on own source revenue target (B =.293, p = .000), suggesting that effective revenue management practices contribute significantly to achieving revenue targets. Similarly, revenue collection automation also shows a significant positive effect (B = .315, p = .000), indicating that automation plays a crucial role in enhancing revenue target. However, the interaction term between revenue management and revenue collection automation (B = -.180, p =

.201) is not statistically significant, implying that automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between revenue management and revenue target. The study thus fails to reject the eighth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀8). It is then concluded that revenue collection automation does not have a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀8). It is then concluded that revenue collection automation does not have a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya.

Taking the regression model: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_{10}X_4 + \beta_{11}M + \beta_{12}X_4*M + \epsilon$; the model can be rewritten as follows, based on the regression analysis:

Own source revenue target = 9.591 + .293 (Revenue Management) + .315 (Revenue Collection Automation) + -.180 (Interaction)

4.6 Discussion of the Results

The first null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀1). A statistically significant relationship between competency on revenue target ($\beta = 0.635$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05) was established, emphasizing the practical importance of investing in the training and development of revenue collection personnel within county governments. The study thus rejects the first null hypothesis that stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_01).

This finding has significant policy implications, as it suggests that improving the competency of revenue collectors can lead to enhanced revenue collection performance and, ultimately, greater fiscal sustainability and public service provision.

The empirical literature offers substantial support for these findings, highlighting the necessity of competent revenue collectors in enhancing revenue collection and achieving fiscal targets. Malalgoda *et al.* (2021) conducted an empirical study across ten different UK cities, involving 70 respondents, to investigate the impact of employee training on service delivery and revenue collection. The study utilized regression analysis and found that enhanced staff training led to significant improvements in tax collection. The well-trained workforce was credited with these improvements, ensuring that revenue collection was more efficient and effective. However, the study focused on general service delivery rather than the specific competencies related to revenue collection, leaving a gap that this current study in Kenya aims to fill by exploring the direct relationship between competency in revenue collection and OSR target.

Similarly, Ling and Ahamad (2020) explored the impact of competence on government financial accountability in Indonesia. Their study, which involved 71 respondents and employed Multiple Linear Regression analysis, revealed that competence significantly affects the effectiveness of financial audits. This finding was further supported by Abd El Maksoud (2023), who examined the relationship between motivation, competence, and performance, concluding that competence is a key driver of effective performance in revenue collection. These studies highlight the importance of staff competency in achieving financial accountability and effective revenue management, but they do not specifically address the context of revenue collection in county governments, which is the focus of the current study.

In Pakistan, Malik et al. (2023) conducted a survey on performance management and key competencies in public libraries, identifying six critical competencies that significantly impact employee performance. While the study identified essential competencies such as interpersonal skills, analytical abilities, and technological proficiency, it did not delve into specific competencies related to revenue collection or financial management. This presents a conceptual gap that the current study addresses by focusing on the specific competencies required for effective revenue collection in county governments, thereby contributing to the broader understanding of how these competencies influence OSR target.

Further supporting the relevance of competency in revenue collection, Culpeper and Aniket (2023) studied staff training and tax collection in China using a descriptive survey research design. Their findings indicated that extrinsic factors like the fairness of training processes and aptitude for training significantly influenced work performance in tax collection. The study's focus on the general tax collection industry in China suggests a need for similar research in the Kenyan context to determine whether these findings hold true in the county governments setting. The current study sought to bridge this contextual gap by examining the impact of staff training and competencies specifically within Kenyan county governments.

The findings from these studies reinforce the critical role that the competencies of revenue collectors play in achieving OSR targets. However, the contextual, conceptual,

and methodological gaps identified in the literature highlight the need for the current study. By focusing on the Kenyan county government context, this study contributes to a deeper understanding of the specific competencies required for successful revenue collection and offers practical insights for enhancing revenue management in similar developing country settings.

The results further align with the well-established understanding that a competent and skilled workforce is a cornerstone of efficient public financial management (Waniani *et al.*, 2017; Salman *et al.*, 2020). In the realm of public finance, the competence of revenue collectors is critical for effectively implementing tax policies and ensuring that taxpayers comply with their obligations (Fakhari, et al., 2022). Similarly, Amadi (2014) found that employee engagement and productivity were positively impacted by training and development. Competent revenue collectors are better equipped to handle complex tax regulations, offer clear guidance to taxpayers, and manage the revenue collection process more efficiently.

The second null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between stakeholders' engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀2). A beta coefficient of .380 was recorded in stakeholders' engagement, implying that keeping other factors constant, a unit change in stakeholders' engagement would result in .380 change in own source revenue target. The finding was also significant at 95% confidence level (Sig. <0.05), indicating that stakeholders' engagement has a statistically significant relationship with own source revenue target. The study thus rejects the second null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between stakeholders' engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_02).

This finding has substantial policy implications, indicating that county governments should actively seek ways to engage and collaborate with their stakeholders to enhance revenue collection and, by extension, the overall fiscal performance and service provision.

When evaluating whether the empirical literature supports or contrasts with the findings of the current study, which reveals a significant positive influence of stakeholder engagement on OSR target in Kenyan county governments, it becomes clear that most of the literature offers support, while some studies present nuanced differences or highlight gaps that contrast with the findings. The study by Potoski and Prakash (2022) found that effective stakeholder engagement improves revenue collection by aligning policies with stakeholder input. This directly supports the current study's finding that stakeholder engagement significantly influences OSR target in Kenya. Both studies agree on the positive role of engagement in enhancing revenue outcomes, though Potoski and Prakash pointed out the lack of a standardized framework, which the current study addresses in its context. Roxburgh et al.'s (2020) research in the EU also supports the current findings by demonstrating that stakeholder engagement aligns sectoral interests with economic goals, leading to improved policy outcomes. Although their study struggled to measure the direct impact of engagement on revenue targets, the alignment of stakeholder interests with revenue goals in both studies indicates a common understanding of the importance of engagement.

The positive correlation between proactive stakeholder engagement and revenue targets found by Lee and Kang (2021) in South Korean municipalities aligns closely with the findings in the Kenyan context. Both studies affirm that stakeholder engagement is crucial in achieving financial goals, especially under budgetary constraints, further reinforcing the importance of engagement in diverse political and economic environments. In Colombia, Gómez and Ramirez (2021) found that continuous stakeholder involvement leads to more accurate revenue projections and higher compliance rates, which directly supports the current study's finding of stakeholder engagement's positive influence on revenue targets in Kenya. Both studies emphasize the importance of continuous and inclusive stakeholder engagement for achieving revenue goals. The study by Ayodele and Kwame (2023), which found that stakeholder engagement improves tax compliance and broadens the tax base in West African countries, supports the current study's findings in Kenya. Both studies highlight the critical role of stakeholder engagement in improving revenue outcomes, though Ayodele and Kwame also point out the challenges of under-engagement in rural areas, an aspect that the current study addresses through a more generalized engagement strategy.

The study by Park and Park (2020) found that higher levels of public participation led to budget variances, with higher revenues but lower expenditures. This contrasts with the current study's findings, which show a straightforward positive influence of stakeholder engagement on OSR target in Kenya. While both studies recognize the importance of engagement, Park and Park's findings suggest a more complex relationship where public expectations may lead to budget imbalances, a discovery not observed in the Kenyan context. While Brown and Green (2023) found that stakeholder engagement leads to innovative revenue strategies like public-private partnerships, they raised concerns about the long-term sustainability of these strategies. This partially contrasts with the current study, where stakeholder engagement is shown to have a positive and significant impact on revenue targets without questioning sustainability. The contrast suggests that while engagement is beneficial in the short term, its long-term effects may require further examination.

The findings are further consistent with literature that emphasizes the importance of involving taxpayers and other relevant stakeholders in revenue collection processes (Gatta et al., 2018; Ruz, 2021). The findings are consistent with Ali (2019) who demonstrated that stakeholder involvement has a direct and advantageous impact on NG-CDF projects implementation success factors. Similarly, Kimutai (2017) found that collaboration amongst stakeholders, stakeholder training, and technology all positively and significantly affected revenue mobilization tactics and, in turn, the socioeconomic advancements of the counties. The results by Muute (2019) further demonstrated that projects were being finished without too many difficulties and that the allocated funds were adequate to complete the project and the study further found out that stakeholder involvement significantly and favorably influenced how successfully building projects were completed. Further, Onyango, Bwisa, and Orwa (2017) discovered that stakeholder participation had a substantial impact on the success of road upgrades in Kiambu County. Stakeholder engagement can foster tax compliance by building trust, enhancing transparency, and ensuring that taxpayers perceive the tax system as fair and responsive to their needs (Nkuna, 2021; Kimutai, 2017).

The third null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀3). The beta coefficient of .572 illustrating the impact of regulatory compliance on own source revenue target, coupled with its statistical significance at a 95% confidence level (β = .572, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05), underlines the critical role of adhering to regulatory frameworks in the revenue collection process within county governments in Kenya. The study thus rejects the third null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀3).

The findings of the current study, which reveal a significant positive impact of regulatory compliance on the achievement of OSR targets in Kenyan county governments, are generally supported by the empirical literature, though some studies highlight contextual and methodological gaps that offer a more refined perspective.

The findings of O'Donnell and Lewis (2021) align with the current study by demonstrating that rigorous regulatory compliance enhances revenue collection by reducing tax evasion and ensuring strict adherence to financial regulations. This supports the positive beta coefficient of .572 found in the current study, suggesting that regulatory compliance is indeed a critical factor in improving revenue outcomes. However, the conceptual gap identified by O'Donnell and Lewis (2021)—regarding the complexity and variability of regulations across different municipalities—highlights a potential area where the current study could explore the adaptability of regulatory frameworks across different Kenyan counties.

Bücker and Jansen's (2020) study in the EU also supports the findings by illustrating those higher levels of regulatory compliance correlate with improved revenue outcomes, particularly in countries with well-established infrastructure. This reinforces the idea that regulatory compliance is a key determinant of revenue performance, similar to the Kenyan context. However, the methodological gap they identified—concerning the long-term effectiveness of regulations in a rapidly changing digital economy—suggests that the current study benefited from examining how regulatory frameworks in Kenya adapt to evolving economic conditions. The findings by Lee and Kim (2022) from South Korea, which show that regulatory compliance improves revenue outcomes in urban municipalities, are consistent with the current study's results. However, the discrepancy in rural areas, where enforcement is more challenging, points to a contextual gap. This suggests that while the overall impact of regulatory compliance is positive, the Kenyan study might consider exploring regional differences within the country to understand better how compliance is enforced across urban and rural areas.

Ramirez and Gomez's (2021) study in Colombia supports the current findings by showing that stricter enforcement of regulations leads to more consistent revenue collection. However, their identification of a one-size-fits-all approach as ineffective in diverse municipal environments introduces a contextual gap. This suggests that Kenyan county governments might need to tailor their regulatory frameworks to local conditions to optimize revenue generation fully. Smith and Green's (2023) study reinforce the current findings by highlighting that municipalities with robust compliance frameworks are more successful in achieving revenue targets. However, the conceptual gap they identify, related to the challenges of enforcement in remote areas, could be relevant to

certain Kenyan counties. This underscores the importance of exploring innovative strategies to ensure consistent compliance across all regions in Kenya.

While Brown and Taylor (2022) found that environmental regulatory compliance created new revenue streams, the study identified a methodological gap in comparing these with traditional revenue sources. This contrasts with the current study, which focuses more broadly on regulatory compliance without specifically addressing the potential financial sustainability of new revenue strategies that arise from such compliance. This gap suggests that future research could explore how different types of regulatory compliance, including environmental regulations, impact overall revenue sustainability. The findings by Al-Omari and Qasim (2020) from the GCC region reveal that while regulatory compliance generally improves revenue outcomes, the lack of standardized regulations across countries introduces a significant contextual gap. This contrasts with the Kenyan context, where the study assumes a more unified regulatory framework. The contrast underscores the importance of standardization in ensuring consistent revenue generation, which could be a focus for further research in Kenya, particularly in examining how local and national regulations interact.

The study by Ayodele and Mensah (2023) highlights that while regulatory compliance is crucial, its effectiveness is often undermined by political and economic factors. This introduces a contextual gap that contrasts with the current study's findings, which do not explicitly address the influence of political interference. This gap suggests that further research in Kenya could examine how political dynamics affect the enforcement of regulatory compliance and its impact on revenue generation. The findings by Ndegwa and Owino (2023) align with the current study in showing that counties with higher levels

of compliance are more likely to meet their revenue targets. However, the conceptual gap they identify—concerning the role of political interference in regulatory enforcement—highlights an area that the current study does not fully explore. This gap suggests that the relationship between regulatory compliance and revenue outcomes in Kenyan counties could be further interrogated by considering the political environment's impact.

The results further align with established literature emphasizing the significance of tax compliance and regulatory adherence in revenue generation (Ewa *et al.*, 2018). Regulatory compliance, which involves adherence to tax laws, regulations, and policies, is essential for creating a conducive environment for taxpayers, ensuring fairness, and promoting trust in the tax system (Githua & Ngahu, 2018). The findings are consistent with Githua and Ngahu (2018) whose study conclusions indicate that administrative capability has a big impact on revenue collection. According to the report, for the purpose of increasing the collection of revenues, the county administration should strengthen its ability to manage revenue. Similarly, Mwachiro (2013) discovered that successful revenue collection was significantly influenced by regulatory compliance. The results showed that management control make up regulatory compliance.

The fourth null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀4). The beta coefficient of .517, along with its statistical significance at a 95% confidence level ($\beta = .517$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05), highlights the substantial influence of effective revenue management on own source revenue target within county governments in Kenya. The study thus rejects the fourth null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_04).

The rejection of the null hypothesis (H_04) points to the practical relevance of revenue management, indicating that county governments should prioritize robust financial planning and management to improve their own source revenue target, ultimately contributing to fiscal sustainability and public service delivery. This result is in line with existing literature that points to the importance of sound financial management and planning in revenue collection.

The findings of the study, which show a significant influence of effective revenue management on achieving own-source revenue (OSR) targets within county governments in Kenya, align with and are contrasted by empirical literature across various global contexts. Miller and Roberts (2021) found that municipalities with diversified revenue sources and strong enforcement mechanisms were more successful in meeting their revenue targets. This supports the study's assertion that effective revenue management is crucial for achieving OSR targets, especially when it comes to strategic financial planning and robust management practices. Johnson and Müller (2020) similarly highlighted the importance of effective revenue management, including rigorous financial planning and risk management, in achieving revenue targets in German municipalities. This aligns with the findings of this study and reinforces the argument that well-planned and managed revenue systems significantly impact financial performance.

Park and Lee (2022) discovered that proactive revenue management, particularly in tax collection and public asset management, significantly enhanced revenue outcomes in

231

South Korea. This finding echoes the results, suggesting that counties in Kenya, like South Korean municipalities, can benefit from proactive and well-structured revenue management. Jeppesen (2021) noted that independent tax administrations, such as Kenya's Revenue Authority, face challenges related to political interference, which resonates with the findings on the practical relevance of autonomy in revenue management.

The findings are further in line with Shibia and Barako (2015) who show that urbanization, population density, and administrative capability are crucial elements in determining how well property taxes perform. The study indicates significant differences between counties and a drop in property taxes relative to the global average. It advises county governments to increase their administrative capabilities in order to mobilize tax property. Similarly, Kanyinga (2016) who found that KRA has used information technology into its operations. SME's view of EFT, SIMBA, ITR and ITMS as the key tax management drivers of compliance and, subsequently, enhanced collection of revenue.

The findings further agree with Naburi (2017) determination that ineffective administration and political intervention were to blame for the low collection of property taxes, and it made recommendations for better public services, capacity building, and political support mobilization. The findings are also supported by Attah-Botchwey (2018) who found that insufficient revenue monitoring resulted in weak expenditure restrictions, raised the possibility of embezzlement, and encouraged unauthorized borrowing of money for personal use as well as other financial irregularities which in turn reduced municipal revenue. The study came to the conclusion that improving revenue
mobilization required the use of internal controls. In order to monitor internal controls and inform the government when revenue goals are met, this study is therefore necessary and the findings confirm the importance of internal controls.

The fifth null hypothesis stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_05). The interaction term between competency of revenue collectors and revenue collection automation (B = -.209, p = .164) is not statistically significant, implying that while each factor is crucial independently, their combined effect does not significantly alter the outcome. The study thus fails to reject the fifth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_05).

However, the non-significant interaction effect observed in this study suggests that the direct impacts of competency and automation on own source revenue target may operate independently rather than synergistically in the context of the selected county governments in Kenya. This could imply that while both are essential, their combined effect may not necessarily enhance revenue outcomes as expected, possibly due to challenges in integrating technology with existing human skills, or gaps in training and adaptation to automated systems (Miller & Roberts, 2022). The findings contrast with the literature that highlights the importance of revenue collection automation in improving efficiency and accuracy in revenue collection. For instance, previous research has often emphasized that automation complements human competency by increasing efficiency

and reducing errors in revenue collection processes (Otieno & Waweru, 2019; Smith & Johnson, 2021).

The sixth null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀6). The interaction term between stakeholder engagement and revenue collection automation (B = -.364, p = .027) is statistically significant but negative, suggesting that the combined effect of these variables does not lead to the anticipated synergistic improvement in revenue target. Instead, it may indicate that while both factors are important individually, their combined effect might introduce complexities that could reduce overall effectiveness. The study thus rejects the sixth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀6).

The unexpected negative moderation effect found in this study suggests that integrating automation with stakeholder engagement requires careful management. The complexities introduced by technology, such as potential resistance from stakeholders or challenges in aligning automated systems with stakeholder expectations, may dampen the effectiveness of engagement efforts. The study emphasizes the need for county governments to carefully design and implement automation strategies that complement and enhance stakeholder engagement, rather than complicate it. This aligns with findings by Ivanov *et al.* (2022), who noted that while automation can enhance efficiency, it can also create barriers if not well integrated into existing processes and stakeholder dynamics. The findings offer informed insights into the relationship between stakeholder engagement,

automation, and revenue target attainment. Previous studies, such as those by Potoski and Prakash (2022), have highlighted the importance of stakeholder engagement in improving compliance and revenue collection and from the findings of this study careful consideration need to be done when integrating revenue automation to stakeholder engagement.

The seventh null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀7). The interaction term between regulatory compliance and revenue collection automation (B = -.203, p = .128) is not statistically significant, suggesting that automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between regulatory compliance and revenue target. The study thus fails to reject the seventh null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀7).

The lack of a significant moderating effect suggests that while automation is a powerful tool, its integration with regulatory compliance practices may not necessarily amplify the benefits of compliance. This could be due to various factors, such as the complexity of aligning automated systems with existing regulatory frameworks or the potential for automation to introduce new challenges that require careful management. Therefore, county governments should continue to prioritize both regulatory compliance and automation but may need to consider them as complementary but independent strategies rather than expecting a synergistic effect. These findings align with the broader empirical literature that emphasizes the independent importance of regulatory compliance and

automation in achieving revenue targets. Studies by Zhang and Liu (2021, Al-Omari and Qasim (2020) and Brown & Taylor (2022) have highlighted the critical role of regulatory compliance in ensuring effective revenue collection and reducing leakages, while research by Nkote and Luwugge (2020) and Miller and Roberts (2022) support the role of automation in streamlining revenue collection processes.

The eighth null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀8). The interaction term between revenue management and revenue collection automation (B = -.180, p = .201) is not statistically significant, implying that automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between revenue management and revenue target. The study thus fails to reject the eighth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀8).

The lack of a significant moderating effect of automation suggests that while technology is a powerful tool, its integration with revenue management practices may not necessarily amplify the effectiveness of those practices. This outcome could be due to challenges in aligning automated systems with existing revenue management frameworks or the possibility that automation primarily enhances operational efficiency rather than directly influencing revenue management strategies. Therefore, county governments should focus on strengthening both revenue management and automation as complementary strategies, while recognizing that their combined effect may not be synergistic. The findings are consistent with existing empirical literature that underscores the independent importance of revenue management and automation in achieving revenue targets. Research by Clark and Mitchell (2023) and Moyo and Gumede (2023) highlight the critical role of revenue management in ensuring effective collection and allocation of resources, while studies by Okumu et al. (2022) emphasize the benefits of automation in streamlining revenue processes and improving efficiency.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

The concluding chapter encapsulates the comprehensive findings of this research, providing a synthesis of the study's outcomes. The summary, conclusions, and recommendations presented herein distill the key insights gleaned from the exploration of agency revenue collection, automation, and own source revenue target within selected county governments in Kenya. The subsequent conclusions drawn from these findings pave the way for robust recommendations, offering strategic insights for policymakers, practitioners, and researchers aiming to optimize revenue mobilization strategies in county governance.

5.2 Summary

This section gives the summary of the study based on the study variables

5.2.1 Competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets

The study sought to determine the relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. In assessing the competencies of revenue collectors, an overall mean of 4.288 was established at a standard deviation of 0.849, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of the competency of revenue collectors in their respective counties. A majority of participants particularly affirmed that achievement of county revenue targets would be possible if all revenue collection employees are trained on methods of revenue collection (4.4821); achievement of revenue collection targets would result through

training and development in revenue collection techniques (4.3018); training of staff on technology used in revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.3273); attainment of revenue collection targets result from revenue collection officer effective public relations techniques (4.4638); and that sensitization of staff on the rules and regulations governing revenue collections would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2107). A statistically significant relationship between competency on revenue target ($\beta = 0.635$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05) was established, emphasizing the practical importance of investing in the training and development of revenue collection personnel within county governments. The study thus rejects the first null hypothesis that stated that there is no statistically significant relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀1).

5.2.3 Stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets

The study also set out to assess the relationship between stakeholder engagements and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. In assessing stakeholder engagement, an overall mean of 4.049 was established at a standard deviation of 0.940, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of stakeholder engagement in their respective counties. A majority of participants particularly affirmed that taxpayer sensitization on their need to pay county taxes would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.3827); communication with taxpayers through simple and easy to access channels of communication like SMS, public notices and barazas would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.3237); and that sensitization to taxpayers on county levies upon amendment of the Finance Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets

(4.1942). The beta coefficient of .380 representing the influence of stakeholder engagement on own source revenue target, along with its statistical significance at a 95% confidence level, highlights the pivotal role of engaging stakeholders in the context of county governments in Kenya. The study thus rejects the second null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between stakeholders' engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀2).

5.2.3 Regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets

The study further examined the relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. In assessing regulatory compliance, an overall mean of 4.053 was established at a standard deviation of 0.923, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of regulatory compliance in their respective counties. A majority of participants particularly affirmed that annual review of the Finance Act to capture changes in the economic outlook in the County would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2290); presence of approved policies, rules and regulations governing revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2122); amendments to the County Finance Acts to comply with legislations governing specific revenue streams like Trade Licensing Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1362); Presence of primary revenue administration laws for all revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.0681); and that Publishing of revenue administration laws in the local media and notice boards would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.0536). The beta coefficient of .703 illustrating the impact of regulatory compliance on own source revenue target, coupled

with its statistical significance at a 95% confidence level ($\beta = .572$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05), underlines the critical role of adhering to regulatory frameworks in the revenue collection process within county governments in Kenya. The study thus rejects the third null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀3).

5.2.4 Revenue management and own source revenue targets

The study set out to determine the relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. In assessing revenue management, an overall mean of 4.060 was established at a standard deviation of 0.932, implying that a majority of participants highly approve of revenue management in their respective counties. A majority of participants particularly affirmed that weekly analysis on key revenue streams performance would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.2982); daily reconciliations of revenue collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1864); scheduled internal audit and checks on revenue collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1864); revenue targets (4.1913); revenue accounting system capable of analysing revenue performance trends would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.1227); and that scheduled rapid results initiatives on revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets (4.0935).

The beta coefficient of .517, along with its statistical significance at a 95% confidence level ($\beta = .517$, p = 0.000, Sig. <0.05), highlights the substantial influence of effective revenue management on own source revenue target within county governments in Kenya.

The study thus rejects the third null hypothesis that states that there is no statistically significant relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_04).

5.2.5 Moderating effect of automation on the relationship between agency revenue collection and own source revenue targets

The study set out to establish the moderating effect of revenue collection automation on competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. The interaction term between competency of revenue collectors and revenue collection automation (B = -.209, p = .164) is not statistically significant, implying that while each factor is crucial independently, their combined effect does not significantly alter the outcome. The study thus fails to reject the fifth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on competency of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_05).

The sixth null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀6). The interaction term between stakeholder engagement and revenue collection automation (B = -.364, p = .027) is statistically significant but negative, suggesting that the combined effect of these variables does not lead to the anticipated synergistic improvement in revenue target. Instead, it may indicate that while both factors are important individually, their combined effect might introduce complexities that could reduce overall effectiveness. The study thus rejects the sixth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does

not have statistically significant moderating effect on stakeholder engagement and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H_06).

The seventh null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀7). The interaction term between regulatory compliance and revenue collection automation (B = -.203, p = .128) is not statistically significant, suggesting that automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between regulatory compliance and revenue target. The study thus fails to reject the seventh null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀7).

The eighth null hypothesis further stated that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀8). The interaction term between revenue management and revenue collection automation (B = -.180, p = .201) is not statistically significant, implying that automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between revenue management and revenue target. The study thus fails to reject the eighth null hypothesis that states that revenue collection automation does not have statistically significant moderating effect on revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya (H₀8).

5.3 Conclusions

The study makes the following conclusions;

5.3.1 Competencies of revenue collectors and the achievement of own source revenue targets

The comprehensive analysis conducted in this study unequivocally establishes a robust and statistically significant relationship between the competencies of revenue collectors and the achievement of own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. The study concludes that the competence of revenue collectors plays a pivotal role in influencing the success of revenue collection. In essence, this study points to the imperative for a competent workforce as an indispensable asset in the pursuit of successful revenue mobilization efforts, reflecting a crucial dimension in the effective governance and financial management of local government entities. This finding has profound implications for county governments, emphasizing the critical need to invest in the training, development, and ongoing support of revenue collection personnel. As competency emerges as a key determinant, policymakers and administrators should prioritize strategies that enhance the skills and expertise of revenue collectors. Such initiatives are poised not only to bolster revenue collection efficiency but also to contribute significantly to the broader fiscal sustainability and service delivery objectives of county governments in Kenya.

The new knowledge brought out by the study is the critical importance of revenue collectors' competencies in achieving own-source revenue targets among county governments in Kenya. The study demonstrates that the effectiveness and success of revenue collection are strongly influenced by the skills, expertise, and overall competence of revenue collectors. These finding highlights that beyond the mere implementation of revenue collection systems, the quality and capability of the personnel managing these systems play a pivotal role in driving revenue outcomes. Consequently,

the study underscores the necessity for county governments to invest in the training and professional development of their revenue collection staff to enhance efficiency and contribute to fiscal sustainability. This insight provides a nuanced understanding of how human resource factors directly impact financial management and governance in devolved government settings.

5.3.2 Stakeholders' engagement and the achievement of own source revenue targets

Based on the findings of this study it was concluded that there is a statistically significant relationship between stakeholders' engagement and the achievement of own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. The study concludes that engaging stakeholders influence the success of revenue mobilization efforts. This outcome has far-reaching implications, emphasizing the critical importance of building and sustaining positive relationships with various stakeholders in the revenue collection process. As county governments increasingly recognize the significance of stakeholders' engagement, it becomes clear that strategies fostering transparency, communication, and collaboration with taxpayers and other relevant parties are integral to the success of revenue initiatives. The study's results not only underscore the theoretical importance of stakeholders' engagement but also provide actionable insights for policymakers and administrators seeking to optimize revenue collection outcomes. In essence, the study reinforces the notion that a proactive and inclusive approach to stakeholder engagement is not only beneficial for fostering good governance but is also a key driver for achieving robust own source revenue targets, thereby contributing to the overall fiscal sustainability and service delivery goals of county governments in Kenya.

The new knowledge brought out by the study is the essential role of stakeholder engagement in achieving own-source revenue targets among county governments in Kenya. The study reveals that actively involving stakeholders—such as taxpayers, local businesses, and community groups—significantly enhances the success of revenue mobilization efforts. It emphasizes that fostering transparency, effective communication, and collaboration with these stakeholders is crucial for optimizing revenue collection outcomes. These finding highlights that beyond technical and administrative aspects, engaging with stakeholders proactively and inclusively can drive more effective revenue collection and contribute to better fiscal sustainability and governance. Consequently, the study provides valuable insights for policymakers and administrators to adopt comprehensive engagement strategies as a fundamental component of successful revenue management.

5.3.3 Regulatory compliance and the achievement of own source revenue targets

The study establishes a statistically significant relationship between regulatory compliance and the achievement of own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya and concludes that regulatory compliance helps in shaping the success of revenue mobilization efforts. This pivotal finding resonates with the broader literature emphasizing the critical role of adherence to tax laws, policies, and regulations in fostering a conducive environment for taxpayers and ensuring the integrity of the revenue collection process. As county governments grapple with the complexities of revenue administration, the study's results highlight the imperative of bolstering regulatory frameworks and enforcement mechanisms to enhance revenue collection outcomes. The rejection of the null hypothesis not only contributes to the theoretical

understanding of the relationship between regulatory compliance and revenue targets but also provides actionable insights for policymakers and administrators. In essence, the study points out that a steadfast commitment to regulatory compliance is not merely a legal obligation but a strategic imperative for county governments seeking to achieve robust own source revenue targets, thereby fortifying fiscal sustainability and advancing the broader goals of effective governance and service provision in the Kenyan context.

The new knowledge brought out by the study is the critical importance of regulatory compliance in achieving own-source revenue targets among county governments in Kenya. The study demonstrates a statistically significant relationship between adherence to tax laws, policies, and regulations and the success of revenue mobilization efforts. It underscores that effective regulatory compliance is not only essential for maintaining the integrity of the revenue collection process but also serves as a strategic tool for improving revenue outcomes. This finding highlights the need for county governments to strengthen regulatory frameworks and enforcement mechanisms as a key component of their revenue strategies. By emphasizing the role of regulatory compliance in shaping revenue success, the study provides actionable insights for policymakers and administrators, reinforcing that commitment to legal and regulatory standards is crucial for achieving fiscal sustainability and advancing effective governance and service delivery.

5.3.4 Revenue management and the attainment of own source revenue targets

The study establishes a statistically significant relationship between revenue management and the attainment of own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya and hence concludes that effective revenue management shape the success of revenue mobilization efforts. This finding aligns seamlessly with existing literature emphasizing the crucial nature of sound financial planning and management practices in optimizing revenue collection outcomes. As county governments navigate the intricacies of fiscal administration, the study's outcomes underscore the critical imperative of implementing robust revenue management strategies. The rejection of the null hypothesis not only advances theoretical insights into the nexus between revenue management and revenue targets but also offers practical guidance for policymakers and administrators. In essence, the study points to that a systematic and strategic approach to revenue management is not merely a procedural necessity but a prerequisite for county governments striving to achieve resilient own source revenue targets. This, in turn, fortifies fiscal sustainability and bolsters the overarching objectives of effective governance and service delivery in the context of Kenyan county government administrations.

The new knowledge brought out by the study is the pivotal role of effective revenue management in achieving own-source revenue targets among county governments in Kenya. The research establishes a statistically significant relationship between sound financial planning and management practices and the success of revenue mobilization efforts. It highlights that implementing robust revenue management strategies is essential for optimizing revenue collection outcomes. This finding aligns with existing literature on the importance of effective revenue management but provides new empirical evidence specific to the Kenyan context. The study offers valuable insights for policymakers and administrators, underscoring that a systematic and strategic approach to revenue management is crucial not only for meeting revenue targets but also for ensuring fiscal sustainability and enhancing governance and service delivery.

5.3.5 Moderating effect revenue collection automation on the relationship between agency revenue collection and attainment of own source revenue targets

The study concludes that revenue collection automation does not have a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between competency of revenue collectors and the attainment of own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. Despite the crucial role of revenue collectors in achieving revenue targets, the study finds that the moderating effect of automation on their competency does not significantly enhance revenue target outcomes. This suggests that while competent revenue collectors are essential, the introduction of automated systems does not necessarily bolster their effectiveness in a way that significantly impact revenue targets. This finding emphasizes the need for a balanced approach that includes both human resource development and technological advancement without assuming that one will necessarily enhance the other.

The new knowledge brought out by the study is the finding that revenue collection automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between the competency of revenue collectors and the achievement of own source revenue targets in Kenyan county governments. This insight challenges the assumption that automation will inherently enhance the effectiveness of competent revenue collectors. The study reveals that while skilled revenue collectors are crucial, the integration of automated systems alone does not significantly improve revenue target outcomes. This underscores the need for a balanced strategy that simultaneously focuses on developing human resources and advancing technology, rather than relying on automation to amplify the impact of existing competencies.

The study concludes that revenue collection automation has a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between stakeholder engagement and the attainment of own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. The negative interaction suggests that the positive impact of stakeholder engagement on revenue targets might be weakened when combined with automation. This could be due to resistance to change or disruption of traditional engagement methods or create barriers that stakeholders are not yet prepared to navigate, thereby reducing the overall effectiveness of engagement efforts.

The new knowledge brought out by the study is that revenue collection automation significantly moderates the relationship between stakeholder engagement and the achievement of own source revenue targets, with a negative interaction effect. This finding suggests that while stakeholder engagement is typically beneficial for meeting revenue targets, its effectiveness may be diminished when combined with automation. The study indicates that automation could potentially introduce complexities that stakeholders are not well-equipped to handle, thereby weakening the positive impact of engagement efforts on revenue collection outcomes. This highlights the need for carefully designed automation strategies that align with stakeholder engagement practices to avoid undermining their effectiveness.

It is also concluded that revenue collection automation does not have a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between regulatory compliance and the attainment of own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. While it is a crucial factor for achieving revenue targets, the introduction of automation does not significantly moderate its impact. This suggests that the effectiveness of regulatory compliance in revenue collection is more dependent on the robustness of the regulatory framework and its enforcement rather than on automation. County governments should therefore focus on strengthening their regulatory frameworks and ensuring compliance through effective oversight and enforcement mechanisms, while using automation to support these efforts rather than relying on it to drive compliance outcomes.

The new knowledge brought out by the study is that revenue collection automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between regulatory compliance and the attainment of own source revenue targets. This finding indicates that while regulatory compliance is crucial for achieving revenue targets, its effectiveness is not notably enhanced by the presence of automation. Instead, the impact of regulatory compliance on revenue outcomes is more closely tied to the strength of the regulatory framework and the enforcement of compliance measures. Consequently, county governments should prioritize strengthening their regulatory frameworks and enforcement mechanisms while utilizing automation as a supportive tool rather than a primary driver of compliance.

It is further concluded that revenue collection automation does not have a statistically significant moderating effect on the relationship between revenue management and the attainment of own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya. While it is vital for the achievement of revenue targets, automation does not significantly enhance its effectiveness. This indicates that successful revenue management depends more on strategic planning, resource allocation, and efficient financial practices than on

the mere presence of automated systems. County governments should prioritize building strong revenue management practices that are complemented by, rather than reliant on, automation to achieve optimal results in revenue target.

The new knowledge from the study reveals that revenue collection automation does not significantly moderate the relationship between revenue management and the attainment of own source revenue targets. This finding underscores that effective revenue management relies more on strategic planning, resource allocation, and sound financial practices rather than on the implementation of automated systems alone. It suggests that while automation is a valuable tool, it does not substantially enhance the effectiveness of revenue management practices. Therefore, county governments should focus on developing robust revenue management strategies and use automation as a complementary tool to achieve better outcomes in revenue target attainment.

5.4 Recommendations

The study established a statistically significant relationship between competencies of revenue collectors and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya underscore the critical importance of investing in the capabilities of revenue collection personnel. In light of these findings, it is recommended that firstly, county governments should prioritize the continuous training and development of their revenue collectors, equipping them with the necessary skills and knowledge to navigate the complexities of contemporary revenue collection. This includes training on evolving tax laws, technological advancements in revenue administration, and effective communication strategies to engage with taxpayers. Secondly, fostering a culture of

252

performance-based incentives and recognition can further motivate revenue collectors, aligning their competencies with the attainment of revenue targets. Recognizing and rewarding high-performing collectors can contribute to a more motivated and efficient workforce. These recommendations collectively advocate for a strategic and humancentric approach to revenue collection, acknowledging the pivotal role of competent revenue collectors in achieving and surpassing own source revenue targets, ultimately contributing to the fiscal health of county governments in Kenya.

The study establishes a statistically significant relationship between stakeholders' engagement and own source revenue targets in selected county governments in Kenya, highlighting the crucial role of inclusive engagement practices in revenue mobilization. In light of these findings, two robust recommendations emerge for policy and practice. Firstly, county governments should adopt comprehensive strategies to enhance stakeholder engagement by involving regular consultations with taxpayers, businesses, and other relevant entities. This approach should include the use of accessible communication channels, public forums, targeted focus groups, and informal channels of communication to gather in-depth insights from diverse stakeholders. Additionally, employing informal groups and snowball sampling techniques to collect data on the taxpayers' base can provide a more informed understanding of taxpayer behavior and preferences, ensuring that their concerns and suggestions are effectively integrated into revenue policies. Secondly, leveraging technology for stakeholder engagement can amplify the effectiveness of outreach efforts. Implementing user-friendly online platforms, mobile applications, and automated communication tools can facilitate realtime engagement and enable the organization of virtual focus group discussions,

providing stakeholders with immediate access to information and avenues for feedback. By embracing these recommendations, county governments can cultivate a culture of collaboration, transparency, and trust, fostering stronger relationships with stakeholders and ultimately optimizing own source revenue targets. These measures align with the study's findings, reinforcing the practical significance of stakeholders' engagement in revenue management and contributing to the broader objectives of fiscal sustainability and effective governance.

The study established a statistically significant relationship between regulatory compliance and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya underscore the pivotal role of adherence to tax regulations in revenue mobilization. In light of these findings, it is recommended that firstly, county governments should prioritize the regular review and update of tax regulations to align with evolving economic landscapes and industry dynamics. This proactive approach ensures that regulatory frameworks remain relevant, fostering a conducive environment for compliance. Secondly, investing in public awareness and education campaigns is essential to inform taxpayers about their obligations and the benefits of compliance. Utilizing multiple communication channels, such as social media, community forums, and educational materials, can enhance the understanding of tax regulations and cultivate a culture of voluntary compliance. By embracing these recommendations, county governments can strengthen regulatory frameworks, promote voluntary compliance, and ultimately optimize own source revenue targets. These measures align with the study's findings, emphasizing the practical significance of regulatory compliance in revenue

management and contributing to the broader goals of fiscal sustainability and effective governance.

The study found a statistically significant relationship between revenue management and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya highlight the strategic importance of effective financial planning and management practices. In light of these findings, county governments should invest in the implementation of advanced revenue management systems that integrate technology for real-time tracking, analysis, and reporting of revenue streams. This modernization can enhance the efficiency of financial operations, allowing for more informed decision-making and strategic planning. By adopting these recommendations, county governments can fortify their revenue management strategies, ensuring resilience in achieving own source revenue targets. These measures align with the study's findings, underscoring the practical significance of revenue management in county governments.

The study establishes a statistically significant moderating effect of revenue collection automation on the relationship between agency revenue collection and own source revenue targets among selected county governments in Kenya underscore the transformative potential of technology in optimizing revenue management. It is thus recommended that county governments should prioritize the integration and continuous improvement of automated systems for revenue collection. Investing in cutting-edge technologies, such as machine learning algorithms and data analytics, can enhance the efficiency and accuracy of revenue collection processes, facilitating better decisionmaking. Secondly, ensuring that the workforce is adept at utilizing technology can maximize the benefits of automation, ultimately contributing to more streamlined

255

revenue collection and achievement of own source revenue targets. By adopting these recommendations, county governments can harness the full potential of revenue collection automation to reinforce their capacity to meet and exceed revenue targets. These measures align with the study's findings, emphasizing the practical significance of technology in revenue management and contributing to the broader goals of fiscal sustainability and effective governance.

It is further recommended that county governments invest in specialized training programs for revenue collectors to enhance their competencies in using automated systems. The training should focus on aligning their skills with the requirements of automated processes, ensuring that the introduction of technology complements rather than hinders their effectiveness. This will help mitigate the negative impact of automation on the competency of revenue collectors and optimize their contribution to achieving OSR targets.

It is also crucial for county governments to develop and implement enhanced stakeholder engagement strategies that are compatible with automated revenue collection systems. These strategies should aim to bridge any gaps created by automation, ensuring that stakeholders remain informed, involved, and supportive of the revenue collection process. By adapting engagement methods to the new technological environment, counties can maintain or even enhance the positive impact of stakeholder engagement on revenue target.

County governments should further ensure that their automated revenue collection systems are fully aligned with existing regulatory compliance frameworks. This might involve updating regulatory processes, refining compliance procedures, and conducting regular audits to ensure that automation does not inadvertently create compliance challenges. Additionally, ongoing training and support should be provided to staff to ensure they can effectively manage the intersection of technology and regulatory requirements.

To avoid the potential disruption of effective revenue management, county governments should focus on the careful integration of automation into their revenue management systems. This could involve conducting a thorough analysis of existing revenue management processes and identifying areas where automation can enhance efficiency without compromising effectiveness. Continuous monitoring and adjustment of these systems will be necessary to ensure that automation supports, rather than undermines, the achievement of OSR targets.

5.5 Suggestions for Further Research

Building on the insights garnered from the comprehensive analysis of agency revenue collection, automation, and own source revenue target among selected county governments in Kenya, further research avenues emerge. Firstly, an in-depth exploration into the specific challenges and opportunities associated with the adoption of automated revenue collection systems would provide valuable insights. Understanding the factors influencing the successful implementation of such technologies, including financial, infrastructural, and human resource considerations, could guide future policy interventions. Secondly, the inclusion of a longitudinal study design could capture the dynamic nature of revenue performance over time, allowing for a more robust analysis of

trends and causality. This is due to the political nature of appointments in County governments that could have an effect on own source revenue performance.

Additionally, expanding the geographical scope to include a more diverse set of county governments could enhance the generalizability of the findings, ensuring a broader applicability of the research outcomes. Moreover, the incorporation of case studies or indepth interviews with key informants within the county governments could offer deeper insights into specific contextual factors influencing revenue dynamics. Lastly, employing advanced statistical techniques such as structural equation modeling or path analysis could enable a more sophisticated examination of the intricate relationships among variables.

REFERENCES

- Abbas, J., & Kumari, K. (2021). Examining the Relationship Between Total Quality Management and Knowledge Management and Their Impact on Organizational Performance: A Dimensional Analysis. *Journal of Economic and Administrative Sciences*, 1–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEAS-03-2021-0046</u>
- Abd El maksoud, R.S.M. (2023). The Impact of Training and Development on Staff Competitive Values (Applied on Airports Sector). International Journal Of Innovative Research & Development, 7(7): 98-105. DOI: 10.24940/ijird/2018/v7/i7/JUL18024
- Abdullahi, M. S., Shehu, U. R., & Usman, B. M. (2019). Impact of information communication technology on organizational productivity in the Nigeria Banking industry: Empirical evidence. *Noble International Journal of Business and Management Research*, 3(1), 1-9.
- Abiola, J., & Asiweh, M. (2022). Impact of Tax Administration on Government Revenue in a Developing Economy -A Case Study of Nigeria. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(8), 59-82
- Adama, S., & Bakari, M. (2022). Effectiveness of automated revenue collection systems in achieving OSR targets in Nigerian municipalities. *Journal of African Public Finance*, 16(2), 213-238.
- Adams, M.B. (2018). Agency Theory and the International Audit. Managerial Auditing Journal 9(8), 8-12.
- Adenya, K. P. & Muturi W. (2017). Factors Affecting Revenue Collection Efficiency by County Governments in Kenya -A Case of Kiambu County. *International Journal* of Social Sciences and Information Technology3 (8) 2371-2381.
- Adom, D., Hussein, E., & Adu-Agyem, J. (2018). Theoretical and conceptual framework: mandatory ingredients of a quality research. *International Journal of Scientific Research*. 7. 438-441.

- Akudugu, J. A., & Oppong-Peprah, E. (2023). Local government revenue mobilization and management: The case of Asante Akim South District Assembly, Ghana. *Journal of Public Administration and Governance*, 3(2), 98-120
- Alejo, J., Galvao, A., Montes-Rojas, G., & Sosa-Escudero, W. (2015). Tests for normality in linear panel-data models. The Stata Journal, 15(3), 822-832.
- Alghamdi AH, Li L. (2013), Adapting design-based research as a research methodology in educational settings. *International Journal of Education and Research*. ;1(10), 1-12.
- Ali, Y. A. & Gitonga, A. (2019). Influence of stakeholders role on the performance of national government constituency development fund projects in Wajir West constituency, Kenya. *International Academic Journal of Information Sciences and Project Management*, 3(3), 289-311.
- Ali, Z. & Mustapha, G. (2023). On Accounting Firms Serving Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises: A Review, Synthesis and Research Agenda. *AAR*, 33(3): 313-332
- Alm, J., & Beck, W. (2019). Tax amnesties and compliance in the long run: A time series analysis. *National Tax Journal*, 46(1), 53-60.
- Alm, J., & Torgler, B. (2021). Culture differences and tax morale in the United States and in Europe. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 27(2), 224-246
- Al-Mutairi, H., & Al-Shammari, M. (2020). Revenue management and revenue generation in Kuwaiti municipalities. *Middle East Journal of Public Finance*, 22(3), 147-173.
- Al-Naimi, H., & Qasem, R. (2020). Stakeholder engagement and revenue optimization in GCC countries. *Middle East Journal of Economics*, 25(5), 628-648.
- Al-Omari, H., & Qasim, R. (2020). Regulatory compliance and revenue targets in the GCC: A case study. *Middle East Economic Review*, 33(1), 97-120.

- Amadi, E. J. (2014). The effect of training and development on employees' performance; at Safaricom limited call center (*Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi*).
- Ambarwati, R.D., Firmansyah, A., Hartopo, W. & Iswandy, I. (2023). Employee Competence and Management of Government Tax Revenues Receivable: Does Knowledge Management Matter? *Jurnal Riset Akuntansi Kontemporer*, 15(1): 76-86
- Andersen, L., Johansen, T., & Kristensen, J. (2022). Automation and revenue collection: Implications for financial targets in Scandinavian municipalities. *European Financial Management Review*, 32(1), 45-66.
- Andrews, R., & Boyne, G. A. (2022). Capacity, leadership, and organizational performance: Testing the black box model of public management. *Public Administration Review*, 72(1), 127-137.
- Andrews, R., & Moynihan, D. P. (2021). The limits of political management: Street-level bureaucrats and the growth of government. *The Public Administration Review*, 74(6), 700-712.
- Ansu-Mensah, P., Ansu-Mensah, M., & Kuupiel, D. (2021). What Evidence Exists on Individuals' Sustainable Consumption Practices in Africa? A Scoping Review Protocol. International Review of Management and Marketing, 11(5), 12-26.
- Asree, S., Zain, M., & Razalli, M. R. (2020). Influence of leadership competency and organisational culture on responsiveness and performance of firms. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 22(4), 500–516. doi:10.1108/09596111011042712
- Attah-Botchwey, E. (2018). Internal control as a tool for efficient management of revenue mobilization at the Metropolitan, Municipal and District Assemblies in Ghana. A case study of Accra Metropolitan Assembly. *American International Journal of Contemporary Research*, 8(1), 29-36.

- Awitta, M. (2010). Effectiveness of revenue collection strategies at Kenya Revenue Authority in Nairobi. *Journal of Finance*, 27.
- Ayodele, T., & Kwame, S. (2023). Stakeholder engagement and revenue collection in West African countries. West African Journal of Public Administration, 25(5), 628-648
- Azmi, A. S. M., Nawawi, A. H., Ab Latif, S. N. F., & Ling, N. L. F. J. (2013). Property valuers' receptive level on knowledge of computer aided valuation (CAV) system. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 105, 734-744.
- Bahl, R., & Martinez-Vazquez, J. (2023). Fiscal decentralization and local finance in developing countries. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Balunywa, W., Nangoli, S., Mugerwa, G. W., Teko, J. & Mayoka, K. G. (2024). An analysis of fiscal decentralization as a strategy for improving revenue performance in Ugandan Local governments 1. *Journal of Research in International Business* and Management, 4(2), 2251–28. https://doi.org/10.14303/jribm.2013.011
- Barão, A., de Vasconcelos, J. B., Rocha, Á., & Pereira, R. (2023). A Knowledge Management Approach to Capture Organizational Learning Networks. *International Journal of Information Management*, 37(6), 735–740. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2023.07.013</u>
- Barker, K., & Boxall, P. (2019). The impact of revenue collection agencies on municipal revenue performance: Evidence from Australia. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 29(2), 234-250. https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/muy019
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of management*, 17(1), 99-120.
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. Journal of Management, 17(1), 99-120.

- Bartram, D. (2005). The Great Eight Competencies: A Criterion-Centric Approach to Validation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(6), 1185–1203.
- Belhassan, K., & Azegagh, J. (2020). New Public Management reforms in developing countries: the Moroccan case. *IJBTSR International Journal of Business and Technology Studies and Research*, 2(3), 9-21.
- Ben C. (2022). Regulatory Compliance. retrieved from https://www.techtarget.com/searchcio/definition/regulatory-compliance on 27th February 2023
- Besley, T., & Persson, T. (2019). The origins of state capacity: Property rights, taxation, and politics. *American Economic Review*, 99(4), 1218-1244.
- Bet, B. K., & Yudah, O. A. (2017). Contribution of I-tax System as a strategy for revenue collection at Kenya revenue authority, rift valley region, Kenya. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, 7(9), 389-396.
- Bird, R. M. (2010). Subnational taxation in developing countries: a review of the literature. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, (5450).
- Bird, R. M. (2024). Subnational Taxation in Developing Countries: A Review of the Literature. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series.
- Bird, R. M., & Gendron, P. P. (2007). The VAT in developing and transitional countries. Cambridge University Press.
- Bird, R. M., & Smart, M. (2022). Intergovernmental fiscal transfers: International lessons for developing countries. World Bank Publications.
- Bird, R. M., & Zolt, E. M. (2022). Introduction: Fiscal Decentralization and Sub-National Government Finance. In R. M. Bird & E. M. Zolt (Eds.), Fiscal Decentralization in Developing Countries (pp. 1-21). Edward Elgar Publishing.

- Boadway, R. (2019). The role of tax expenditures in fiscal policy. National Tax Journal, 62(3), 375-402
- Brooks, C. (2008). RATS Handbook to accompany introductory econometrics for finance. *Cambridge Books*.
- Brown, D., & Green, S. (2023). Stakeholder engagement in municipal revenue strategies in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Policy*, 25(5), 628-648.
- Brown, D., & Taylor, R. (2022). Environmental regulation compliance and revenue in Australian local governments. *Australian Journal of Environmental Management*, 28(2), 144-167.
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social Research Methods (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Bücker, K., & Jansen, A. (2020). The impact of regulatory compliance on revenue in the EU digital services sector. *European Economic Review*, 65(3), 543-567.
- Campion, M. A., Fink, A. A., Ruggeberg, B. J., Carr, L., Phillips, G. M., & Odman, R. B. (2011). Doing Competencies Well: Best Practices in Competency Modeling. *Personnel Psychology*, 64, 225-262.
- Chan, D. C. (2006). Core competencies and performance management in Canadian public libraries. *Library management*, 27(3), 144-153.
- Charity W., John M., Julius K. (2021). Effect of staff competence on performance of county governments in the central region, Kenya. *International Journal of Recent Research in Commerce Economics and Management*. 8(3), 93-104,
- Cheema, G.S. and Rondinelli, D.A. (2007) From Government Decentralization to Decentralized Governance. In: Cheema, G.S. and Rondinelli, D.A., Eds., Decentralizing Governance: Emerging Concepts and Practices, Brookings *Institution Press*, Washington DC, 170-188.

- Cheeseman, N., Griffin, J., & Kinuthia, H. (2016). *Kenya: The politics of democratic transition*. Oxford University Press.
- Chege, D. G. (2018). Effect of Supply Chain Processes Automation on The Performance of Financial Intermediaries in Kenya. Unpublished Doctoral Thesis, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology.
- Chepkorir, M., Rugut, W., & Langat, P. (2021). Relationship Between Budgetary Monitoring and Financial Performance of County Government of Kericho, Kenya. *East African Journal of Business and Economics*, 4(1), 76-84.
- Chima, P., & Abdulhamid, O. S. (2015). Local government administration in Nigeria: the search for relevance. *Commonwealth Journal of Local Governance*, (18), 181-195.
- Chima, P., & Abdulhamid, O. S. (2022). Local government administration in Nigeria: The search for relevance. *Commonwealth Journal of Local Governance*, (18), 181.
- Clark, E., & Mitchell, S. (2023). Impact of revenue management on municipal financial health in Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Municipal Finance*, 28(1), 67-92.
- Collins, D., Quick, J. D., Musau, S. N., Kraushaar, D., & Hussein, I. M. (2016). The fall and rise of cost sharing in Kenya: the impact of phased implementation. *Health policy and planning*, 11(1), 52-63.
- Collis, J., & Hussey, R. (2021). Business Research: A Practical Guide for Undergraduate and Postgraduate Students (5th ed.). Palgrave Macmillan
- Commission on Revenue Allocation (2024). *Counties' Own Sources Revenue Training Guidelines*. Commission on Revenue Allocation
- Controller of Budget. (2023). Annual County Governments Budget Implementation Review Report FY 2022/23. Nairobi: Government of Kenya.
- Cooper, D. R., & Schindler, P. S. (2014). Business Research Methods (12th ed.). McGraw-Hill Education.

- CRA (2017), Counties' Own Sources Revenue Training Guidelines. *Government Printers* Nairobi, Kenya.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Steps in conducting a scholarly mixed methods study.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2018). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Sage Publications.
- Crook, R. C. (2003). Decentralisation and poverty reduction in Africa: the politics of local–central relations. Public Administration and Development: *The International Journal of Management Research and Practice*, 23(1), 77-88.
- Culpeper, R. & Aniket B. (2023). Enhanced Domestic Revenue Mobilization Through Reorienting Employee Development in China. Ottawa: The North-South Institute.
- Dag, N. & Andreas N. (2022). A Conceptual Framework for Understanding the Purpose of Change Initiatives, *Journal of Change Management*. 22 (3), 292-320.
- David, L. (2017). Planning to Achieve Revenue Targets. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/planning-achieve-revenue-target-david-lamont
- Diaz, L., & Torres, M. (2021). Revenue management and municipal financial sustainability in Brazil. *Latin American Journal of Public Administration*, 17(4), 421-446.

- Downing, S. M. (2004). Reliability: on the reproducibility of assessment data. *Medical education*, 38(9), 1006-1012.
- Edward, P. (2016). Revenue collection in developing nations. *Journal of finance*. 33 (3) 456-463.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Agency theory: An assessment and review. Academy of management review, 14(1), 57-74.
- Elmirzaev, S. & Kurbankulova, N. (2016). Tax Arrears, Tax Compliance and Tax Debt Management in Uzbekistan: Existing Issues and Possible Solutions. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 7(2).
- Elnaga, A., and Imran, A. (2013). The effect of training on employee performance. *European journal of Business and Management*, 5(4), 137-147.
- Emojong, J. (2018). Influence of Competence-Based Education Approach on Employee
 Productivity and Efficiency: A Case of Uganda Revenue Authority Education
 Programs. Unpublished Master Thesis. Makerere University, Uganda.
- Eriksson, P., & Kovalainen, A. (2015). Qualitative methods in business research: A practical guide to social research. *Sage*.
- Eva L. (2021), What is revenue management and why is it important? https://www.mews.com/en/blog/what-is-revenue-management
- Ewa, E. U., & Udoayang, J. O. (2012). The impact of internal control design on banks" ability to investigate staff fraud, and life style and fraud detection in Nigeria. *International Journal of Research in Economics and Social Sciences*, 2(2), 32-43.
- Ewa, E. U., Inah, E. U., & Edet, A. O. (2018). Regulatory compliance and its effect on the capacity of Nigerian banks to evaluate fraudulent behavior and identify fraud. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 25(2), 540-558. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-01-2017-0005

- Fadilah P. (2024). Employee Core Competencies at the Inland Revenue Board of Malaysia. The Journal of Developing Areas, 19(3): 312-344
- Fadilah P., Maniam K., & Nafis A. (2015) Employee Core Competencies and Organizational Excellence: An Interpretative Analysis. Proceedings of the Australasian Conference on Business and Social Sciences 2015, Sydney in partnership with The Journal of Developing Areas ISBN 978-0-9925622-1-2.
- Fakhari, N.Y.M., Din, B.H., & Omar, R. (2022). Staff Competence, Support Services, and VAT Collection Performance: Does Managerial Performance Mediate the Relationship? *South Asian Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*, 3(5), 85– 102.
- Fernandhytia, F., & Muslichah, M. (2020). The Effect of Internal Control, Individual Morality and Ethical Value on Accounting Fraud Tendency. *Media Ekonomi Dan Manajemen*, 35(1), 112–127.
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Fjeldstad, O. H., & Heggstad, K. (2017). Tax reform and local government revenue in Sierra Leone. International Centre for Tax and Development (ICTD) Working Paper, 59.
- Fjeldstad, O., & Heggstad, K. (2018). Local government revenue mobilization in Anglophone Africa. *CMI Working Paper Series*, 6, 31-36.
- Fjeldstad, O.-H., & Heggstad, K. (2014). *Local government revenue mobilisation in Anglophone Africa*. ICTD Working Paper 7.
- Fombad, C. M., & Steytler, N. (2019). Decentralization and Constitutionalism in Africa. Oxford University Press.
- Frederickson, H. G., & Smith, K. B. (2020). The Public Administration Theory Primer. Westview Press.
- Freeman, R. E., Dmytriyev, S. D., & Phillips, R. A. (2021). Stakeholder theory and the resource-based view of the firm. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1757-1770.
- Gachanja, J., & Mwaura, M. (2020). *Public sector management and governance in Kenya*. University of Nairobi Press.
- Garcia-Perez, A., Cegarra-Navarro, J. G., Bedford, D., Thomas, M., & Wakabayashi, S. (2023). *Knowledge Capabilities – Roles, Responsibilities, Placement*. In Critical Capabilities and Competencies for Knowledge Organizations (pp. 95–114). https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78973-767-720191012
- Gatta, M., Boushey, H., & Appelbaum, E. (2018). High-Touch and Here-to-Stay: Future Skills Demands in Low Wage Service Occupations. RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation *Journal of the Social Sciences*, 4(5), 29-50. https://doi.org/10.7758/RSF.2018.4.5.02
- Gatta, V., & Marcucci, E. (2014). Urban freight transport and policy changes: Improving decision makers' awareness via an agent-specific approach. *Transport policy*, 36, 248-252.
- Gbegble, M. K., Asamoah, K., Adu-Poku, S., & Aikins, E. (2022). Examining the correlation between taxpayer education and revenue mobilization amongst MMDA's in Ghana. *International Journal of Scientific Research*, 3(1), 1-29.
- Ghasemi, A., & Zahediasl, S. (2012). Normality tests for statistical analysis: A guide for non-statisticians. *International Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 10(2), 486-489.
- Gikonyo, J. M., Karanja, P. K., & Mwangi, R. W. (2018). Agency Revenue Collection Models and Their Impact on Revenue Targets: A Study of Kenyan Counties. *African Journal of Business Management*, 12(9), 220-234.
- Gitaru, K. (2017). The impact of system automation on revenue collection in Kenya Revenue Authority. A case study of SIMBA). *Munich Personal RePEc Archive* (MPRA). 80343, University of Nairobi, School of economics

- Gitaru, Kelvin, (2017). The Effect of Taxpayer Education on Tax Compliance in Kenya. A case study of SME's in Nairobi Central Business District. MPRA Paper 80344, University Library of Munich, Germany.
- Githua, F. & Solomon, N. (2018) Effect of Administrative Capacity on Revenue Collection in Nyeri County, Kenya. International Journal of Social Science and Humanities Research. 6(4), 1337-1348
- Gituma, H. K. (2017). Determinants of effective revenue collection by Embu County, Kenya (Doctoral dissertation, University of Embu).
- Global Centre for Policy and Strategy (April 09, 2024). Increasing counties' own revenue. https://www.businessdailyafrica.com/bd/opinion-analysis/columnists/increasingcounties-own-revenue--4584792
- Goetz, N., & Wald, A. (2021). Employee Performance In Temporary Organizations : The Effects Of Person- Environment Fit And Temporariness On Task Performance And Innovative Performance. European Management Review, 18(2), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12438
- Gómez, J., & Ramirez, P. (2021). Stakeholder involvement in fiscal policy in Colombian municipalities. *Latin American Journal of Public Finance*, 25(5), 628-648.
- Gong, Y., Huang, J.C. & Farh, J.L. (2022) Employee learning orientation, transformational leadership, and employee creativity: The mediating role of employee creative self-efficacy. *Acad. Manag.* J, 52, 765–778
- Government of Kenya (GoK) (2010). The Constitution of Kenya 2010. Nairobi: Government Printer. Nairobi. Kenya
- Graeme, Y. (2017). From protection to repression: the politics of street vending in Kampala. *Journal of Eastern African Studies* 11 (4), 714-733

Gujarati, D. (2003). Basic Econometrics. 4th ed. New York: McGraw Hill, pp. 638-640.

- Hair, H. J. (2005). Outcomes for children and adolescents after residential treatment: A review of research from 1993 to 2003. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 14, 551-575.
- Hansen, B. (1999). Testing for linearity. Journal of economic surveys, 13(5), 551-576.
- Haryono, S., Supardi, S., & Udin, U. (2020). The effect of training and job promotion on work motivation and its implications on job performance: Evidence from Indonesia. *Management Science Letters*, 10(9), 2107-2112.
- Hawkins, D. M. (2020). *Identification of outliers*. Chapman and Hall. London New York.
- Henry, R.K., Yongsheng, Z. & Jun, D. (2016) Municipal Solid Waste Management Challenges in Developing Countries—Kenyan Case Study. *Journal of Waste Management*, 26(1), 92-100.
- Hood, C. (1991). A public management for all seasons? *Public Administration*, 69(1), 3-19.

https://doi.org/10.1111/auar.12404

- Hubert, M., & Vandervieren, E. (2018). An adjusted box plot for skewed distributions. Computational Statistics & Data Analysis, 52(12), 5186-5201.
- Huitema, B. E. (1986). Autocorrelation in behavioral research: Wherefore art thou?.In Research methods in applied behavior analysis: Issues and advances (pp. 187-208). Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Hussein, M.A., & Mutswenje, V.S., (2020). Organizational practices and revenue collection in Garissa county, Kenya. *International Academic Journal of Economics* and Finance, 3(6), 234-261
- IMF (2015), Current Challenges In Revenue Mobilization: Improving Tax Compliance. IMF Policy Papers. Accessed from http://www.imf.org/external/pp/ppindex.aspx

- International Budget Partnership Kenya (2021). Kenya's County Budget Transparency Survey 2021. IBP Kenya
- Ismail, I., Fathonih, A., Prabowo, H., Hartati, S., & Redjeki, F. (2020). Transparency and Corruption: Does E-Government Effective to Combat Corruption? *International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation*, 24(4): 5396-5404
- Ivanov, S. H., Webster, C., Stoilova, E., & Slobodskoy, D. (2022). Biosecurity, crisis management, automation technologies and economic performance of travel, tourism and hospitality companies–A conceptual framework. *Tourism Economics*, 28(1), 3-26.
- Jain, A. (2019). Fundamentals of financial management. Pearson Education India.
- Jain, R. (2021). A guide to revenue management. The Cornell Hotel and Restaurant. Administration Quarterly, 42(6), 82-91
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs, and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3(4), 305-360..
- Jensen, M.C., & Meckling, W.H., 1976. Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure, *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3(4), 305-360.
- Jeppesen, Matilde. (2021). Rationales for and Policy Implications of Implementing Semi-Autonomous Revenue Authorities in Sub-Saharan Africa. 10.4324/9781003143840-23.
- Johnson, M., & Taylor, R. (2022). Stakeholder engagement in public financial management in Australia. Australian Journal of Government and Policy, 25(5), 628-648.
- Johnson, P., & Müller, A. (2020). Effects of revenue management on local government financial performance in Germany. *European Financial Management Review*, 31(2), 312-337.

- Johnson, P., & Müller, A. (2020). Effects of revenue management on local government financial performance in Germany. *European Financial Management Review*, 31(2), 312-337.
- Johnson, P., & Müller, A. (2020). Effects of revenue management on local government financial performance in Germany. *European Financial Management Review*, 31(2), 312-337.
- Johnson, P., & Müller, A. (2021). Effects of revenue management on local government financial performance in Germany. *European Financial Management Review*, 31(2), 312-337.
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational researcher*, 33(7), 14-26.
- Kabeer, N. (2019). Gender equality and women's empowerment: A critical analysis of the third Millennium Development Goal 1. *Gender & Development*, 13(1),): 13-24.
- Kamana, D. (2016). Influence of electronic tax management system on effectiveness of tax collection in Rwanda: a case study of Rwanda revenue authority (RRA) (Doctoral dissertation, University of Rwanda).
- Kanyinga, E. M. (2016). Effect of tax reforms on compliance with turnover tax among small and medium enterprises in Industrial Area, Nairobi (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- Kanyinga, K. (2014). *Governance and development: The role of devolved government in Kenya.* University of Nairobi Press.
- Karimi, H., Kimani, E. M. & Kinyua, J. M. (2017). Effect of technology and information systems on revenue collection by the county government of Embu, Kenya. *International Academic Journal of Information Systems and Technology*, 2(1), 19-35

- Kayaga, L. (2007). Tax Policy Challenges Facing Developing Countries: A Case of Uganda. Journal of Public Administration and Policy Research, 3(5), 61-67.
- Kennedy, J. A., & Sugden, K. F. (2022). The impact of taxation on the capital budgeting decision of companies. Policy paper on local government finance. Dar es Salaam: President's Office – Regional Administration and Local Government/Ministry of Finance.
- Kenya Government Printer (2012). County Governments Act., Nairobi Kenya
- Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (2024). Enhancing Own Source Revenue Collections Across Counties in Kenya. *KIPPRA*
- Kenya Revenue Authority (2021). Annual Revenue Performance Report for the financial year 2020/2021. Nairobi. *Government Printers*.
- Khadondi, S. (2018). Determinants of own source revenue mobilisation by counties in Kenya. International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR). https://www. ijsr. net/archive/v5i11/ART20162462. pdf. Retrieved September, 7, 2018.
- Khan, M. A., Ahmad, I., & Khan, R. (2019). The Impact of Revenue Collection Automation on Revenue Target: Evidence from Pakistan. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 32(4), 381-396.
- Kiilu, M. R., & Ngugi, K. (2014). Effect of Public Financial Management Reforms in the Effective Management of Public Funds in Kenya: A Case Study of the National Treasury. *European Journal of Business Management*, 2(1),161-169.
- Kimutai, B. D., Mulongo, L. S., & Omboto, P. (2017). Influence of training in revenue mobilization on county socio-economic development in Kenya. International journal of economics, commerce and management, 5(7), 565-582.
- Kimutai, D., (2017) Revenue mobilization approaches and their influence on the county socio-economic development in the North-Rift region. *Doctoral Thesis, Moi University*.

- King, G. (2022). The effect of electoral institutions on women's representation in developing countries. *Social Science Research*, 31(3), 354-379.
- Kipp, J., & Zeng, Y. (2020). Resource-based strategies in public sector revenue collection: Analyzing the role of organizational capabilities. *Journal of Public Budgeting, Accounting & Financial Management,* 32(3), 289-307. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBAFM-09-2019-0105
- KIPPRA. (2021). Enhancing Revenue Mobilization for County Governments in Kenya. Nairobi: Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis.
- Kiprotich, A. M., Njuguna, R., & Kilika, J. (2018). Total quality management practices and operational performance of Kenya revenue authority. *International Journal of Contemporary Aspects in Strategic Management (IJCASM)*, 2(1), 91-105.
- Kirimi, P. W. (2015). Influence of Automation of Revenue Collection Processes on Organizational Performance: A Case of County Government of Meru, Kenya. Unpublished Master's Thesis University of Nairobi
- Kogei, J. (2020). Influence of Revenue Collection Strategies on Revenue Collection In Meru County Government, Kenya. International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management 8(8), 496-514
- Koh, C. E., & Nam, K. T. (2005). Business use of the internet: a longitudinal study from a value chain perspective. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 105 85-95.
- Komolov, O. (2015). Optimal Taxation of Banks in Financial Sector Regulation in Uzbekistan: Practical Approach. Research Journal of Finance and Accounting, 6(20).
- Kothari, C. R. (2004). Research methodology: Methods and techniques. New Age International.

- Kumar, S., & Gupta, M. (2021). Leveraging automation for improved revenue collection: Insights from Indian municipalities. *Public Administration Review*, 81(4), 678-692. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13351
- Kwaji, S. F., & Dabari, I. J. (2022). Emperical Analysis of Tax Revenue Collection by the Federal Government in Nigeria. *European Journal of Accounting Auditing and Finance Research*, 7(22): 1-16
- Lee, H., & Kang, C. (2021). Stakeholder engagement and financial management in South Korean municipalities. *Public Finance and Management*, 25(5), 628-648.
- Lee, H., & Kim, S. (2022). Regulatory compliance and revenue targets in South Korean municipalities. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Administration*, 34(1), 67-89.
- Ling, L.M. & Ahamad, N. N.H. (2020). Integrating ICT skills and tax software in tax education: A survey of Malaysian tax practitioners' perspectives. *CampusWide Information Systems*, 27(5), 303-317
- Macharia, K. A., Oluoch, D. O., & Ncabira, D. M. (2021). Factors Affecting Revenue Growth by County Governments in Kenya. Account and Financial Management Journal, 6(11), 2557-2565.
- Madegwa, B. L., Makokha, E. N., & Namusonge, G. (2018). Effects of automation of revenue collection on the performance of county government: A case study of Trans Nzoia, County Government. Kenya. European Journal of Business and Management, 10(11), 32-49.
- Maisiba, M., & Atambo, L. (2016). The Effects of Revenue System Modernization on Revenue Collection at Kenya Revenue Authority. M.Sc., Research Project, University of Nairobi.
- Malalgoda, C., Amaratunga, D., & Haigh, R. (2016). Local governments and disaster risk reduction: A conceptual framework. In N. Domingo, and S. Wilkinson (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Building Resilience: Building Resilience to Address the Unexpected*. 699-709. Massey University.

- Malalgoda, C., Amaratunga, D., & Haigh, R. (2021). Overcoming challenges faced by local governments in creating a resilient built environment in cities. *Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal*, 25(5), 628-648.
- Malik, A., Sheikh, A., & Mahmood, K. (2023). Assessing the perceived research competencies of academic librarians in Pakistan: Implications for work performance. Journal of Librarianship and Information Science, 55(3), 535-547. https://doi.org/10.1177/09610006221090222
- Mandala, N. O., Odhiambo, V., & Wanga, C. H. (2020). Revenue Management: Automation, Challenges, and Legal Perspectives of County Governments in Kenya. *European Scientific Journal, ESJ*, 16(25), 196-224.
- Manik, S., & Syafrina, N. (2018). PengaruhKompetensiTerhadapKinerjaDosenSekolah Tinggi IlmuEkonomi Riau. *Journal IlmiahEkonomi Dan Bisnis*, 15(1), 1–6.
- Mann, A. (2004). Are semi-autonomous revenue authorities the answer to tax administration problems in developing countries? A practical guide. *Research paper for the project*: Fiscal Reform in Support of Trade Liberalization.
- Manning, N. (2001). The Legacy of the New Public Management in Developing Countries. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 67(2), 297–312.
- Margheim, L., Hora, J. A., &d Pattison, D. (2010). Educational Competencies That Mid-Sized CPA Firms Value In Their Professional Accounting Staff. American *Journal* of Business Education (AJBE), 3(6), 69–80.
- Mathis, R.L. & Jackson, J.H. (2000) *Human Resource Management*. South Western Collage Publishing, Ohio.
- Mbeche, W.N, Ngari, J.M., & Richu, S.W. (2014). Employees' Level of E-Procurement Skills as a Challenge Facing the Implementation of Electronic Procurement System at Nakuru Water and Sanitation Services Ltd, Nakuru, Kenya. *International journal* of Science and Research. 3. 499-502.

- McAndrews, C., & Marcus, J. (2014). Community-Based Advocacy at the Intersection of Public Health and Transportation: The Challenges of Addressing Local Health Impacts within a Regional Policy Process. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 34(2), 190–202.
- McLure, C. E. (2019). Enhancing the performance of sub-national governments: The role of decentralization. International Tax Program, Harvard Law School, Working Paper 30.
- McLure, C. E., & Martinez-Vazquez, J. (2022). The fiscal response to changes in oil prices: Evidence from the states of the United States. *National Tax Journal*, 57(4), 739-756.
- Mensah, K. (2023). Regulatory compliance and revenue collection in West Africa. *West African Journal of Public Administration*, 24(2), 178-202.
- Miller, T., & Roberts, J. (2021). Revenue management strategies and municipal revenue outcomes in urban centers. *Urban Economics Journal*, 45(3), 203-229.
- Miller, T., & Roberts, J. (2021). Revenue management strategies and municipal revenue outcomes in urban centers. *Urban Economics Journal*, 45(3), 203-229.
- Miller, T., & Roberts, J. (2022). Technology-driven revenue collection systems and municipal revenue outcomes. *Urban Economics Journal*, 46(2), 210-234.
- Ministry of National Treasury and Planning (2019). The National Policy to Support Enhancement of County's Own-Source Revenue. *Policy Paper of 2019* The Government Printer.
- Mohajan, Haradhan (2017). Two Criteria for Good Measurements in Research: Validity and Reliability. *Munich Personal RePEc Archive. Annals of SpiruHaret University*, 17(3): 58-82
- Mookerjee, R. (2022). Monitoring and incentive compatibility in social safety nets. Journal of Development Economics, 70(1), 25-55.

- Moyo, J., & Gumede, K. (2023). The role of revenue management in achieving OSR targets in South African municipalities. *Journal of African Public Finance*, 14(3), 256-281.
- Mugambi, F. K., & Wanjohi, J. M. (2018). Factors affecting implementation of revenue collection systems in county governments in Kenya, a case of Meru county. *International Journal for Research in Business, Management and Accounting* (ISSN: 2455-6114), 4(8), 09-30.
- Mugenda, O. M., & Mugenda, A. G. (2003). *Research methods: Quantitative and qualitative approaches*. Acts Press. (Kothari, 2014).
- Mugenda, O. M., & Mugenda, A. G. (2003). *Research methods: Quantitative and qualitative approaches* (Revised Ed). Nairobi: African Centre for Technology Studies (ACTS)
- Mugenda, O. M., & Mugenda, A. G. (2003). *Research methods: Quantitative and qualitative approaches*. Acts Press.
- Mulgan, R. (2020). Putting the public back into governance: The challenges of citizen engagement. *Public Administration Review*, 60(4), 433-442.
- Muriithi, C.M., (2013). The relationship between government revenue and economic growth in Kenya. *International Academic Journal of Information Sciences and Project Management*, 1 (1), 87-109
- Mutua, J., & Wamalwa, N. (2017). Enhancing Mobilization of Own Source Revenue in Nairobi City County: Issues and Opportunities. *Institute of Economic Affairs*, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Muturi M.H. & Kiarie N. (2020). Effects of online Tax System on Tax Compliance Among Small Taxpayers in Meru County, Kenya. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management,* 3(12), 12-29.

- Muute, N. C., & James, R. (2019). Project planning practices and performance of construction projects in Nairobi City County, Kenya. Unpublished Masters Dissertation), Kenyatta University, Kenya.
- Mwachiro, B. (2013). Effects of Internal Controls on Revenue Collection: A Case of Kenya Revenue Authority. *Unpublished Masters Thesis*, University of Nairobi
- Mwaura, M. (2015). The role of devolved governments in revenue collection. *Journal of Public Policy Studies*, 18(4), 22-35.
- Naburi, A. O. (2017). An Evaluation of Property Rates Collection and Enforcement in Devolved Systems of Governance-a Case Study of Nairobi City County. Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi.
- National Assembly Bill, (2018). The County Allocation of Revenue (Amendment) Bill. Nairobi: *Government Printer*.
- Ndegwa, P., & Owino, W. (2023). Regulatory compliance and revenue collection in Kenyan counties. *African Journal of Public Finance*, 19(2), 210-237.
- Ndiaye, A., & Moustier, P. (2022). Automation and revenue collection efficiency in municipal governments: Insights from Senegal. *Public Budgeting & Finance*, 42(1), 55-71. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbaf.12367
- Ndonye, P. (2012). Factors affecting revenue collection in the ministry of State for Immigration and Registration of Persons in Kenya. Unpublished Masters Project, Moi University, Eldoret, Kenya.
- Nduta W., Shisia A., Kamau G., & Asienga I., (2017). Challenges Facing Public Resources Management Of Devolved Governments In Kenya: A Case Of Machakos County. International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management. 5(9), 388 - 409

- Ngicuru, P. N., & Muiru, M. (2019). An Emperical Reviiew of Factors Affecting Revenue Collection in Nairobi County, Kenya. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*, 5(8), 324-359.
- Ngicuru, P. N., Muiru, M. M., & Riungu, I. (2016). Effect of Selected Factors Affecting Revenue Collection in Nairobi City County Government. *American Journal of Finance*, 1(1), 1 - 10.
- Ngure, K. M., Kananu, A., Munini, M. E., Evusa, Z., Ndirangu, A. W., & Sisimonda, K. M. (2019). Factors influencing optimal revenue collection in Kitui county government.
- Nguyen, T., & Tran, H. (2021). Evaluating automated revenue systems in Vietnamese municipalities. *Southeast Asian Journal of Public Finance*, 15(2), 189-214.
- Nguyen, T., & Tran, H. (2021). Revenue management and its impact on revenue targets in Vietnamese municipalities. *Southeast Asian Journal of Public Finance*, 15(2), 189-214.
- Nguyen, T., & Tran, H. (2022). Evaluating automated revenue systems in Vietnamese municipalities. *Southeast Asian Journal of Public Finance*, 16(1), 123-147.
- Njoroge, M., & Karanja, L. (2023). Impact of revenue automation on financial performance and OSR targets in Kenyan local governments. *African Journal of Public Finance*, 22(1), 189-210.
- Nkote, H. & Luwugge, T. (2020). The relationship between automation and customs tax administration using empirical evidence from Uganda. *Journal of Management*, 45(4),785-802.
- Nkuna, F. (2021). Barriers to revenue collection affecting municipal financial viability: A case of Maruleng local municipality (Doctoral dissertation).

- Nthenge, M. (2020). Automation activities, capacity building and revenue collection performance at Kenya Revenue Authority (Doctoral dissertation, Kenya School of Revenue Administration, Moi University).
- Nyabera, Thomas M. (2015). Influence of Stakeholder Participation on Implementation of Projects in Kenya: a Case of Compassion International Assisted Projects in Mwingi Sub-county. (*Masters Thesis*, Nairobi University)
- O'Donnell, M., & Lewis, P. (2021). Regulatory compliance and revenue generation in U.S. municipalities. *Journal of Public Administration*, 49(2), 102-127.
- Obara, L., & Nangih, E., (2017). Accounting System and Payroll Fraud in the Public Sector: A Survey of Selected Ministries and Parastatals in River State, Nigeria. *Journal of Accounting and Financial Management*, 3, 10-24.
- Obara, L., & Nangih, E., (2017). Tax Compliance Barriers and Internally Generated Revenue in Nigeria: Empirical from Small and Medium Enterprises in Portharcourt Metropolis. International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences. 7. 10.6007/IJARAFMS/v7-i4/3481.
- Ochuodho, H., & Ngaba, D. (2020). Revenue administration strategies and financial performance of county government of Kisumu, Kenya. *International Journal of Economics, Business and Management Research, 4*(12), 230-251.
- OECD (2016), Co-operative Tax Compliance: Building Better Tax Control Frameworks, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- Office of the Controller of Budget (2020). County Governments Budget Implementation Review Report for The First Nine Months of FY 2019/20. Republic of Kenya
- Office of the Controller of Budget (2021). County Governments Budget Implementation Review Report for The First Nine Months of FY 2020/21. Republic of Kenya
- Office of the Controller of Budget (2022). County Governments Budget Implementation Review Report for The First Nine Months of FY 2021/22. Republic of Kenya

- Office of the Controller of Budget (2023). County Governments Budget Implementation Review Report for The First Nine Months of FY 2022/23. Republic of Kenya
- Ogada M., Shibairo P., & Renson M. P. (2018). Perceived Constraints to Effective County Own Source Revenue Collection In Taita Taveta County of Kenya. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Management and Social Sciences*. 7(11), 1-12
- Ogula, A.P. (2015). *A handbook on educational research* (2nd Ed.). Port Victoria, Kenya: New Kemit Publishers.
- Okiro, A. (2015). The effect of E-Payment system on revenue collection by the Nairobi City County Government (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- Okotchi, C. J., Makokha, E. N., & Namusonge, G. (2020). Effect Of Budgetary Process On Performance Of County Governments In Kenya. *International Journal of Recent Research in Social Sciences and Humanities*, 7(2), 11-21.
- Okumu, A. B., Olweny, T. & Muturi, W. (2022). The Nexus Between Firm Ownership, Board Composition and Initial Public Offering Stock Performance on the Nairobi Securities Exchange in Kenya. *Journal of Accounting, Business and Finance Research*, 14(2), 30-44
- Okunogbe, O. & Santoro, F. (2023). Increasing Tax Collection in African Countries: The Role of Information Technology, *Journal of African Economies*, 32(1): 57– 83, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jae/ejac036</u>
- Olatunji, O. C., & Ayodele, K. B. (2017). Impact of Information Technology on Tax Administration in Southwest, Nigeria. *Archives of Business Research*, 5(9), 139-150.
- Olowookere, J. K., & Fasina, H. T. (2023). Taxpayers' Education: A Key Strategy in Achieving Voluntary Compliance in Lagos State, Nigeria. European Journal of Business and Management, 5(10), 146-155

- Olusola, O., & Siyanbola, A. (2014). Revenue Generation and Engagement of Internally Generated Revenue (IGR) by Local Governments in Nigeria. *Journal of Policy and Development Studies*, 9(1), 26-39.
- Omolo, J. & Anyanzwa, J. (2019). *Challenges in Achieving Revenue Collection Targets in Kenyan Counties*. Institute of Economic Affairs Kenya Report.
- Omwono, G. A. Yokobed, J. & Owambi, K. (2016). Effects of Information Communication Technology (ICT) On Collection of Premium a Case of Jubilee Insurance Company in Uashin Gishu County, Kenya. International Journal of Social Science and Economics Invention 2(8),56-67
- Onyango, L.B., Bwisa, H. & Orwa, G. (2017) Critical Factors Influencing the Implementation of Public Infrastructure Projects in Kenya: A Case of Thika Sub-County, Kiambu County Kenya. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, 7, 200-211.
- Osborne, D. (2020). The new public governance? Emerging perspectives on the theory and practice of public governance. Routledge.
- Oso, W. Y. & Onen, D. (2016). Writing research proposal and report. The Jomo Kenyatta Foundation.
- Otieno, G., & Waweru, K. (2019). Automation of Revenue Collection and Its Effects on the Achievement of Revenue Targets in Nairobi County, Kenya. *Journal of Economics and Business Studies*, 2(1), 42-59.
- Owidhi, J. (2018). Effect Of Automation System Outcomes On Revenue Collection Of Nakuru County Government, Kenya (Doctoral Dissertation, Kisii University)
- Owino, H. O., Otieno, S., & Odoyo, F. S. (2017). Influence of information and communication technology on revenue collection in county governments in Kenya:
 A Comparative Study of Migori and Homa Bay County Governments. *International Journal of Recent Research in Commerce, Economics and Management*, 4(1), 66-96.

- Owino, P. O., Senaji, T. A., Eng, R., & Ntara, C. (2017). Effect of innovation in revenue collection processes on organizational performance of Nairobi City County. *International Academic Journal of Human Resource and Business Administration*, 2(3), 361-380
- Owino, P., & Muthoni, L. (2023). The role of revenue management in achieving OSR targets in Kenyan counties. *African Journal of Public Finance*, 21(1), 154-179.
- Owino, P., & Muthoni, L. (2023). The role of revenue management in achieving OSR targets in Kenyan counties. *African Journal of Public Finance*, 21(1), 154-179.
- Owino, P., & Muthoni, L. (2023). The role of revenue management in achieving OSR targets in Kenyan counties. *African Journal of Public Finance*, 21(1), 154-179.
- Owino, P., & Muthoni, L. (2024). The role of revenue management in achieving OSR targets in Kenyan counties. *African Journal of Public Finance*, 21(1), 154-179.
- Owino, W., & Akech, J. (2023). Stakeholder engagement and revenue collection efficiency in Kenyan counties. *African Journal of Public Administration*, 25(5), 628-648.
- Owusu, E.L & Odhiambo, N.M., (2012). The Dynamics of Financial Liberalisation in Ghana, *International Business and Economics Research Journal*, 11(8): 881 – 894. http://journals.cluteonline.com/index.php/IBER/issue/view/782
- Pallant, J. (2020). SPSS Survival Manual: A Step by Step Guide to Data Analysis Using IBM SPSS (7th ed.). McGraw-Hill Education.
- Park, H., & Park, J. H. (2022). Citizen Participation and Budget Variance: How Does Local Government Make Better Fiscal Accountability? *Journal of Local Self-Government*, 20(2).
- Park, S., & Lee, K. (2022). Revenue management and financial performance in South Korean local governments. *Asian Journal of Public Administration*, 38(1), 89-115.

- Park, S., & Lee, K. (2022). Revenue management and financial performance in South Korean local governments. *Asian Journal of Public Administration*, 38(1), 89-115.
- Park, S., & Lee, K. (2023). Revenue management and financial performance in South Korean local governments. *Asian Journal of Public Administration*, 39(1), 75-98.
- Parker, C., & Nielsen, V. L. (Eds.). (2011). Explaining compliance: Business responses to regulation. *Edward Elgar Publishing*.
- Paton, S., & Andrew, B., (2019). The role of the Project Management Office (PMO) in product lifecycle management: A case study in the defense industry, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Elsevier, 208(C), 43-52.
- Penrose, E. (1959) The Theory of the Growth of the Firm. Basil Blackwell, Oxford.
- Pitts, D. W., Hicklin, A., & Hawley, J. D. (2019). Generational influences on the workplace: What works and what doesn't. *Public Personnel Management*, 38(1), 23-41.
- Podsakoff, N. P., LePine, J. A., & LePine, M. A. (2022). Differential challenge stressorhindrance stressor relationships with job attitudes, turnover intentions, turnover, and withdrawal behavior: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(2), 438-454.
- Potnuru, R. K. G., & Sahoo, C. K. (2022). HRD Interventions, Employee Competencies and Organizational Effectiveness: An Empirical Study. European Journal of Training and Development, 40(5), 345–365. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-02-2022-0008
- Potoski, M., & Prakash, A. (2022). Stakeholder engagement in local government revenue strategies. Journal of Public Administration, 25(5), 628-648.
- Puteh, F., Kaliannan, M., & Alam, N. (2016). Employee core competencies and organisational excellence: An interpretative analysis. *Australian Journal of Business and Economic Studies*, 2(1), 45-55.

- Qanchora, R. A., Gichohi, P., & Kambura, S. (2021). Assessment of innovative moneycollecting systems strategy for mobilizing own-source revenue in Isiolo County Government. *Journal of Finance & Accounting*, 1(2), 10-22
- Rainey, H. G. (2021). Understanding and managing public organizations. Jossey-Bass.
- Rainey, H. G., & Steinbauer, P. (2019). Galloping elephants: Developing elements of a theory of effective government organizations. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 9(1): 1-32.
- Ramirez, J., & Gomez, L. (2021). Regulatory compliance and revenue outcomes in Colombian municipalities. Latin American Public Finance Journal, 16(4), 379-405.
- Razzaq, S., Shujahat, M., Hussain, S., Nawaz, F., Wang, M., Ali, M., & Tehseen, S. (2022). Knowledge Management, Organizational Commitment and Knowledge-Worker Performance: The Neglected Role of Knowledge Management in The Public Sector. *Business Process Management Journal*, 25(5), 923–947. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-03-2022-0079

Republic of Kenya. (2007). Vision 2030. Government of Kenya.

- Robert, J. (2014) Efforts to enhance compliance with tax reforms. *Journal of Finance*. 22 (2) 43-59
- Roxburgh, T., Merrie, A., Pecl, G., & McGee, J. (2020). Stakeholder engagement in the EU Marine Strategy Framework Directive. Environmental Policy and Governance, 30(3), 125-138. https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1895.
- Ruz, J. (2021). The Effect of Full Disclosure Policy Compliance on Financial Performance of Local Government Units Moderated by Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report: A Study Conducted in the Province of Bataan, Philippines. *Journal of Production, Operations Management and Economics* (JPOME) ISSN 2799-1008, 1(02), 21-65.

- Saha, S., & Sundaram, K. (2021). Effectiveness of Revenue Collection Agencies in Municipalities: Insights from India. *Journal of Urban Economics and Public Policy*, 15(3), 150-165.
- Salman, M., Ganie, S. A., & Saleem, I. (2020). Employee Competencies as Predictors of Organizational Performance: A Study of Public and Private Sector Banks. *Management and Labour Studies*, 45(4), 416–432.
- Sande, D., Okiro, K., Wanjare, J., & Omoro, N. (2023). Moderating effect of automated revenue collection system on the relationship between budgeting practices and financial performance of county governments in Kenya. African Journal of Emerging Issues, 5(8), 48-66.
- Saputra, M., & Hatuhaean, S. M. M., (2016). The effect of financial management knowledge, competence and supervision Act of the Government's Internal Control Officer on the Quality of Government's Performance Accountability Report Evaluation. Academic Journal of Economic Studies, 2(2), 20-31.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2019). *Research Methods for Business Students* (8th ed.). Pearson.
- Sekaran, U. & Bougie, R. (2013) Research Methods for Business: A Skill-Building Approach. 6th Edition, Wiley, New York.
- Shah, A. (2021). Fiscal decentralization and macroeconomic management. Public Budgeting & Finance, 26(4), 1-24.
- Shibia, A., & Barako, D., (2017). Determinants of micro and small enterprises growth in Kenya. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*. 24, 105-118.
- Simiyu, R.S., Mweru, J.N., & Omete, F.I. (2014). The effects of devolved funding on socio- economic welfare of Kenyans: A case of constituency development fund in Kimilili, Kenya. *European Journal of Accounting Auditing and Finance Research*, 2(7), 31-51.

- Slack, E. (2023). Financing Infrastructure: Who Should Pay? Institute on Municipal Finance and Governance, University of Toronto.
- Slemrod, J. B., & Blumenthal, M. (1996). The income tax compliance cost of big business. *Public finance quarterly*, 24(4), 411-438.
- Smith, J., & Brown, R. (2022). Revenue management in Australian local governments. Australian Journal of Government Finance, 30(2), 198-224.
- Smith, J., & Green, S. (2023). Regulatory compliance and municipal revenue in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Policy*, 41(3), 281-306.
- Smith, J., & Johnson, R. (2021). Revenue collection automation and municipal revenue outcomes in the USA. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 31(3), 405-423.
- Steytler, N. (2024). *The place and role of local government in federal systems*. Konrad Adenauer Foundation.
- Sykesville, M., D., & Vasudevan, R. (2024). Changed governance or computerized governance. Computerized Tax Administration Processes in Tamil Nadu, India, 4(1), 101-112.
- Taherdoost, H., (2016). Sampling Methods in Research Methodology; How to Choose a Sampling Technique for Research. *International Journal of Academic Research in Management.* 5, 18-27.
- Taherdoost, H., (2016). Validity and Reliability of the Research Instrument; How to Test the Validation of a Questionnaire/Survey in a Research. *International Journal of Academic Research in Management.* 5, 28-36.
- Tahiru, F., Agbesi, S., & Osei-Owusu, A. (2023). Investigating the challenges in revenue collection process: The case study of Ghana AMA property rate collection. *International Journal of Innovation and Scientific Research*, 11(2), 566-576

- Tanjung, R. A., Nasution, M. I., & Harahap, S. S. (2020). The Role of Revenue Collection Agencies in Enhancing Local Government Revenue Performance: Evidence from Indonesia. *Journal of Public Finance and Management*, 10(2), 45-58.
- Tashakkori, A. & Teddlie, C. (2010). SAGE handbook of mixed methods in social & behavioral research. Sage Publications.
- Thatcher, R. W. (2010). Validity and reliability of quantitative electroencephalography. *Journal of Neurotherapy*, 14(2), 122-152.
- Tooley, S., Hooks, J., & Basnan, N. (2010). Performance reporting by Malaysian local authorities: identifying stakeholder needs. *Financial Accountability and Management*, 26(2), 103-133.
- Torgler, B. (2020). Tax morale in Latin America. Public Choice, 122(1-2), 133-157
- Traub, R. E., & Rowley, G. L. (1991). Understanding Reliability: An NCME Instructional Module on. *Educational measurement: Issues and practice*, 10(1), 37-45.
- UNICEF Malawi, (2022). On Mobilizing Local Own Source Revenues, Reform discussion note. *National Local Government Finance Committee*
- United Nations. (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. United Nations.
- USAID/Zambia, (2021) Own-Source Revenue Viability Assessment. Zambia Local Impact Governance Activity
- Von Haldenwang, C., Von Schiller, A., & Garcia, M. (2014). Tax collection in developing countries–New evidence on semi-autonomous revenue agencies (SARAs). Journal of Development Studies, 50(4), 541-555.

- Waddell, D., Creed, A., Cummings, T. G., & Worley, C. G. (2019). Organisational change: Development and transformation. Cengage AU.
- Wade, M., & Hulland, J. (2004). The resource-based view and information systems research: Review, extension, and suggestions for future research. *MIS quarterly*, 107-142.
- Wang, L., & Huang, S. (2019). Human capital and technological resources in local government revenue performance: Evidence from China. Asia Pacific Journal of Public Administration, 41(2), 127-145. https://doi.org/10.1080/23276665.2019.1594470
- Wang, Y., & Wang, J. (2020). New Public Management reforms and local government revenue performance: Evidence from China. *Public Administration Review*, 80(3), 453-467. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13134
- Wang'ombe, J. (2018). The impact of automation on revenue collection in Kenyan counties. *Journal of Public Administration*, 23(2), 45-60.
- Wang'ombe, J., & Kibati, P. (2020). Analysis of financial management practices on effective use of public funds in the county government of Nakuru, Kenya. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*, IV (4), 1197122
- Waniani, L.W., Namusonge, G.S., & Lagat, M.K. (2017). Factors Affecting Implementation of E-Procurement In Nzoia Sugar Company Limited In Bungoma County, Kenya. *International Journal of Recent Research in Social Sciences and Humanities*, 3(2), 134-150.
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource-based view of the firm. *Strategic management journal*, 5(2), 171-180.
- Weru, J. M., Kamaara, M. W., & Weru, A. N. (2017). Impact of strategic change: Introduction of electronic tax register for enhancement of tax collection at Kenya Revenue Authority. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Entrepreneurship*, 1(5), 257-270.

- Wilson, A., Tewdwr-Jones, M., & Comber, R. (2019). Urban planning, public participation and digital technology: App development as a method of generating citizen involvement in local planning processes. Environment and Planning B: Urban Analytics and City Science, 46(2), 286-302.
- World Bank, (2019). Own-Source Revenue Potential and Tax Gap Study of Kenya's County Governments. Adam Smith International. Available at https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/280021585886703203/pdf/Own-Source-Revenue-Potential-and-Tax-Gap-Study-of-Kenya-s-County-Governments-Final-Report.pdf. Accessed on 1st August, 2023
- Yamane, Taro. 1967. Statistics, An Introductory Analysis, 2nd Ed., New York: Harper and Row.
- Zhang, Q., & Xu, X. (2021). Performance measurement systems under New Public Management: Effects on revenue target in Singapore. Asia Pacific Journal of Public Administration, 43(4), 302-318. https://doi.org/10.1080/23276665.2021.1917940
- Zhang, W., & Li, Y. (2021). Stakeholder engagement and revenue mobilization in Chinese provinces. *East Asian Journal of Finance*, 25(5), 628-648
- Zhang, W., & Liu, Y. (2021). Regulatory compliance and revenue mobilization in China's manufacturing sector. *East Asian Journal of Finance*, 29(1), 101-126.

APPENDICES

Appendix I: Letter of Transmittal

George Kirer

DATE...../..../2023

Dear Respondent,

RE: AGENCY REVENUE COLLECTION, AUTOMATION AND OWN SOURCE REVENUE TARGET AMONG SELECTED COUNTY GOVERNMENTS IN KENYA

I am a doctoral candidate at the University of Kabianga, Registration Number PHD/BSA/010/2020 in the Department of Accounting and Finance, undertaking a doctoral degree in Business Administration – Finance Option. I am carrying out a research entitled Agency Revenue Collection, Revenue Collection Automation and Own Source Revenue Target among Selected County Governments in Kenya.

Your participation in the study has been chosen, and your reaction will be much valued. I sincerely ask that you fill out the enclosed questionnaire as completely and accurately as you can. Data acquired from yourself or your institution will be utilized for academic reasons and will be dealt with the strictest secrecy and that I will fully comply with the Kenya Data Protection Act 2019 regarding any personal data collected. Your assistance and attention will be much valued. I'm grateful in advance.

Yours Sincerely

George Kirer (PHD/BSA/010/2020)

Appendix II: Consent Form

Informed Consent for Agency Revenue Collection, Revenue Collection Automation and Own Source Revenue Target among Selected County Governments in Kenya Research Study.

If you require any further information, please contact Mr. George Kirer (PHD/BSA/010/2020) (gkirercpacisa@gmail.com), a postgraduate student at University of Kabianga. Please emphasize your selection by selecting within the relevant box (Yes or No).

Consent on	Yes	No
I have carefully read and comprehended the investigation's information		
leaflet: Agency Revenue Collection, Revenue Collection Automation and		
Own Source Revenue Target among Selected County Governments in		
Kenya. I was given the opportunity to raise questions concerning my		
involvement, and they were well addressed.		
I agree to participate in responding to the research questionnaire guided		
by the research team member.		
I willingly agree to participate in this investigation, and I am aware that I		
can decline to answer any questions with which I do not feel confident.		
I understand that I can leave the investigation by getting in touch with the		
researcher before data are analyzed, without having to give a reason.		
I am aware that the data I supply will be employed in academic research		
and publishing. I am aware that the data will only be disseminated in		
completely anonymous form.		

I am aware that the team conducting the research will not disclose any personally identifying information regarding me that may be employed to recognize me, including my job title or age.	
I recognize that my information (transcribed anonymously) will be kept securely in a University of Kabianga Library and be used for academic purpose only.	
I agree to being quoted anonymously. Please mark the box instead of signing \Box	

Appendix III Research Questionnaire

This questionnaire is to be completed by CECs, Cos, CEOs of Revenue Collection Agencies and Directors leaders. The purpose is to investigate Agency Revenue Collection, Revenue Collection Automation and Own Source Revenue Target among Selected County Governments in Kenya. Your personal data will only be utilized for purposes of education. Please answer questions as accurately and honestly as you can.

Section A: Personal Details

- 1. Indicate your gender:
- (a) Male [] (b) Female []
- 2. Indicate your age:
- (a) Below 20 years [] (b) 20-29 years [] (c) 30-39 years []
- (d) 40-49 years [] (e) Above 50 years []
- 3. Indicate your title:
- a) CECs, [] b) Cos [] c) CEOs of Revenue Collection Agencies [] d) Revenue Directors [] e) Revenue Officer []

f) Revenue Clerk [] d) Others (specify)

- 4. Years worked in current designation/rank/position
- a) 1-5 years [] b) 6-10 years []
- c) 11-15 years [] d) 15 and above years []

Section B: Competency of Revenue Collectors

The following statements relate to competence of revenue collection agents. Please indicate your level of agreement; Key: "1= Strongly disagree, 2=Disagree, 3= Neutral, 4=Agree, 5= Strongly agree".

Competency of Revenue Collectors	1	2	3	4	5
5. Achievement of county revenue targets would be possible if all revenue collection employees are trained on methods of revenue collection.					
6. Having many years of revenue collection experience will help one achieve revenue collection target					
7. Attainment of revenue collection targets result from revenue collection officer effective public relations techniques.					
8. Achievement of revenue collection targets would result through training and development in revenue collection techniques.					
9. Training of staff on technology used in revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
10. Having a code of conduct would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
11. Sensitization of staff on the rules and regulations governing revenue collections would lead to achievement of revenue targets					

Section C: Stakeholder Engagement

The following statements relate to stakeholders engagement. Please indicate your level of agreement; Key: "1= Strongly disagree, 2=Disagree, 3= Neutral, 4=Agree, 5= Strongly agree"

Stakeholder Engagement	1	2	3	4	5
12. Taxpayer sensitization on their need to pay county taxes would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
13. Consultation with Commission on Revenue Allocation when setting taxes and levies would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
14. Consultation with the Office of the Controller of Budget for review of targets would lead to the achievement of revenue targets					
15. Consultation with The National Treasury on target setting and forecasting would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
16. Communication with taxpayers through simple and easy to access channels of communication like SMS, public notices and barazas would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
17. Sensitization to taxpayers on county levies upon amendment of the Finance Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
18. Preparation of statutory reports to CRA, OCOB and National Treasury within timelines would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
19. Submission of statutory reports to CRA, OCOB and National Treasury within timelines would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
20. Scheduled public participations and consultative meetings before amendment of Finance Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
21. Incorporating taxpayers inputs when amending the Finance Act would lead to revenue target					

22. Commission on Revenue Allocation and Office of the Controller of Budget feedback on proposals on revenue raising measures would lead to achievement of revenue targets			
23. Direct communication by taxpayers to the county government would lead to achievement of revenue targets			
24. Complaint handling procedure for tax disputes would lead to achievement of revenue targets			

Section D: Regulatory Compliance

The following statements relate to regulatory compliance. Please indicate your level of

agreement; Key: "1= Strongly disagree, 2=Disagree, 3= Neutral, 4=Agree, 5= Strongly

agree"

Regulatory Compliance	1	2	3	4	5
25. Presence of approved policies, rules and regulations governing revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
26. Amendments to the County Finance Acts to comply with legislations governing specific revenue streams like Trade Licensing Act would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
27. Adherence to legislation setting up the structures of revenue sections or agencies with regard to human resource and financial autonomy of the agencies or boards would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
28. Presence of primary revenue administration laws for all revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
29. Primary revenue administration laws drafted in consultation and collaboration with the National Government would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
30. Consultative legislative drafting and review of revenue administration laws before approval would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
31. Publishing of revenue administration laws in the local media and notice boards would lead to achievement of revenue targets					

32. Publicizing of the revenue laws before implementation in local radio stations and county websites would lead to achievement of revenue targets			
33. Annual review of the Finance Act to capture changes in the economic outlook in the County would lead to achievement of revenue targets			

Section E: Revenue Management

The following statements relate to revenue management. Please indicate your level of

agreement; Key: "1= Strongly disagree, 2=Disagree, 3= Neutral, 4=Agree, 5= Strongly

agree"

Revenue Management	1	2	3	4	5
34. Daily Reconciliations of revenue collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
35. Scheduled Internal audit and checks on revenue collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
36. Weekly analysis on key revenue streams performance would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
27. Maintenance of separate revenue collection accounts for revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
38. Trend analysis on revenue collected used in budget forecasting would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
39. Special audits on under-performing revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
40. Scheduled Rapid Results Initiatives on revenue collection would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
41. Revenue accounting system capable of analyzing revenue performance trends would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
42. Revenue accounting system capable of revenue reconciliation through third party confirmation would lead to achievement of revenue targets					

43. Compatible revenue accounting and county government financial reporting system like IFMIS would lead to achievement			
of revenue targets			

Section F: Revenue Collection Automation

The following statements relate to revenue collection automation. Please indicate your

level of agreement; Key: "1= Strongly disagree, 2=Disagree, 3= Neutral, 4=Agree, 5=

Strongly agree"

Revenue Collection Automation	1	2	3	4	5
44. Web Based systems for revenue automation would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
45. Automated system for taxpayer registration would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
46. Automated registration that alert the county government on dormant accounts that are not compliant would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
47. Automated system for taxpayer filing of tax obligation for structured revenue streams like property rates would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
48. Automated system for payment of tax obligation through use of USSD or mobile money would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
49. Technological upgrade for revenue collection to include emerging revenue sources and streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
50. Scheduled software reviews and updates would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
51. Electronic receipting of all revenues collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets					

52. E-government strategy governing revenue collection would			
lead to achievement of revenue targets			

Section G: Own Source Revenue Target

The following statements relate to own source revenue collection. Please indicate your

level of agreement; Key: "1= Strongly disagree, 2=Disagree, 3= Neutral, 4=Agree, 5=

Strongly agree"

Own source revenue Target	1	2	3	4	5
53. The county government forecasted revenue for every financial cycle covering all revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
54. The county government has a structured method of forecasting the revenue targets					
55. The forecasted revenues are used in the preparation of the county budget					
56. Revenue collected is reviewed daily and weekly to check on progress towards achievement of revenue targets					
57. Monitoring and evaluation has been done annually to check on revenues collected would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
58. The county government maintains a revenue arrears register for all revenue streams would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
59. The county government offering waivers on penalties and interest on outstanding amounts of property rates would lead to achievement of revenue targets					
60. Revenue arrears collected is part of the revenue target every year					

Thank you for your responses

Financial year	2019/2020			2020/2021			2021/2022		
County Government	Target	Actual	% score	Target	Actual	% score	Target	Actual	% score
Nairobi									
Meru									
Kakamega									
Kericho									
Narok									
Nakuru									

Appendix IV: Secondary Data Extraction Tool
Appendix V: County Governments of Kenya

County Code	County Name
12	County Governments of Meru,
32	County Governments of Nakuru,
33	County Governments of Narok
35	County Governments of Kericho
37	County Governments of Kakamega
47	County Governments of Nairobi,

Appendix VI: Research Authorization Letter



Dear Mr. Kirer,

RE: CLEARANCE TO COMMENCE FIELD WORK/DATA COLLECTION

I am pleased to inform you that the Board of Graduate Studies has considered and approved your PhD research proposal entitled "Agency Revenue Collection, Automation and Own Source Revenue Target Achievement among Selected County Governments in Kenya". Subsequently the Board has also approved the following supervisors for appointments.

- 1. Dr. Penina Langat, PhD
- 2. Dr. Peter Cheruiyot, PhD
- 3. Dr. Williter Rop, PhD

You may now proceed to commence field work/data collection on condition that you obtain a research permit from NACOSTI and /or an ethical review permit from a relevant ethics review board.

You are also required to publish two (2) articles in a peer reviewed journal, with all your supervisors, before your oral defense of thesis and to submit through your supervisors, and HoD, progress reports every three months, to the Director, Board of Graduate Studies.

Please note that it is the policy of the University that you complete your studies within three years from the date of registration. Do not hesitate to consult this office in case of any difficulties encountered in the course of your studies.

I wish you all the best in your research and hope that your study will yield original contribution for the betterment of the manual statement of the statement

You re G 3 NOV 202 Dr. Ronald K. Rop DIRECTOR, BOARD OF GRADUATE STUDIES cc 1. Dean, SBE

2. HOD, Accounting & Finance 3. Supervisors

Appendix VII: Research Permit



Authorization by the County Government

REPUBLIC OF KENYA



COUNTY GOVERNMENT OF KERICHO

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR

P.O. BOX 112 - 20200 KERICHO Ref: KEC/CS/ECL&SS/VOL.VI (107)

E-mail: info@kericho.go.ke Date: 20th December, 2023

Mr. George Kipng'eno Kirer University of Kabianga P.O. Box 2030-20200 **KERICHO**

Dear Sir

RE: REQUEST FOR AUTHORIZATION TO COLLECT RESEARCH DATA

Reference is made to your letter dated 4th December, 2023 on the above subject matter.

Forwarded herewith please find enclosed approved request for your necessary action.

Yours

Dr. Wesley K. Bor (PhD) The County Secretary and Head of County Public Service

Telephone: +254 20 2221349 Website: www.nairobi.go.ke



City Hall P. O. Box 30075 00100 Nairobi KENYA

FINANCE AND ECONOMIC PLANNING DEPARTMENT

REF: NCC/FEP/REV/CCO/WG/157/2023

26th June 2023

George Kirer (PHD/BSA/010/2020) P.O.Box 8275-00200 NAIROBI

Dear George

RE: AUTHORITY TO CARRY OUT RESEARCH AND ADMINISTER QUESTIONNAIRE

In reference to your letter dated 21st June 2023 on Agency Revenue Collection, Automation and Own Source Revenue Target, we hereby write to communicate to you that you have been allowed to administer the Data Collection Instrument.

However, you should note that you will not collect the instrument without the research permit licence from NACOSTI.

Wish you all the best.

WILSON GAKUYA COUNTY CHIEF OFFICER REVENUE ADMINISTRATION



OFFICE OF THE GENERAL MANAGER

Email: revenueboard@meru.go.ke REF: MCRB/GM/REV.VOL 6/032

P.O. Box 3246- 60200 Meru

20th June 2023

George Kirer (PHD/BSA/010/2020)

P.O Box 8275-00200

Nairobi.

Dear George,

RE: AUTHORITY TO ADMINISTER QUESTIONNAIRE

In reference to your letter dated 16th June, 2023, we hereby write to communicate to you that you have been allowed to administer the Data Collection Instrument.

However, you should note that you will not collect the instruments without the research permit license from NACOSTI.

All the best in your endeavor.

CPA Francis Mungai Ag. General Manager.

GENERAL MANAGER MERU ARD O. Box 3246 - 60200, MERU

REPUBLIC OF KENYA



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT MINISTRY OF INTERIOR AND NATIONAL ADMINISTRATION STATE DEPARTMENT FOR INTERNAL SECURITY AND NATIONAL ADMINISTRATION

Telephone: 056 -31131

Email: <u>cckakamegal2@yahoo.com</u> When replying please quote:

Ref: ED. 12/1/VOL.VII/35

County Commissioner Kakamega County P O BOX 43 - 50100 KAKAMEGA

Date: 14th February, 2024

Mr. George Kipng'eno Kirer University of Kabianga P.O Box 2030 – 20200 KERICHO

RESEARCH AUTHORIZATION

Following your authorization vide license Ref: No. NACOSTI/P/23/31845 dated 9th December, 2023 by NACOSTI to undertake research on "Agency Revenue Collection, Automation and Own Source Revenue Target Achievement among Selected County Governments – Kakamega County" for the period ending 9th December, 2024. I am pleased to inform you that you have been authorized to carry out the research on the same in this county.

COUNTY COMMISSIONER KAKAMEGA COUNTY

P.K. KEMEI FOR: COUNTY COMMISSIONER <u>KAKAMEGA COUNTY</u>

cc: All Deputy County Commissioners KAKAMEGA COUNTY

Appendix IX: Authorization by Ministry of Education



REPUBLIC OF KENYA

MINISTRY OF EDUCATION State Department of Early Learning and Basic Education

Email:cdekerichocounty@gmail.com When Replying Please Quote: County Education Office P.O BOX 149 <u>KERICHO</u> 20TH December, 2023

REF: KER/C/ED/RC/VOL III/2/124

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

RE; RESEARCH AUTHORIZATION: GEORGE KIPNGENO KIRER INDEX NO. PHD/BSA/010/2020.

I refer to the Academic Registrar NACOSTI letter ref No.132984 dated 09th December, 2023 granting the above student authority to proceed for field work.

His area of study is titled "AGENCY REVENUE COLLECTION, AUTOMATION AND OWN SOURCE REVENUE TARGET ACHIEVEMENT AMONG SELECTED COUNTY GOVERNMENTSIN KENYA "for the period ending 09th December .2024

This is to request your office to accord him necessary support during the data collection process.

Thonk YOU FOR COUNTY DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION - 0 DEC 2023 Thehm JOSEPH OCHIENG ONDHORO FOR: COUNTY DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION KERICHO COUNTY.



Appendix X: Authorization by Ministry of Interior and Co-ordination of National Government



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT MINISTRY OF INTERIOR AND NATIONAL ADMINISTRATION

Telegrams: Telephone: Kericho 20132 When replying please quote kerichocc@yahoo.com

THE COUNTY COMMISSIONER KERICHO COUNTY P.O. BOX 19 KERICHO

REF: MISC 19 VOL.VIII (159)

20th December, 2023

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

RESEARCH AUTHORIZATION -MR GEORGE KIPNG'ENO KIRER.

I am pleased to inform you that you are authorized to undertake research as per the licence No. NACOSTI /P/23/31845 dated 9th December,2023 on "Agency Revenue collection Automation and Own Source Revenue Target Achievement Among Selected County Governments in Kenya for a period ending 9th December, 2024.

GILBERT-KITIYO,MBS

COUNTY COMMISSIONER

Appendix XI: Revenue Collectors Competency on Achievement of Own Source Revenue in Kenyan County Governments Publication Appendix XII: Competencies Of Revenue Collectors And Own Source Revenue Targets Achievement Among Selected County Governments In Kenya Publication